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NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

P.O. Box 68947
Seattle, Washington 98168

To our Stockholders:

The Annual Meeting of Stockholders of
Alaska Air Group, Inc. (the “Annual
Meeting”) will be held at the Museum of
Flight in Seattle, Washington at 2 p.m. on
Tuesday, May 15, 2012, for the following
purposes:

1. To elect to the Board of Directors the
ten nominees named in this Proxy
Statement, each for a one-year term,

2. To ratify the appointment of KPMG LLP
as the Company’s independent
registered public accountants (the
“independent accountants”) for fiscal
year 2012;

3. To seek an advisory vote to approve the
compensation of the Company’s named
executive officers;

4. To consider a stockholder proposal
regarding retention of company stock by
executives; and

5. To transact such other business as may
properly come before the meeting or
any postponernent or adjournment
thereof.

Stockholders owning Company common
stock at the close of business on March 23,
2012 are entitled to receive this notice and
to vote at the meeting. All stockholders are
requested to be present in person or by
proxy. Whether or not you attend the
meeting in person, we encourage you to vote
by internet or phone or to complete, sign
and return your proxy prior to the meeting.

Every shareholder vote is important. To
ensure your vote is counted at the Annual
Meeting, please vote as promptly as
possible.

By Order of the Board of Directors,
Keith Loveless
Corporate Secretary and General Counsel

April 4, 2012

www.edocumentview.com/alk.

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING THE INTERNET AVAILABILITY OF PROXY
MATERIALS FOR THE STOCKHOLDER MEETING TO BE HELD ON MAY 15, 2012.

Stockholders may access, view and download the 2012 Proxy Statement and 2011 Annual Report at

e Proxy



GENERAL INFORMATION

ANNUAL MEETING INFORMATION

The Board of Directors of Alaska Air Group,
Inc. (“AAG” or the “Company”) is soliciting
proxies for the 2012 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders. This Proxy Statement contains
important information for you to consider
when deciding how to vote on the matters
brought before the meeting. Please read it
carefully.

The Board set March 23, 2012 as the
record date for the meeting. Stockholders
who owned Company common stock on that
date are entitled to vote at the meeting, with
each share entitled to one vote. There were
71,398,578 shares of Company common
stock outstanding on the record date.

Internet Availability of Annual Meeting
Materials

On or about April 4, 2012, stockholders of
record, beneficial owners and a majority of
employee participants in the Company’s
401(k) Plans were mailed a Notice of
Internet Availability of Proxy Materials (the

“Notice”) directing them to a website where
they can access our 2012 Proxy Statement
and 2011 Annual Report (the “Annual
Meeting Materials”). Others were mailed
hard copies of the Annual Meeting
Materials, including a voting instruction
form, on the same date. The Company’s
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2011 is included in the 2011 Annual
Report. It was filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on

February 21, 2012.

If you received the Notice and would like to
receive a paper copy of the proxy materials,
please follow the instructions printed on the
Notice and the material will be mailed to
you.

All stockholders may access, view and
download the Annual Meeting Materials the
internet at www.edocumentview.com/alk.
Information on the website does not
constitute part of this Proxy Statement.

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS

Why am | receiving this annual meeting
information and proxy?

You are receiving this annual meeting
information and proxy from us because you
owned shares of common stock in Alaska
Air Group as of the record date for the
Annual Meeting. This Proxy Statement
describes issues on which you may vote and
provides you with other important
information so that you can make informed
decisions.

You may own shares of Alaska Air Group
common stock in several different ways. If
your stock is represented by one or more

stock certificates registered in your name or
if you have a Direct Registration Service
(DRS) advice evidencing shares held in book
entry form, then you have a stockholder
account with our transfer agent,
Computershare Trust Company, N.A.
(Computershare), and you are a stockholder
of record. If you hold your shares in a
brokerage, trust or similar account, then you
are the beneficial owner but not the
stockholder of record of those shares.
Employees of the Company who hold shares
of stock in one or more of the Company’s
401(k) retirement plans are beneficial
owners.

| 1]
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GENERAL INFORMATION

What am | voting on?

You are being asked to vote on the election
of the ten director nominees named in this
Proxy Statement, to ratify the appointment
of KPMG LLP as the Company’s independent
accountants, to provide an advisory vote in
regard to the compensation of the
Company’s named executive officers, and to
vote on a stockholder proposal regarding
retention of company stock by executives.
When you sign and mail the proxy card or
submit your proxy by phone or the internet,
you appoint each of William S. Ayer and
Keith Loveless, or their respective
substitutes or nominees, as your
representatives at the meeting. (When we
refer to the “named proxies,” we are
referring to Messrs. Ayer and Loveless.) This
way, your shares will be voted even if you
cannot attend the meeting.

How does the Board of Directors
recommend | vote on each of the
proposals?

FOR the election of each of the Board's
ten director nominees named in this
Proxy Statement;

FOR the ratification of the appointment of
KPMG LLP as the Company’'s
independent accountants for fiscal 2012;

FOR the ratification of the compensation
of the Company’s named executive
officers; and

AGAINST the stockholder proposal
regarding retention of company stock by
executives.

How do | vote my shares?

Stockholders of record can vote by using the
proxy card or by phone or the internet.

|21

Beneficial owners whose stock is held:

in a brokerage account can vote by using
the voting instruction form provided by
the broker or by phone or the internet.

by a bank, and who have the power to
vote or to direct the voting of the shares,
can vote using the proxy or the voting
information form provided by the bank or,
if made available by the bank, by phone
or the internet.

in trust under an arrangement that
provides the beneficial owner with the
power to vote or to direct the voting of
the shares can vote in accordance with
the provisions of such arrangement.

in trust in one of the Company’s 401(k)
retirement plans can vote using the
voting instruction form provided by the
trustee.

Beneficial owners, other than persons who
beneficially own shares held in trust in one
of the Company’s 401(k) retirement plans,
can vote at the meeting provided that he or
she obtains a “legal proxy” from the person
or entity holding the stock for him or her
(typically a broker, bank, or trustee). A
beneficial owner can obtain a legal proxy by
making a request to the broker, bank, or
trustee. Under a legal proxy, the bank,
broker, or trustee confers all of its rights as
a record holder to grant proxies or to vote at
the meeting.

Listed below are the various means —
internet, phone and mail — you can use to
vote your shares without attending the
Annual Meeting.

You can vote on the internet.

Stockholders of record and beneficial
owners of the Company’s common stock
can vote via the internet regardless of
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whether they receive their annual meeting
materials through the mail or via the
internet. Instructions for voting are provided
along with your proxy card or voting
instruction form. If you vote on the internet,
please do not mail your proxy card (unless
you intend for it to revoke your prior internet
vote). Your internet vote will authorize the
named proxies to vote your shares in the
same manner as if you marked, signed and
returned your proxy card.

You can vote by phone.

Stockholders of record and beneficial
owners of the Company’s common stock
can vote by phone. Instructions are provided
along with your proxy card or voting
instruction form. If you vote by phone, do not
mail your proxy card (unless you intend for it
to revoke your prior vote submitted by
phone). Your vote by phone will authorize
the named proxies to vote your shares in the
same manner as if you marked, signed and
returned your proxy card.

You can vote by mail.

Simply sign and date the proxy card or voting
instruction form received with this Proxy
Statement and mail it in the enclosed
prepaid and addressed envelope. If you
mark your choices on the card or voting
instruction form, your shares will be voted

as you instruct.

The availability of phone and internet voting.

Internet and telephone voting facilities for
stockholders of record and beneficial
holders will be available 24 hours a day and
will close at 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on
Monday, May 14, 2012. To allow sufficient
time for voting by the trustee, voting
instructions for 401(k) plan shares must be
received no later than 11:59 p.m. Eastern
Time on Thursday, May 10, 2012.

Voting by the internet or phone is fast and
convenient and your vote is immediately
confirmed and tabulated. By using the
internet or phone to vote, you help Alaska
Air Group conserve natural resources and
reduce postage and proxy tabulation costs.

How will my shares be voted if 1 return a
blank proxy or voting instruction form?

If you sign and return a proxy card without
giving specific voting instructions, your
shares will be voted in accordance with the
recommendations of the Board of Directors
shown above and as the named proxies may
determine in their discretion with respect to
any other matters properly presented for a
vote during the meeting or any
postponement or adjournment of the
meeting.

If my shares are held in a brokerage
account, how will my shares be voted if |
do not return voting instructions to my
broker?

If you hold your shares in street name
through a brokerage account and you do not
submit voting instructions to your broker,
your broker may generally vote your shares
in its discretion on matters designated as
routine under the rules of the New York
Stock Exchange (“NYSE”). However, a broker
cannot vote shares held in street name on
matters designated as non-routine by the
NYSE, unless the broker receives voting
instructions from the street name
(beneficial) holder. The proposal to ratify the
appointment of the Company’s independent
accountants for fiscal 2012 is considered
routine under NYSE rules. Each of the other
items to be submitted for a vote is
considered non-routine under applicable
NYSE rules. Accordingly, if you hold your
shares in street name through a brokerage
account and you do not submit voting

|3l
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instructions to your broker, your broker may
exercise its discretion to vote your shares
on the proposal to ratify the appointment of
the Company’s independent accountants but
will not be permitted to vote your shares on
any of the other items. If your broker
exercises this discretion, your shares will be
counted as present for the purpose of
determining a quorum at the Annual Meeting
and will be voted on the proposal to ratify
the Company’s independent accountants in
the manner instructed by your broker, but
your shares will constitute “broker
non-votes” on each of the other items at the
annual meeting. For a description of the
effect of broker non-votes on the proposals,
see “How many votes must the nominees
have to be elected?” and “Not including the
election of directors, how many votes must
the proposals receive in order to pass?”

What other business may be properly
brought before the meeting, and what
discretionary authority is granted?

Under the Company’s Bylaws, as amended
April 30, 2010, a stockholder may bring
business before the meeting for publication
in the Company’s 2012 Proxy Statement
only if the stockholder gave written notice to
the Company on or before December 6,
2011 and complied with the other
requirements included in Article 1l of the
Company’s Bylaws.

The Company has not received valid notice
that any business other than that described
or referenced in this Proxy Statement will be
brought before the meeting.

As to any other matters that may properly
come before the meeting and are not on the
proxy card, the proxy grants to Messrs. Ayer
and Loveless the authority to vote in their
discretion the shares for which they hold
proxies.

| 4]

What does it mean if | receive more than
one proxy card, voting instruction form or
email notification from the Company?

It means that you have more than one
account for your Alaska Air Group shares.
Please complete and submit all proxies to
ensure that all your shares are voted or vote
by internet or phone using each of the
identification numbers.

What if | change my mind after | submit my
proxy?

Stockholders, except for persons who
beneficially own shares held in trust in one
of the Company’s 401(k) retirement plans,
may revoke a proxy and change a vote by
delivering a later-dated proxy or by voting at
the meeting. The later-dated proxy may be
delivered by phone, internet or mail and
need not be delivered by the same means
used in delivering the prior proxy
submission.

Except for persons beneficially holding
shares in one of the Company’s 401(k)
retirement plans, stockholders may do this
at a later date or time by:

voting by phone or the internet before
11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on Monday,
May 14, 2012 (your latest phone or
internet proxy will be counted);

signing and delivering a proxy card with a
later date; or

voting at the meeting. (If you hold your
shares beneficially through a broker, you
must bring a legal proxy from the broker
in order to vote at the meeting. Please
also note that attendance at the meeting,
in and of itself, without voting in person
at the meeting, will not cause your
previously granted proxy to be revoked.)
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Persons beneficially holding shares in one of
the Company’s 401(k) retirement plans
cannot vote in person at the meeting and
must vote in accordance with instructions
from the trustees. Subject to these
qualifications, such holders have the same
rights as other record and beneficial holders
to change their votes by phone or the
internet, however, in all cases your vote
must be submitted by 11:59 p.m. Eastern
Time on Thursday, May 10, 2012.

Stockholders of record can obtain a new
proxy card by contacting the Company’s
Corporate Secretary, Alaska Air Group, Inc.,
P.O. Box 68947, Seattle, WA 98168,
telephone (206) 392-5131.

Stockholders with shares held by a broker,
trustee or bank can obtain a new voting
instruction form by contacting your broker,
trustee or bank.

Stockholders whose shares are held in one
of the Company’s 401(k) retirement plans
can obtain a new voting instruction form by
contacting the trustee of such plan. You can
obtain information about how to contact the
trustee from the Company’s Corporate
Secretary. Please refer to the section below
titled “How are shares voted that are held in
a Company 401(k) plan?” for more
information.

If you sign and date the proxy card or voting
instruction form and submit it in accordance
with the accompanying instructions and in a
timely manner, any earlier proxy card or
voting instruction form will be revoked and
your new choices will be voted.

How are shares voted that are held in a
Company 401(k) plan?

On the record date, 2,567,960 shares were
held in trust for Alaska Air Group 401(k) plan

participants. The trustees, Vanguard
Fiduciary Trust Company (Vanguard) and
Fidelity Management Trust Company
(Fidelity), provided instructions to each
participant who held shares through the
Company’s 401(k) plans on the record date.
Vanguard sent a Notice of Proxy and Access
Instructions to participants; Fidelity mailed
full sets of proxy materials. The trustees will
vote only those shares for which instructions
are received from participants. If a
participant does not indicate a preference
as to a matter, including the election of
directors, then the trustees will not vote the
participant’s shares on such matters.

To allow sufficient time for voting by the
trustee, please provide voting instructions
no later than 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on
Thursday, May 10, 2012. Because the
shares must be voted by the trustee,
employees who hold shares through the
401(k) plans may not vote these shares at
the meeting.

May | vote in person at the meeting?

We will provide a ballot to any record holder
of our stock who requests one at the
meeting. If you hold your shares through a
broker, you must bring a legal proxy from
your broker in order to vote by ballot at the
meeting. You may request a legal proxy from
your broker to attend and vote your shares
at the meeting by marking your voting
instruction form or the internet voting site to
which your voting materials direct you.
Please allow sufficient time to receive a
legal proxy through the mail after your broker
receives your request. Because shares held
by employees in the 401(k) plans must be
voted by the trustee, these shares may not
be voted at the meeting.

| 5]
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GENERAL INFORMATION

How can | reduce the number of annual
meeting materials I receive?

The Company is required to provide an
annual report and proxy statement to all
stockholders of record. If you have more than
one account in your name or at the same
address as other stockholders, the Company
or your broker may discontinue mailings of
multiple copies. If you have more than one
account and prefer to continue to receive
multiple copies, you may notify us at the
address and phone number at the end of the
following paragraph if you are a stockholder
of record or notify your broker if you hold your
shares in a brokerage account,

Once you have received notice from your
broker or us that they or we will discontinue
sending multiple copies to the same
address, you will receive only one copy until
you are notified otherwise or until you revoke
your consent. If, at any time, you wish to
resume receiving separate proxy statements
or annual reports, or if you are receiving
multiple statements and reports and wish to
receive only one, please notify your broker if
your shares are held in a brokerage account
or us if you hold registered shares. You can
notify us by sending a written request to the
Company’s Corporate Secretary, Alaska Air
Group, Inc., P.O. Box 68947, Seattle, WA
98168, or by calling (206) 392-5131.

Can | receive future materials via the
internet?

If you vote on the internet, simply follow the
prompts for enrolling in electronic proxy
delivery service. This will reduce the
Company’s printing and postage costs, as
well as the number of paper documents you
will receive.

Stockholders of record may enroll in that
service at the time they vote their proxies or

|6l

at any time after the Annual Meeting and can
read additional information about this option
and request electronic delivery by going to
www.computershare.com/investor. If you
hold shares beneficially, please contact your
broker to enroll for electronic proxy delivery.

At this time, employee participants in a
Company 401(k) plan may not elect to
receive notice and proxy materials via
electronic delivery.

If you already receive your proxy materials
via the internet, you will continue to receive
them that way until you instruct otherwise
through the website referenced above.

How many shares must be present to hold
the meeting?

A majority of the Company’s outstanding
shares entitled to vote as of the record
date, or 35,699,290 shares, must be
present or represented at the meeting and
entitled to vote in order to hold the meeting
and conduct business (i.e., to constitute a
quorum). Shares are counted as present or
represented at the meeting if the
stockholder of record attends the meeting; if
the beneficial holder attends with a “legal
proxy” from the record holder; or if the
record holder or beneficial holder has
submitted a proxy or voting instructions,
whether by returning a proxy card or voting
instructions or by phone or internet, without
regard to whether the proxy or voting
instructions actually casts a vote or
withholds or abstains from voting.

How many votes must the nominees have
to be elected?

The Company’s Bylaws (as amended

April 30, 2010) require that each director be
elected annually by a majority of votes cast
with respect to that director. This means
that the number of votes “for” a director
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must exceed the number of votes “against”
that director. In the event that a nominee for
director receives more “against” votes for
his or her election than “for” votes, the
Board must consider such director’s
resignation following a recommendation by
the Board’s Governance and Nominating
Committee. The majority voting standard
does not apply, however, in the event that
the number of nominees for director
exceeds the number of directors to be
elected. In such circumstances, directors
will instead be elected by a plurality of the
votes cast, meaning that the persons
receiving the highest number of “for” votes,
up to the total number of directors to be
elected at the Annual Meeting, will be
elected.

With regard to the election of directors, the
Board intends to nominate the ten persons
identified as its nominees in this Proxy
Statement. Because the Company has not
received notice from any stockholder of an
intent to nominate directors at the Annual
Meeting, each of the directors must be
elected by a majority of votes cast.

“Abstain” votes and broker non-votes are
not treated as votes cast with respect to a
director and therefore will not be counted in
determining the outcome of the election of
directors.

What happens if a director candidate
nominated by the Board of Directors is
unable to stand for election?

The Board of Directors may reduce the
number of seats on the Board or it may
designate a substitute nominee. If the Board
designates a substitute, shares represented
by proxies held by the named proxies will be
voted for the substitute nominee.

Not including the election of directors, how
many votes must the proposals receive in
order to pass?

Ratification of the appointment of KPMG LLP
as the Company’s independent accountants

A majority of the shares present in person or
by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote
on the proposal must be voted “for” the
proposal in order for it to pass. “Abstain”
votes are deemed present and entitled to
vote and are included for purposes of
determining the number of shares
constituting a majority of shares present and
entitled to vote. Accordingly, an abstention,
because it is not a vote “for” will have the
effect of a negative vote.

Advisory vote regarding the compensation of
the Company’s named executive officers

A majority of the shares present in person or
by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote
on the proposal must be voted “for” the
proposal in order for it to pass. “Abstain”
votes are deemed present and entitled to
vote and are included for purposes of
determining the number of shares
constituting a majority of shares present and
entitled to vote. Accordingly, an abstention,
because it is not a vote “for” will have the
effect of a negative vote. In addition, broker
non-votes are not considered entitled to vote
for purposes of determining whether the
proposal has been approved by stockholders
and therefore will not be counted in
determining the outcome of the vote on the
proposal.

Shareholder proposal regarding retention of
company stock by executives

A majority of the shares present in person or
by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote
on the proposals must be voted “for” the
proposal in order for it to pass. “Abstain”
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votes are deemed present and entitled to
vote and are included for purposes of
determining the number of shares
constituting a majority of shares present and
entitled to vote. Accordingly, an abstention,
because it is not a vote “for” will have the
effect of a negative vote. In addition, broker
non-votes are not considered entitled to vote
for purposes of determining whether the
proposal has been approved by stockholders
and, therefore, will not be counted in
determining the outcome of the vote on the
proposal.

How are votes counted?

Voting results will be tabulated by
Computershare. Computershare will also serve
as the independent inspector of election.

Is my vote confidential?

The Company has a confidential voting
policy as a part of its governance guidelines,
which are published on the Company’s
website.

Who pays the costs of proxy solicitation?

The Company pays for distributing and
soliciting proxies and reimburses brokers,
nominees, fiduciaries and other custodians
their reasonable fees and expenses in
forwarding proxy materials to beneficial
owners. The Company has engaged
Georgeson Inc. (“Georgeson”) to assist in
the solicitation of proxies for the meeting. It
is intended that proxies will be solicited by
the following means: additional mailings,
personal interview, mail, phone and
electronic means. Although no precise
estimate can be made at this time, we
anticipate that the aggregate amount we will
spend in connection with the solicitation of
proxies will be approximately $21,500. To
date, $16,000 has been incurred. This
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amount includes fees payable to Georgeson,
but excludes salaries and expenses of our
officers, directors and employees.

Is a list of stockholders entitled to vote at
the meeting available?

A list of stockholders of record entitled to
vote at the 2012 Annual Meeting will be
available at the meeting. It will also be
available Monday through Friday from
April 4, 2012 through May 11, 2012
between the hours of 9 a.m. and 4 p.m.,
local time, at the offices of the Corporate
Secretary, 19300 International Blvd.,
Seattle, WA 98188. A stockholder of record
may examine the list for any legally valid
purpose related to the Annual Meeting.

Where can 1 find the voting results of the
meeting?

We will publish the voting results on Form
8-K on or about May 21, 2012. You can
read or print a copy of that report by going to
the Company’s website —
www.alaskaair.com/company, and then
selecting Investor Information, and SEC
Filings. You can read or print a copy by going
directly to the SEC EDGAR files at
http://www.sec.gov. You can also request a
copy by calling us at (206) 392-5131, or by
calling the SEC at (800) SEC-0330 for the
location of a public reference room.

How can | submit a proposal for next year’s
annual meeting?

The Company expects to hold its next annual
meeting on or about May 21, 2013. If you
wish to submit a proposal for inclusion in the
proxy materials for that meeting, you must
send the proposal to the corporate secretary
at the address below. The proposal must be
received at the Company’s executive offices
no later than December 6, 2012, to be
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considered for inclusion. Among other
requirements set forth in the SEC’s proxy
rules and the Company’s Bylaws, you must
have continuously held at least $2,000 in
market value or 1% of the Company’s
outstanding stock for at least one year by
the date of submitting the proposal, and you
must continue to own such stock through
the date of the meeting.

If you intend to nominate candidates for
election as directors or present a proposal
at the meeting without including it in the

Company’s proxy materials, you must
provide notice of such proposal to the
Company no later than February 20, 2013.
The Company’s Bylaws outline procedures
for giving the required notice. if you would
like a copy of the procedures contained in
our Bylaws, please contact:

Corporate Secretary
Alaska Air Group, Inc.
P.0. Box 68947
Seattle, WA 98168

lol
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PROPOSALS TO BE VOTED ON

PROPOSAL 1:

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS TO ONE-YEAR TERMS

The Company currently has ten directors.
The Company’s Bylaws provide that the
directors up for election this year shall serve
a one-year term. Directors are elected to
hold office until their successors are elected

William S. Ayer
Director since 1999
Age - 57

Mr. Ayer has served as chair, president and
CEO of Alaska Air Group as well as chair of
Alaska Airlines and Horizon Air since May
2003. In May 2012, Mr. Ayer plans to resign
as president and CEO of Alaska Air Group,
and as CEO of Alaska Airlines and Horizon
Air. He will continue to serve as chair of
Alaska Air Group, Alaska Airlines and Horizon
Air. Mr. Ayer has been CEO of Alaska Airlines
since 2002, and served as president of
Alaska Airlines from 1997 to 2008. Prior to
2003, Mr. Ayer worked in various marketing,
planning and operational capacities at Alaska
Airlines and Horizon Air. He serves on the
boards of Alaska Airlines, Horizon Air, Puget
Energy, Angel Flight West, the Alaska Airlines
Foundation, the University of Washington
Business School Advisory Board and the
Museum of Flight. Mr. Ayer is chair of the
boards of Puget Energy and its subsidiary,
Puget Sound Energy, and also serves as a
member of the Puget Energy board’s
governance and audit committees. In 2012,
he was appointed a board member of the
University of Washington Board of Regents.
Mr. Ayer’s strategic planning skills as well as
his broad airline and business expertise
specially qualify him for his position on the
Air Group Board.
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and qualified, or until resignation or removal
in the manner provided in our Bylaws. Ten
directors are nominees for election this year
and each has consented to serve a one-year
term ending in 2013.

Patricia M. Bedient
Director since 2004
Age - 58

Ms. Bedient serves as chair of the Board's
audit committee. She is executive vice
president and CFO for the Weyerhaeuser
Company, one of the world’s largest
integrated forest products companies. A
certified public accountant (CPA) since 1978,
she served as the managing partner of Arthur
Andersen LLP’s Seattle office prior to joining
Weyerhaeuser. Ms. Bedient also worked at
the firm's Portland and Boise offices as a
partner and as a CPA during her 27-year
career with Andersen. She currently serves
on the Alaska Airlines and Horizon Air
Boards, the Overlake Hospital Medical Center
Board and the advisory board of the
University of Washington School of Business.
She has also served on the boards of a
variety of civic organizations including the
Oregon State University Foundation board of
trustees, the World Forestry Center, City Club
of Portland, St. Mary’s Academy of Portland,
and the Chamber of Commerce in Boise,
Idaho. She is a member of the American
Institute of CPAs and the Washington Society
of CPAs. Ms. Bedient received her bachelor’'s
degree in business administration, with
concentrations in finance and accounting,
from Oregon State University in 1975. With
her extensive experience in public accounting
and her financial expertise, Ms. Bedient is
especially qualified to serve on the Board and
to act as a financial expert.
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Marion C. Blakey
Director since 2010
Age - 63

Ms. Blakey is chair of the Board’s safety
committee. She also serves on the Board's audit
committee. Ms. Blakey is president and CEO of
The Aerospace industries Association (AlA), the
nation’s largest aerospace and defense trade
association. Prior positions include administrator
of the Federal Aviation Administration (the “FAA")
from 2002 to 2007 and chair of the National
Transportation Safety Board (the “NTSB”) from
2001 to 2002. Ms. Blakey also serves on the
boards of Alaska Airlines, Horizon Air, and
Noblis, the NASA Advisory Council, and the
President’s Export Council Subcommittee on
Export Administration (PECSEA) as well as a
number of philanthropic and community
organizations, including the Washington Area
Airports Task Force Advisory Board, International
Aviation Women'’s Association, and Best Friends
Foundation Advisory Board. Ms. Blakey’'s
experience with AlA, the FAA and the NTSB
specially qualify her for service on the
Company’s Board, Audit Committee and Safety
Committee.

Phyllis J. Campbell
Director since 2002
Age - 60

Ms. Campbell is lead director and chair of
the Board’s governance and nominating
committee. She was named chair of the
Pacific Northwest Region of JPMorgan
Chase & Co. in April 2009. She also serves
on the firm's executive committee. From
2003 to 2009, Ms. Campbell served as
president and CEO of The Seattle
Foundation. She was president of U.S. Bank
of Washington from 1993 until 2001 and
also served as chair of the Bank’s
Community Board. Ms. Campbell has
received several awards for her corporate
and community involvement. These awards
include the Women Who Make A Difference
Award and the Director of the Year from the

Northwest Chapter of the National
Association of Corporate Directors. Since
August 2007, Ms. Campbell has served on
Toyota’'s Diversity Advisory Board. She also
serves on the boards of Alaska Airlines,
Horizon Air, the Joshua Green Corporation,
and Nordstrom, where she is chair of the
audit committee. Until February 2009, she
served on the boards of Puget Energy and
Puget Sound Energy. Ms. Campbell’'s
business and community leadership
background and governance experience
specially qualify her for her service on the
Board.

Jessie J. Knight, Jr.
Director since 2002
Age - 61

Mr. Knight serves on the Board’s safety
committee and its governance and
nominating committee. Mr. Knight is
chairman and CEO of San Diego Gas and
Electric Company, a subsidiary of Sempra
Energy. From 2006 to 2010, he was
executive vice president of external affairs at
Sempra Energy. From 1999 to 2006,

Mr. Knight served as president and CEO of
the San Diego Regional Chamber of
Commerce, and from 1993 to 1998, he was
a commissioner of the California Public
Utilities Commission. Prior to this,

Mr. Knight was vice president of marketing
and strategic planning for the San Francisco
Chronicle and San Francisco Examiner.
While there, he won five coveted National
Clio Awards for television, radio and printed
advertising and a Cannes Film Festival
Golden Lion Award for business marketing.
Prior to his media career, Mr. Knight spent
ten years in finance and marketing with the
Dole Foods Company. Mr. Knight also serves
on the boards of Alaska Airlines, Horizon Air,
the San Diego Padres Baseball Club, and
the Timken Museum of Art in San Diego. He
is a life member of the Council on Foreign
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Relations and a corporate member of the
Hoover Institution at Stanford University.
Mr. Knight's knowledge and expertise on
brand marketing and energy markets make
him particularly qualified for the Alaska Air
Group Board.

R. Marc Langland
Director since 1991
Age - 70

Mr. Langland is a member of the Board’s
governance and nominating and its
compensation and leadership development
committees. He has been chair and a
director of Northrim Bank (Anchorage, Alaska)
since 1998, served as director since 1990,
and served as the bank’s president from
1990 until 2009. Mr. Langland has also
served as chair, president and CEO of the
bank’s parent company, Northrim BanCorp,
Inc. since 1998. He was chair and CEO of
Key Bank of Alaska from 1987 to 1988 and
president from 1985 to 1987. From 1978 to
1985, Mr. Langland was president of First
National Bank of Fairbanks. In 2001,

Mr. Langland was inducted into the Alaska
Business Hall of Fame. He served on the
board of trustees of the Alaska Permanent
Fund Corporation from 1987 to 1991 and
was chair from 1990 to 1991. Mr. Langland
is past chairman of the Alaska State
Chamber of Commerce and Fairbanks
Chamber. In 2008, the Alaska State
Chamber awarded Mr. Langland the William
A. Egan Outstanding Alaskan Award. He is
also a director of Alaska Airlines, Horizon Air,
Usibelli Coal Mine, Elliott Cove Capital
Management, and Pacific Wealth Advisors,
and is a member of the Anchorage Chamber
of Commerce and a board member and past
chairman of Commonwealth North.

Mr. Langland’s background and skills as an
Alaska business leader and banker specially
qualify him for his role on the Alaska Air
Group Board.
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Dennis F. Madsen
Director since 2003
Age - 63

Mr. Madsen serves on the Board’s
compensation and leadership development
committee and its audit committee. He is
currently the chair of Evolucion Inc.
(evo.com), an action sports retailer in
Seattle. From 2000 to 2005, Mr. Madsen
was president and CEO of Recreational
Equipment, Inc. (REI), a retailer and online
merchant for outdoor gear and clothing. He
served as REI's executive vice president and
COO from 1987 to 2000, and prior to that
held numerous positions throughout REI. In
2010, Mr. Madsen was appointed a director
of West Marine Inc., a publicly traded retail
company in the recreational boating sector.
He also serves on West Marine’s
governance and compensation committees.
Other boards on which Mr. Madsen is a
member include Alaska Airlines, Horizon Air,
the Western Washington University
Foundation, Western Washington University,
Istandwood, and the Youth Outdoors Legacy
Fund. Mr. Madsen’s experience in leading a
large people-oriented and customer-service
driven organization specially qualifies him for
service on the Alaska Air Group Board.

Byron I. Mallott
Director since 1982
Age — 68

Mr. Mallott serves on the Board’s safety and
its governance and nominating committees.
Currently he is a senior fellow of the First
Alaskans Institute, a nonprofit organization
dedicated to the development of Alaska
Native peoples and their communities, a
position he has held since 2000. Mr. Mallott
also serves on the Board of Trustees of the
Smithsonian Institution’s National Museum
of the American Indian. He has served the
state of Alaska in various advisory and
executive capacities, and has also served
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as mayor of Yakutat and of Juneau. From 1995
to 1999, he served as executive director (chief
executive officer) of the Alaska Permanent Fund
Corporation, a trust managing proceeds from the
state of Alaska’s oil reserves. He was a director
of Sealaska Corporation (Juneau, Alaska) from
1972 to 1988, chair from 1976 to 1983, and
CEO from 1982 to 1992. He owns Mallott
Enterprises (personal investments) and is a
director of Alaska Airlines and Horizon Air,
director and member of the nominating
committee of Sealaska Corporation, and a
director and member of the audit committee of
Yak-Tat Kwaan, Inc. and Native American Bank,
NA. Mr. Mallott’s leadership of native Alaskan
people and his experience with governmental
affairs specially qualify him for his role on the
Alaska Air Group Board.

J. Kenneth Thompson
Director since 1999
Age - 60

Mr. Thompson is chair of the Board’s
compensation and leadership development
committee and serves on the Board’s safety
committee. Since 2000, Mr. Thompson has
been president and CEO of Pacific Star Energy
LLC, a private energy investment company in
Alaska, with partial ownership in the oil
exploration firm Alaska Venture Capital Group
(AVCG LLC) where he serves as the managing
director. Mr. Thompson served as executive
vice president of ARCO'’s Asia Pacific oil and
gas operating companies in Alaska, California,
Indonesia, China and Singapore from 1998 to
2000. Prior to that, he was president of ARCO
Alaska, Inc., the parent company’s oil and gas
producing division based in Anchorage, Alaska.
In 2011, Mr. Thompson was appointed to the
Pioneer Natural Resources Company board of
directors. He also serves on the boards of
Alaska Airlines, Horizon Air, Tetra Tech, and

Coeur d'Alene Mines Corporation, as well as a
number of community service organizations.
Mr. Thompson also serves on the
environmental, health, safety & social
responsibility, governance and nominating, and
the audit committees of Coeur D'Alene Mines
Corporation. At Tetra Tech, Inc., Mr. Thompson
serves on the audit, governance and
nominating, and compensation committees,
and chairs the strategy planning committee. At
Pioneer Natural Resources, he serves on the
governance and nominating, compensation
and hydrocarbon resources committees.

Mr. Thompson’s business leadership,
planning, operations, engineering, and safety/
regulatory experience specially qualify him for
his Alaska Air Group Board service.

Bradley D. Tilden
Director since 201.0
Age - 51

Mr. Tilden has served as president of Alaska
Airlines since December 2008. In February
2012, Mr. Tilden was elected to succeed

Mr. Ayer as President and CEO of Alaska Air
Group, effective at the annual stockholders
meeting in May. In May 2012, Mr. Tilden will
also become CEO of Alaska Airlines and
Horizon Air. He served as executive vice
president of finance and planning from 2002
to 2008 and as chief financia! officer from
2000 to 2008 at both Alaska Airlines and
Alaska Air Group. Prior to 2000, Mr. Tilden was
vice president of finance at Alaska Airlines and
Alaska Air Group. He also serves on the
boards of Alaska Airlines, Horizon Air, Flow
international, Pacific Lutheran University, and
the Chief Seattle Council of the Boy Scouts of
America. Mr. Tilden’s strategic planning skills
and financial expertise qualify him to serve on
the Air Group Board.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE FOR THE
ELECTION OF THE TEN DIRECTOR NOMINEES NAMED ABOVE.

UNLESS OTHERWISE INDICATED ON YOUR PROXY, THE SHARES WILL BE
VOTED FOR THE ELECTION OF THESE TEN NOMINEES AS DIRECTORS.
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PROPOSAL 2:

RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF THE COMPANY’S

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

The Audit Committee has selected KPMG
LLP (“KPMG”) as the Company’s
independent accountants for fiscal year
2012, and the Board is asking stockholders
to ratify that selection. Although current law,
rules, and regulations, as well as the charter
of the Audit Committee, require the Audit
Committee to engage, retain, and supervise
the independent accountants, the Board
considers the selection of the independent
accountants to be an important matter of

stockholder concern and is submitting the
selection of KPMG for ratification by
stockholders as a matter of good corporate
practice.

The affirmative vote of holders of a majority
of the shares of common stock represented
at the meeting and entitled to vote on the
proposal is required to ratify the selection of
KPMG as the Company’s independent
accountant for the current fiscal year.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE FOR THE
RATIFICATION OF THE COMPANY'’S INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS.

PROPOSAL 3:

ADVISORY VOTE REGARDING THE COMPENSATION

OF THE COMPANY’S NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The Company is providing its stockholders
with the opportunity to cast a non-binding,
advisory vote on the compensation of the
Company’s named executive officers as
disclosed pursuant to the SEC’s executive
compensation disclosure rules and set forth
in this Proxy Statement (including in the
compensation tables and the narrative
discussion accompanying those tables as
well as in the Compensation Discussion and
Analysis).

As described more fully in the Compensation
Discussion and Analysis section beginning
on page 36 of this Proxy Statement, the
structure of the Company’s executive
compensation program is designed to
compensate executives appropriately and
competitively and to drive superior
performance. For named executive officers,
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a high percentage of total direct
compensation is variable and tied to the
success of the Company because they are
the senior leaders primarily responsible for
the overall execution of the Company’s
strategy. The Company’s strategic goals are
reflected in its incentive-based executive
compensation programs so that the
interests of executives are aligned with
stockholder interests. Executive
compensation is designed to be internally
equitable, reflective of the business
challenges facing the Company, and scaled
to the industry.

The Compensation Discussion and Analysis
section of this Proxy Statement describes
the Company’s executive compensation
programs and the decisions made by the
Compensation and Leadership Development
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Committee in 2011 in more detail.
Highlights of these executive compensation
programs include the following:

Base Salary

In general, for the Named Executive
Officers, the Committee targets base
salary levels at the 25% percentile
relative to the Company’s peer group
with the opportunity to earn market-level
compensation through short- and long-
term incentive plans that pay when
performance objectives are met.

Annual Incentive Pay

The Company’s Named Executive Officers
are eligible to earn annual incentive pay
under the Performance-Based Pay Plan,
which is intended to motivate the
executives to achieve specific Company
goals. Annual target performance
measures reflect near-term financial and
operational goals that are consistent with
the strategic plan.

Long-term Incentive Pay

Equity-based incentive awards that link
executive pay to stockholder value are an
important element of the Company’s
executive compensation program. Long-
term equity incentives that vest over
three- or four-year periods are awarded
annually, resulting in overlapping vesting
periods that are designed to discourage
short-term risk taking and align Named
Executive Officers’ long-term interests
with those of stockholders while helping
the Company attract and retain
top-performing executives who fit a team-
oriented and performance-driven culture.

In accordance with the requirements of
Section 14A of the Exchange Act (which was

added by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform
and Consumer Protection Act) and the
related rules of the SEC, our Board of
Directors will request your advisory vote on
the following resolution at the 2012 Annual
Meeting:

RESOLVED, that the compensation paid
to the named executive officers, as
disclosed in this Proxy Statement
pursuant to the SEC’s executive
compensation disclosure rules (which
disclosure includes the Compensation
Discussion and Analysis, the
compensation tables and the narrative
discussion that accompanies the
compensation tables), is hereby
approved.

This proposal on the compensation paid to
our named executive officers is advisory only
and will not be binding on the Company or
our Board and will not be construed as
overruling a decision by the Company or our
Board or creating or implying any additional
fiduciary duty for the Company or our Board.
However, the Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee, which is
responsible for designing and administering
the Company’s executive compensation
program, values the opinions expressed by
stockholders in their vote on this proposal
and will consider the outcome of the vote
when making future compensation decisions
for our named executive officers.
Stockholders will be given an opportunity to
cast an advisory vote on this topic annually,
with the next opportunity occurring in
connection with the Company’s Annual
Meeting in 2013.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE FCOR THE APPROVAL

OF THE COMPENSATION OF THE NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AS DISCLOSED IN

THIS PROXY STATEMENT PURSUANT TO THE SEC’S EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
DISCLOSURE RULES.

| 151

® Proxy



PROPOSALS TO BE VOTED ON

PROPOSAL 4:

STOCKHOLDER PROPOSAL REGARDING RETENTION OF STOCK BY EXECUTIVES

Mr. John Chevedden has given notice of his intention to present a proposal at the 2012
Annual Meeting. Mr. Chevedden’s address is 2215 Nelson Avenue, No. 205, Redondo Beach,
California 90278, and Mr. Chevedden represents that he owns 100 shares (or 200 shares
after giving effect to the stock split) of the Company’s common stock. Mr. Chevedden’s
proposal and supporting statement, as submitted to the Company, appear below.

The Board of Directors opposes adoption of Mr. Chevedden’s proposal and asks stockholders
to review the Board’s response, which follows Mr. Chevedden’s proposal and supporting
statement below.

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of common stock present, in
person or represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote on the proposal is required
to approve this proposal.

Executives To Retain Significant Stock

RESOLVED, Shareholders urge that our executive pay committee adopt a policy
requiring that senior executives retain a significant percentage of stock acquired
through equity pay programs until one-year following the termination of their
employment and to report to shareholders regarding this policy before our next annual
shareholder meeting.

Shareholders recommend that a percentage of at least 25% of net after-tax stock be
required. This policy shall apply to future grants and awards of equity pay and should
address the permissibility of transactions such as hedging transactions which are not
sales but reduce the risk of loss to executives. This proposal asks for a retention
policy starting as soon as possible.

Requiring senior executives to hold a significant portion of stock obtained through
executive pay plans after employment termination would focus our executives on our
company’s long-term success. A Conference Board Task Force report on executive pay
stated that at least hold-to-retirement requirements give executives “an ever-growing
incentive to focus on long-term stock price performance.”

The merit of this proposal should also be considered in the context of the opportunity
for additional improvement in our company’s 2011 reported corporate governance in
order to more fully realize our company’s potential:

The Corporate Library, an independent research firm, said our company had executive
pay issues. Long-term incentive pay for executives consisted of performance stock
units (PSU) and time-based equity pay in the form of market-priced options and
restricted stock units. Long-term incentive pay should include performance-vesting
features.

| 16 |
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Moreover, the 2010 PSU’s covered a three-year period and partial pay was triggered by
sub-median performance. The CEO stock ownership guideline of one-times base salary was
not challenging enough. Our CEO was potentially entitled to $16 million if there was a change
in control. Executive pay polices such as these were not in the interests of shareholders.
James Thompson, on our executive pay committee, received our highest negative votes.

Management has a history of throwing cold water on majority votes by shareholders. Our
Board failed to adopt cumulative voting which won our majority vote at our 2008 annual
meeting. Furthermore we gave 63%-support to a 2010 proposal for written consent. This
63%-support even translated into 52% of all shares outstanding. This was in spite of the fact
that our management intentionally gave the proposal two conflicting numbers. Management
refused to act to implement our 63%-support.

Marc Langland and Byron Mallott had 20 to 29-years long tenure and represented 50% of our
key nomination committee including the chairmanship. Long-tenured directors can form
relationships that compromise their independence and therefore hinder their ability to provide

effective oversight.

Our board was the only the significant directorship for five directors. This could indicate a
significant lack of current transferable director experience for half of our directors: Byron
Mallott, Jessie Knight, Marion Blakey, Patricia Bedient and Marc Langland.

Please encourage our board to respond positively to this proposal: Executives To Retain
Significant Stock - Vote Yes on 4.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE AGAINST
PROPOSAL 4 FOR THE FOLLOWING REASONS:

The Board believes that the executive stock
ownership policy first adopted by the Board
in January 2009 and amended in November
2011 (described on page 50 of this Proxy
Statement) is superior to the policy
recommended in the foregoing stockholder
proposal for the following reasons:

1)

The Board’s policy requires the CEO to
acquire and retain stock holdings equal
to five times annual salary and other
Named Executive Officers 1o acquire
and retain stock in an amount ranging
from two to three times their annual
salary, based on their respective levels
of responsibility. Each executive officer
is required to meet the applicable target
ownership threshold within five years of
appointment by the Board. In contrast,
for example, under the proponent’s

recommended policy, it would take
approximately 11 years for a CEO to
reach the same level of stock holdings
required by our existing policy.

The Board believes that requiring
executives to continue to acquire and
hold significant amounts of stock
indefinitely and above five times annual
salary could, over time, encourage
business decisions that are either too
risky or too risk-averse as a result of
the compensation structure having
become too heavily weighted in one
area. By setting the ownership
requirement at five times annual salary
for the CEO and at a maximum of three
times annual salary for our other
executive officers, the Board believes it
achieves a meaningful tie between the
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interests of executives and those of
other long-term stockholders.

Finally, the proponent fails to explain
why stock retention after termination of
an executive’s employment contributes
to the long-term value of the Company.
In fact, the Conference Board Task
Force report quoted by the proponent
recommends that in order to focus
executives on long-term stock price
performance, companies should simply
require executives to hold stock until
retirement. This is exactly what the
Company’s existing executive stock
ownership policy does. In addition, as
more fully described in the
Compensation Discussion and Analysis
section of this Proxy Statement, the
Company’s executive compensation
program includes other mechanisms

that align the long-term interests of
executives with those of stockholders.
Specifically, long-term equity-based
awards in the form of stock options,
restricted stock units and performance
stock units comprise a significant
portion of executives’ annual
compensation. These awards, which are
granted annually, vest over three- or
four-year periods, resulting in
overlapping vesting periods that are
designed to discourage short-term risk-
taking and align our executive officers’
long-term interests with those of
stockholders. Conversely, a post-
retirement retention policy such as the
one requested by the proponent could
hinder the Company’s ability to attract
and retain talented executives who are
critical to the Company’s long-term
success.

ACCORDINGLY, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS A VOTE
AGAINST PROPOSAL 4.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

STRUCTURE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with the Delaware General
Corporation Law and the Company’s
Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws, our
business affairs are managed under the
direction of our Board of Directors. Directors
meet their responsibilities by, among other
things, participating in meetings of the Board
and Board committees on which they serve,
discussing matters with our Chairman and
CEO and other executives, reviewing
materials provided to them, and visiting our
facilities.

Pursuant to the Bylaws, the Board of
Directors has established four standing
committees, which are the Audit Committee,
the Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee, the Governance

BOARD COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIPS

Patricia M. Bedient o*
Marion C. Blakey L]
Phyllis J. Campbell

Jessie J. Knight, Jr.

R. Marc Langland

Dennis F. Madsen °
Byron |. Mallott

J. Kenneth Thompson

and Nominating Committee, and the Safety
Committee. Only independent directors serve
on these committees. The Board has
adopted a written charter for each
committee. The charters of the Audit,
Compensation and Leadership Development,
Governance and Nominating, and Safety
Committees are posted on the Company’'s
website, can be accessed free of charge at
http://www.alaskaair.com/ and are available
in print to any stockholder who submits a
written request to the Company’s Corporate
Secretary.

The table below shows the current
membership of the standing Board
committees. An asterisk (*) identifies the
chair of each committee.

o*
X
® ®
[ ] ®
[
® [
o* ®

The principal functions of the standing Board
committees are as follows:

Governance and Nominating Committee

Pursuant to its charter, the Governance and
Nominating Committee’s responsibilities
include the following:

1. Develop, monitor and reassess from
time to time the Corporate Governance
Guidelines.

2. Evaluate the size and composition of
the Board.

3. Develop criteria for Board membership.

4. Evaluate the independence of existing
and prospective members of the Board.

5. Seek and evaluate qualified candidates
for election to the Board.

6. Evaluate the nature, structure and
composition of other Board committees.
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7.

Take steps it deems necessary or
appropriate with respect to annual
assessments of the performance of the
Board and each Board committee,
including itself.

Annually review and reassess the
adequacy of the Committee’s charter
and its performance, and recommend
any proposed changes in the charter to
the Board of Directors for approval.

Audit Committee

Purs
Com

1.

| 201

uant to its charter, the Audit
mittee’s responsibilities include:

With regard to matters pertaining to the
independent registered public
accountants:

Appoint them and oversee their work.

Review at least annually their statement
regarding their internal quality-control
procedures and their relationship with
the Company.

Maintain a dialogue with respect to
their independence.

Pre-approve all auditing and non-auditing
services they are to perform.

Review annual and quarterly financial
statements and filings made with the SEC.

Receive and review communications
required from the independent
registered public accountants under
applicable rules and standards.

Establish clear hiring policies for
employees and former employees of the
independent registered public
accountants.

Review audited financial statements
with management and the independent
registered public accountants.

Receive and review required
communications from the independent
registered public accountants.

With regard to matters pertaining to the
internal auditors:

Review the planned activities and
results of the internal auditors; and

Review any changes to the internal
audit charter.

With regard to matters pertaining to
controls:

Review major financial reporting risk
exposure and adequacy and
effectiveness of associated internal
controls.

Review procedures with respect to
significant accounting policies and the
adequacy of financial controls.

Discuss with management policies with
respect to risk assessment and risk
management, including the process by
which the Company undertakes risk
assessment and risk management.

Discuss with management, as
appropriate, earnings releases and any
information provided to analysts and
ratings agencies.

Develop, monitor and reassess from
time to time a corporate compliance
program, including a code of conduct
and ethics policy, decide on requested
changes to or waivers of such program
and code relating to officers and
directors, and establish procedures for
confidential treatment of complaints
concerning accounting, internal controls
or auditing matters.

Obtain and review at least quarterly a
statement from the CEO, CFO and
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disclosure committee members
disclosing any significant deficiencies in
internal controls and any fraud that
involves management or other
employees with significant roles in
internal controls.

Prepare the Audit Committee Report
required for the annual proxy statement.

Annually review and reassess the
adequacy of the Committee’s charter
and performance and recommend for
Board approval any proposed changes
to the charter.

Compensation and Leadership Development
Committee

Pursuant to its charter, the Compensation
and Leadership Development Committee’s
responsibilities include the following:

1.

With regard to executive and director
compensation:

Recommend for approval by the Board
changes in compensation and
insurance for the Company’s and its
subsidiaries’ nonemployee directors.

Set, review and approve compensation
of the CEO and other elected and
non-elected officers of the Company
and its subsidiaries.

Establish the process for approving
corporate goals relevant to CEO
compensation and for evaluating CEO
performance in light of those goals.

Set annual goals under the
Performance-Based Pay and Operational
Performance Rewards plans and
administer the plans.

Grant stock awards and stock options.

Administer the supplementary
retirement plans for elected officers and
the equity-based incentive plans.

10.

11.

Make recommendations to the Board
regarding other executive compensation
issues, including modification or
adoption of plans.

Fulfill ERISA fiduciary and non-fiduciary
functions for tax-qualified retirement
plans by monitoring the Alaska Air
Group Pension/Benefits Administrative
Committee, Defined Contribution
Retirement Benefits Administrative
Committee, and Pension Funds
Investment Committee, and approve the
membership of those committees,
trustees and trust agreements, and the
extension of plan participation to
employees of subsidiaries.

Approve the terms of employment and
severance agreements with elected
officers and the form of
change-in-control agreements.

Review executive-level leadership
development and succession plans.

Administer and make recommendations
to the Board of Directors with respect to
the Company’s equity and other long-
term incentive equity plans.

Produce the report on executive
compensation required for the annual
proxy statement.

Annually review and reassess the
adequacy of the Committee’s charter
and its performance, and recommend
any proposed changes in the charter to
the Board of Directors for approval.

Safety Committee

Pursuant to its charter, the Safety
Committee’s responsibilities include the
following:

1.

Monitor management’s efforts to
ensure the safety of passengers and
employees of the Air Group companies.
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2. Monitor and assist management in
creating a uniform safety culture that
achieves the highest possible industry
performance measures.

3. Review management’s efforts to ensure
aviation security and reduce the risk of
security incidents.

4. Periodically review with management
and outside experts all aspects of
airline safety.

5. Evaluate the Company’s health, safety
and environmental policies and
practices.

6. Annually review and reassess the
adequacy of the Committee’s performance
and its charter, and recommend any
proposed changes in the charter to the
Board of Directors for approval.

Board and Committee Meetings

In 2011, the Board of Directors held five
regular meetings. The standing Board
committees held the following number of
meetings in 2011.:

Audit Committee — 7

Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee — 4

Governance and Nominating
Committee — 4

Safety Committee — 5

Each director attended at least 94% of all
Board and applicable committee meetings
during 2011. Each director is expected to
attend the Company’s Annual Meeting of
Stockholders. Last year, all directors but
one attended the annual meeting.

DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The Board of Directors of the Company has
determined that all of the directors except
Mr. Ayer and Mr. Tilden, which includes each
member of the Audit Committee,
Governance and Nominating Committee, and
Compensation and Leadership Development
Committee, are independent under the
NYSE listing standards and the Company’s
independent director standards that are set
forth in the Company’s Corporate
Governance Guidelines. In making its
determination, the Board of Directors
considered the amount of charitable
contribution made by the Company to a
charitable organization on which Ms. Bedient
serves as director. After consideration of
this matter and in accordance with the
Board’s independent director criteria, the
Board of Directors affirmatively determined
that the matter did not represent a material
relationship with the Company because the
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amount of the contribution was immaterial
with respect to the Company’s and the
charitable organization’s annual revenues.

Each member of the Company’s Audit
Committee meets the additional
independence, financial literacy and
experience requirements contained in the
corporate governance listing standards of
the NYSE relating to audit committees or
required by the SEC. The Board has
determined that Ms. Bedient is an audit
committee financial expert as defined in
SEC rules.

The Corporate Governance Guidelines are
available on the Company’s internet website
at http://www.alaskaair.com and are
available in print to any stockholder who
submits a written request to the Company’s
Corporate Secretary.
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Specifically, the Board has determined that
independent directors must have no
material relationship with the Company,
based on all material facts and
circumstances. At a minimum, an
independent director must meet each of the
categorical standards listed below:

1. The director has not, within the last
three years, been employed by and no
immediate family member has been an
executive officer of the Company.

2. Neither the director nor any immediate
family member has, in any 12-month
period in the last three years, received
more than $100,000 in direct
compensation from the Company, other
than compensation for director or
committee service and pension or other
deferred compensation for prior service.

3. With regard to the Company’s
independent accountants firm(i) Neither
the director nor any immediate family
member is a current partner of the
Company’s independent accountants
firm; (ii) the director is not a current
employee of the independent
accountants firm; (iii) no immediate
family member is a current employee of
the independent accountants firm
working in its audit, assurance or tax
compliance practice; and (iv) neither the
director nor any immediate family
member was an employee or partner of
the independent accountants firm within
the last three years and worked on the
Company’s audit within that time.

4. Neither the director nor any immediate
family member has, within the last
three years, been part of an interlocking

directorate. This means that no
executive officer of the Company serves
on the compensation committee of a
company that employs the director or
an immediate family member.

5. The director is not currently an employee
and no immediate family member is an
executive officer of another company
(i) that represented at least 2% or $1
million, whichever is greater, of the
Company’s gross revenues, or (ii) of
which the Company represented at least
2% or $1 million, whichever is greater, of
such other company’s gross revenues,
in any of the last three fiscal years.
Charitable contributions are excluded
from this calculation.

The Board considers that the ordinary-course
business between the Company and an
organization of which the Board member is
an officer or director, where the amount of
such business is immaterial with respect to
the Company’s or the organization’s annual
revenues, does not create a material
relationship.

For the purposes of these standards,
“Company” includes all Alaska Air Group
subsidiaries and other affiliates. “Immediate
family member” includes the director’s
spouse, domestic partner, parents, children,
siblings, mothers- and fathers-in-law, sons-
and daughters-in-law, and anyone sharing
the director’s home. The independence
standards for the members of the Audit
Committee provide that, in addition to the
foregoing standards, they may not

(a) receive any compensation other than
director’s fees for Board and Audit
Committee service and permitted retirement
pay, or (b) be an “affiliate” of the Company
as defined by applicable SEC rules.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

Identification and Evaluation of Candidates

1. Internal Process for Identifying
Candidates

The Governance and Nominating Committee
(the “Committee”) has two primary methods
for identifying candidates (other than those
proposed by the Company’s stockholders,
as discussed below). First, on a periodic
basis, the Committee solicits ideas for
possible candidates from a number of
sources including, but not limited to,
members of the Board, senior-level Company
executives, individuals personally known to
the members of the Board, and research.

Additionally, the Committee may, from time
to time, use its authority under its charter to
retain at the Company’s expense one or
more search firms to identify candidates
(and to approve any such firms’ fees and
other retention terms). If the Committee
retains one or more search firms, those
firms may be asked to identify possible
candidates who meet the minimum and
desired qualifications established by the
Committee and to undertake such other
duties as the Committee may direct.

2. Candidates Proposed by Stockholders

a. General Nomination Right of All
Stockholders

Any stockholder of the Company may
nominate one or more persons for election
as a director of the Company at an annual
meeting of stockholders if the stockholder
complies with the notice, information and
consent provisions contained in Article II,
Section 9 of the Company’s Bylaws. The
provisions generally require that written
notice of a stockholder’s intent to make a
nomination for the election of directors be
received by the Corporate Secretary of the
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Company no later than the close of business
on the 90th day, and no earlier than the
close of business on the 120th day, prior to
the first anniversary of the prior year's
annual meeting. The written notice
submitted by a stockholder must also
satisfy the additional informational
requirements set forth in Article ll, Section 9
of the Bylaws. See “How can | submit a
proposal for next year’'s annual meeting?”
on page 8 for further information about the
deadlines applicable to the submission of
director nominations for next year’s annual
meeting of stockholders.

The Corporate Secretary and General
Counsel will send a copy of the Company’s
Bylaws to any interested stockholder upon
request. The Company’s Bylaws are

also available on the Company’s website at
http://www.alaskaair.com.

b. Consideration of Director Candidates
Recommended by Stockholders

The Committee will evaluate candidates
recommended by a single stockholder, or
group of stockholders, that has beneficially
owned more than 5% of the Company’s
outstanding common stock for at least one
year and that satisfies the notice, information
and consent provisions set forth below (such
individual or group is referred to as the
“Qualified Stockholder”). The Committee’s
policy on the evaluation of candidates
recommended by stockholders who are not
Qualified Stockholders is to evaluate such
recommendations, and establish procedures
for such evaluations, on a case-by-case
basis. This policy allows the Committee to
devote an appropriate amount of its own and
the Company’s resources to each such
recommendation, depending on the nature of
the recommendation itself and any
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supporting materials provided. In addition, as
discussed above, non-Qualified Stockholders
have the ability to nominate one or more
director candidates directly at the annual
meeting. All candidates (whether identified
internally or by a stockholder) who, after
evaluation, are then recommended by the
Committee and approved by the Board, will
be included in the Company’s recommended
slate of director nominees in its proxy
statement.

c. Initial Consideration of Candidates
Recommended by Qualified
Stockholders

The Committee will evaluate candidates
recommended by Qualified Stockholders in
accordance with the following procedures.

Qualified Stockholders may propose a
candidate for evaluation by the Committee
by delivering a written notice to the
Committee satisfying each of the
requirements described below (the
“Notice”). The Notice must be received by
the Committee not less than 120 calendar
days before the anniversary of the date that
the Company’s proxy statement was
released to stockholders in connection with
the previous year’'s annual meeting. No such
notice was received in connection with the
2012 Annual Meeting.

Any candidate recommended by a Qualified
Stockholder must be independent of the
Qualified Stockholder in all respects (i.e.,
free of any material personal, professional,
financial or business relationships from the
nominating stockholder), as determined by
the Committee or by applicable law. Any
candidate submitted by a Qualified
Stockholder must also meet the definition of
an “independent director” under applicable
NYSE rules.

The Notice shall also contain or be
accompanied by the following information or
documentation:

Proof of the required stock ownership
(including the required holding period) of
the stockholder or group of stockholders.
The Committee may determine whether
the required stock ownership condition
has been satisfied for any stockhoider
that is the stockholder of record. Any
stockholder that is not the stockholder of
record must submit such evidence as the
Committee deems reasonable to
evidence the required ownership
percentage and holding period.

A written statement that the stockholder
intends to continue to own the required
percentage of shares through the date of
the annual meeting with respect to which
the candidate is nominated.

The name or names of each stockholder
submitting the proposal, the name of the
candidate, and the written consent of
each such stockholder and the candidate
to be pubiicly identified.

Regarding the candidate, such person’s
name, age, business and residence
address, principal occupation or
employment, number of shares of the
Company’s stock beneficially owned, if
any, a written résumé or curriculum vitae
of personal and professional
experiences, and all other information
relating to the candidate that would be
required to be disclosed in a proxy
statement or other filings required in
connection with the solicitation of
proxies for election of directors pursuant
to Section 14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and
the regulations promulgated thereunder
(the “Exchange Act”).
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Regarding the candidate, information,
documents or affidavits demonstrating to
what extent the candidate meets the
required minimum criteria, and the
desirable qualities or skills, established
by the Committee. The Notice must also
include a written statement that the
stockholder submitting the proposal and
the candidate will make available to the
Committee all information reasonably
requested in furtherance of the
Committee’s evaluation of the candidate.

Regarding the stockholder submitting the
proposal, the person’s business address
and contact information and any other
information that would be required to be
disclosed in a proxy statement or other
filings required in connection with the
solicitation of proxies for election of
directors pursuant to Section 14(a) of
the Exchange Act.

The signature of each candidate and of
each stockholder submitting the proposal.

The Notice shall be delivered in writing by
registered or certified first-class mail,
postage prepaid, to the following address:

Board of Directors
Alaska Air Group, Inc.
PO Box 68947
Seattle, WA 98168

The Corporate Secretary and General
Counsel will promptly forward the Notice to
the Lead Director and Chair of the
Governance and Nominating Committee.

d. Initial Consideration of Candidates
Recommended by Other Stockholders

If, based on the Committee’s initial
screening of a candidate recommended by a
Qualified Stockholder, a candidate continues
to be of interest to the Committee, the Chair
of the Committee will request that the CEO
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interview the candidate and the candidate
will be interviewed by one or more of the
other Committee members. If the results of
these interviews are favorable, the
candidate recommended by a Qualified
Stockholder will be evaluated as set forth
below. Except as may be required by
applicable law, rule or regulation, the
Committee will have no obligation to discuss
the outcome of the evaluation process or
the reasons for the Committee’s
recommendations with any Qualified
Stockholder who made a proposal.

3. Evaluation of Candidates

As to each recommended candidate that the
Committee believes merits consideration,
the Committee will cause to be assembled
information concerning the background,
qualifications and appropriate references of
the candidate, including information
concerning the candidate required to be
disclosed in the Company’s proxy statement
under the rules of the SEC and any
relationship between the candidate and the
person or persons recommending the
candidate. The Committee will then

(i) determine if the candidate satisfies the
qualifications set forth below under the
caption “Policy on Minimum Qualifications
for All Directors”; (ii) conduct interviews with
the candidate as it deems necessary and
appropriate; and (iii) consider the
contribution that the candidate can be
expected to make to the overall functioning
of the Board. The Committee will then meet
to consider and finalize its list of
recommended candidates for the Board’'s
consideration.

The Governance and Nominating Committee
will consider incumbent candidates based
on the same criteria used for candidates
recommended by Qualified Stockholders,
provided that incumbents will also be
considered on the basis of the Committee’s
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annual evaluations of the effectiveness of the
Board, its committees and their members.

Policy on Minimum Qualifications for All
Directors

While there is no formal list of qualifications,
the Governance and Nominating Committee
considers, among other things, the
prospective nominee's relevant experience,
intelligence, independence, commitment,

BOARD LEADERSHIP

The Board currently has a combined chair
and CEO and an independent lead director.
The designation of a lead director is
intended to promote independence and
appropriate oversight of management. The
lead director serves as the chair of the
Governance and Nominating Committee. The
lead director’s responsibilities are (a) to
preside over periodic meetings of
non-management directors as described in
Section 2.1.3 of the Company’s Corporate
Governance Guidelines; (b) to lead the
non-management directors’ annual
evaluation of the CEO; (c) to conduct
interviews with incumbent directors annually,
including a discussion of each individual
director’s self-assessment of his or her
contribution prior to nomination for election
at the next annual meeting; (d) to discuss
any proposed changes to committee
assignments with each affected director
annually in advance of the Governance and
Nominating Committee making its
committee membership recommendations to
the Board; (e) to review and provide input to
Board meeting agendas; and (f) such other
duties as may be described in the
Company’s Corporate Governance
Guidelines. In choosing this structure, the
Board takes into consideration the highly
technical nature of the airline business and

ability to work with the CEO and within the
Board culture, prominence, diversity, age,
might include, among other things, CEO
experience, senior-level international
experience, senior-level regulatory or legal
experience, and relevant senior-level
expertise in one or more of the following
areas — finance, accounting, sales and
marketing, safety, organizational
development, information technology, and
government and public relations.

the importance of having deep, specific
industry knowledge when setting agendas
and leading the Board’s discussions on
understanding of the Company’s business,
and other factors deemed relevant to Alaska
Air Group Board service. Diversity is
considered broadly, not merely with regard
to race, gender, or national origin, but also
with regard to general background,
geographical location, and other facts. The
consideration of diversity is implemented
through discussions at the Governance and
Nominating Committee. In addition, on an
annual basis, as part of the Board’s self-
evaluation, the Board assesses whether the
mix and diversity of Board members is
appropriate for the Company. For a
candidate to serve as an independent
director, an independent and questioning
mindset is critical. The Committee also
considers a prospective candidate’s
workload and whether he or she would be
able to attend the vast majority of Board
meetings, be willing and available to serve
on Board committees, and be able to devote
the additional time and effort necessary to
keep up with Board matters and the rapidly
changing environment in which the Company
operates. Different substantive areas may
assume greater or lesser significance at
particular times, in light of the Board's
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present composition and the Committee’s
(or the Board’s) perceptions about future
issues and needs. Relevant experiences
issues of strategic importance. Because the
CEO is responsible for the day-to-day
operation of the Company and for
implementation of the Company’s strategy,

which is of critical importance to the
Company’s performance, the Board believes
that he or she generally is best suited to
serve as board chair. The Board may decide
to separate the CEO and chair roles from
time to time at its discretion, especially
during a transition of leadership.

: RISK OVERSIGHT

Alaska Air Group has adopted an enterprise-
wide Risk Analysis and Oversight Program.
This Program is designed to: a) identify the
various risks faced by the organization; b)
assign responsibility for managing those
risks to individual executives within the
management ranks; and c¢) align these
management assignments with appropriate
board-level oversight.

Responsibility for the oversight of the Program
itself has been delegated to the Board’'s Audit
Committee. In turn, the Audit Committee has
tasked the Company’s chief risk, compliance
and ethics officer with the day-to-day design
and implementation of the Program. Under the
Program, an Alaska Air Group Risk Matrix has
been developed and the organization’s most
prominent risks have been identified,
responsibility has been assigned to
appropriate executives, and assignments have
been aligned for appropriate Board oversight.
Responsibility for managing these risks
includes strategies related to both mitigation
(acceptance and management) and transfer
(insurance). The Risk Matrix is an ever-
changing document and is updated
continually. At a minimum, the Audit
Committee receives quarterly updates
regarding the Program and an annual
in-person review of the Program’s status by
the chief risk, compliance and ethics officer.

The Program also provides that each year
the Audit Committee of the Air Group Board
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works with the chief risk, compliance and
ethics officer and Air Group’s management
executive committee to identify the most
pressing risk issues for the next year. This
subset of the Risk Matrix is then designated
for heightened oversight during the next
year, including periodic presentations by the
designated management executive to the
appropriate Board entity. Furthermore, these
areas of emphasis regarding risk(s) are
specifically reviewed and discussed with
executive management during an annual
executive officer planning session, in the
third quarter of each year, and are
incorporated into the process of developing
the Air Group strategic plan for the coming
year.

As part of its oversight of the Company’s
executive compensation program, the
Compensation and Leadership Development
Committee, along with its current
independent consultant, Mercer Consulting
(retained by the Committee in late 2009),
and the Company’s management team, has
reviewed the risk impact of the Company’s
executive compensation. Based on this
review, the Company has concluded that its
executive compensation programs do not
encourage risk taking to a degree that is
reasonably likely to have a materially
adverse impact on the Company.

The Company believes that its leadership
structure, discussed in detail under the



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

heading “Board Leadership” above,
supports the risk oversight function of the
Board for the same reasons that it believes
the leadership structure is most effective for
the Company, namely that, while facilitating
open discussion and communication from

independent members of the Board, it
ensures that strategic discussions are led
by an individual with a deep understanding
of the highly technical and complex nature of
the airline business.

EXECUTIVE SESSIONS AND LEAD DIRECTOR

The Air Group Board holds regular executive
sessions of non-management directors
quarterly. As provided in the charter of the
Governance and Nominating Committee, the

lead director, who presides over these
executive sessions, is the chair of the
Governance and Nominating Committee.

STOCKHOLDER COMMUNICATION POLICY

Any stockholder or interested party who
wishes to communicate with the Alaska Air
Group Board of Directors or any specific
directors, including the lead director (who
presides over executive sessions of the
non-employee directors) or with the
non-employee directors as a group, may
write to:

Board of Directors
Alaska Air Group, Inc.
PO Box 68947
Seattie, WA 98168

Depending on the subject matter,
management wiil:

forward the communication to the director
or directors to whom it is addressed (for
example, if the communication received
deals with questions, concerns or
complaints regarding accounting, internal

accounting controls and auditing matters,
it will be forwarded by management to the
chair of the Audit Committee for review);

attempt to handle the inquiry directly (for
example, where it is a request for
information about the Company’'s
operations or it is a stock-related matter
that does not appear to require direct
attention by the Board or any individual
director); or

not forward the communication if it is
primarily commercial in nature or if it
relates to an improper or irrelevant topic.

At each meeting of the Governance and
Nominating Committee, the corporate secretary
presents a summary of all communications
received since the last meeting of the
Governance and Nominating Committee and
will make those communications available to
any director on request.

CODE OF CONDUCT AND ETHICS

The Company has adopted a Code of
Conduct and Ethics that applies to all
employees of the Company, including our
CEO, CFO, principal accounting officer and

persons performing similar functions. The
Code of Conduct and Ethics is located on
the Company’s internet website at http://
www.alaskaair.com and is available in print
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to any stockholder who requests it.
Information on the Company’s website,
however, does not form a part of this Proxy
Statement. The Company intends to
disclose any amendments (other than

technical, administrative or non-substantive
amendments) to, and any waivers from, a
provision of the Code of Conduct and Ethics
for directors or executive officers on the
Company’s internet website.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Policies and Procedures for Approval of Related
Person Transactions

The Board of Directors has adopted a
written policy for review, approval or
ratification of any transaction, arrangement
or relationship in which (i) the Company was,
is or will be a participant, (ii) the aggregate
amount involved exceeds $120,000 in any
calendar year, and (iii) a related person has
or will have a direct or indirect material
interest (other than solely as a result of
being a director or the beneficial owner of
less than 10% of another entity). For
purposes of the policy, a related person is
(iy any person who is, or at any time since
the beginning of the last fiscal year was, one
of the directors or executive officers or a
nominee to become a director, (ii) any
beneficial owner of more than 5% of our
common stock, or (iii) any immediate family
member of any the these persons.

Under the policy, once a related person
transaction has been identified, the Audit
Committee (or, for transactions that involve
less than $1 million in the aggregate, the
Chair of the Audit Committee) must review
the transaction for approval or ratification.
Members of the Audit Committee or the
Chair of the Audit Committee, as applicable,
will review all relevant facts regarding the
transaction in determining whether to
approve or ratify it, including the extent of
the related person’s interest in the
transaction, whether the terms are
comparable to those generally available in
arm’s length transactions, and whether the
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transaction is consistent with the best
interests of the Company. The related
person involved in the transaction will
participate in the approval or ratification
process only to provide additional
information as requested for the review.
Once initially approved or ratified, all
transactions with related persons will be
reviewed at least annually.

The policy does not require review or
approval of the following transactions:

(i) employment by the Company of an
executive officer unless he or she is an
immediate family member of another related
person; (ii} any compensation paid by the
Company to a director; and (iii) a transaction
in which a related person’s interest arises
solely from the ownership of equity
securities and all holders of the securities
receive the same benefit on a pro rata
basis.

Certain Transactions with Related Persons

The Company and its subsidiaries have
transactions in the ordinary course of
business with other corporations of which
the Company’s executive officers or
directors or members of their immediate
families are directors, executive officers, or
stockholders. The amounts involved are less
than the disclosure thresholds set by the
SEC, or the executive officer or director or
his or her family member does not have a
direct or indirect material interest, as that
term is used in SEC rules, in the
transaction.



AUDIT.COMMITTEE MATTERS

Selection of independent Aceountants for the year. KPMG also served as the Company’s

Current Fiscal Year independent accountants for fiscal 2011.
The Audit Committee of the Board of Representatives of KPMG are expected 1o
Directors has selected, and is attend the meeting to respond to questions
recommending that stockholders ratify, from stockholders and will have the

KPMG LLP (“"KPMG") as the Company's opportunity to make a statement, if they
independent accountants for the 2012 fiscal wish to do so.

Foess Paid 1o independent Accountants

During fiscal years 2011, 2010 and 2009, the Company retained KPMG as its principal
auditors. The independent accountants provided services in the following categories and
amounts:

(1)

Tax Fees(3)
Total Fees for 2009 $1,222,380

(1) Audit fees represent the arranged fees for the years presented, including the annual audit of internal controls
as mandated under Sarbanes-Oxley Section 404, and cut-of-pocket expenses reimbursed during the respective

year,

{(2) Consists of-fees paid in connection with the audit-of Air Group’s employee benefit plans in all years.

(3) Consists of fees paid for professional sewvices in connection with tax consulting related to specific aircraft
leasing and acquisition matters. These sefvices were pre-approved by the ‘Audit Committee:

(4) Consists of fees paid for professional services in connection with (i) the audit of passenger facility charges and
examination of related controls, and (ii) the examination of agreed-upon procedures forthe U.S. Citizenship
and Immigration Services. '
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AURIT COMMITTEE MATTERS

The Audit Committee has considered
whether the provision of the non-au t
services referenced above is compatible
with-maintaining the independence of the
Company's independent accountants, and
hag-determined that it does notimpact the
independence of theactountants.

Inidependent Auditor Engagement Policy

The Audit Committee has established an
Independent Auditor Engagement Policy. that
is designed to ensure that the Company’s
independent accountant performs its
services independently and with the h!g,he:st
me«;gr ty and prcfesmomimm The Audit
Committee reviews the policy annually.

The policy pmvm‘es that any engagement of
the Company’s outside accountant must be
consistent with principles determined by the
SEC: rzamely, whether the incﬁeﬁerzd@ﬁt
accountant is capab e of exercising impartial

judgment on all issues encompassed within
the accountant’s engagement.

Permitted services under the policy include
audit services, auditrelated senvices, certain
tax services and certain other services
rohibited by SEC rules or other |
hs. Before reta ing its independent

acwuntaﬁt for fscm ‘audit services, the Audit

The following report of the fxi, "t Commities

shiall not be deemed to be soliciting material
of to be filed with the SEC m{ﬁ%: the
Exchange Act, as amended, or incorporated
by reference in any document so filed,

Rewview of Our Company’'s Audited Finaneial
Statements

The Audlt Committee has r@vsawed and
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l\l’ (;@ns;der fao’fors %uch :

mwheth@f the services m|ght compromise thh

accountant’s independence, whether the
accountant is the best provider for the
services; and the appropriate proportion of
audit to nor-audit services: ;

All services must n&z pre-approved by the
Audit Committee except for certain services
other than audit, review, or atlest services
that meet the “de minimis exception” under
47.CFR Section 240.2-:01, namely;

"+ the aggregate amount of fees paid for all

such services is not more than five
. percent (5%) of the total fees paid by the
~ Company to its accountant during the
fiscal year in which the serwces are
provided; :

such services were not rer,ognizedby the
Company at the time of the engagement
{0 be non-audit 3erv1ces and

such semvices arﬁ pmmp’{y bmught %10 the
attention of the Audit Committes and
approved prior to the completion of the
audit. :

During fiscal years 2011, 2010 aﬂd 2009
there were no.such s

performed pursuant to the “de min

exception.”

Company's independent accountants; the
Company’s audited financial statements
included in the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 34,2044, The Committes
believes that management maintains an
effective system of internal E:t}ﬂtr()%ﬁ that
results in fdwiy presented fmancsa%

 statements.
discussed with management and KPMG, the



AUDIT COMNMITTEE MATTERS

The discussions with KPMG also included
the material and judgmental matters
required by Statement on Auditing Standards
No. 61, Communication with Audit
Committees, as amended, by the Auditing
Standards Board of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

The Committee has also received and
reviewed the written disclosures and the
KPMG letter required by PCAOB Rule 3526,
Communicating with Audit Committees
Concerning Independence, and has
discussed with KPMG their independence.

~ Based on the review and discussions

described above, the Audit Committee
recommended to the Board of Directors that
the audited financial statements be included
in Alaska Air Group’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2011,

Audit Commities of the Boand of Direciors

Patricia M. Bedient, Chair

Marion C. Blakey, Member

Dennis F. Madsen, Member
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The following table presents information regarding the compensation paid for 2011 1o members of our
Board of Directors who are not also our employees (referred to heréin as “Non-Employee Directors”).
The compensation paid to Mr. Ayer and Mr. Tilden, who are also our employees, is presented in the

Summary Compensation Table and the related explanatory tables. Neither Mr. Ayer nor Mr. Tilden
receives additional compensation for his service as a director, i :

{1y Directors received an annual cash retainer of $43,000 in figu of payments for individual board a@nd commitiee
meeting fees and interim telephone update participation.fees. in addition to the $43,000 annual retainer, the
compensation for non-employee directors included the following:

- an annual retainer of $10,000 1o the Govermnance and Nominating Committee chair, who is also the Lead
Director;
an annual retainer of $8,000 to the Audit Committee chair and $5,000 to Compensation and Leadership
Development, Governance and Nominating, and Safety Committee chairs;

an annual retainer of $1,000 1o nonemployee directors who also served on the Boards of Directors of
Alaska Airlines or Horizon Alr;

refmbursement of expenses in connection with attending Board and committes meetings as well as
expenses in connection with director education.

(2) In addition to the annual cash retainer, non-employee directors were granted deferred stock units under the
2008 Performance Incentive Plan, with the number of fully vested stock units determined by dividing $36,000
by the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the date of the annual stockholders meeting. The
stock units.will be paid in‘shares of common stock on a onefor-one basis following the termination of the
director's sewice as a member of the Board.

As of December 31, 2011, non-employees ditectors each held 4,652 fully vested deferred stock units with the
axception of Ms. Blakey who held 951 fully vested deferred stock units. See discussion of these awards in
Note 13 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements included as part of the Company's 2011 Annual
Report filed on Form 10-K with the SEC and incorporated herain by reference. The non-employee directors do
not hold any cutstanding stock options.

Alaska Alr Group directors do not participate in any norrequity incentive compensation plans, nor do they
participate in a nongualified deferred compensation plan. Directors do not receive pension benefits for their
service.

{3) As part of each director’s compensation, the Nom-Employee Director and the Non-Employee Director's spouse
were provided transportation on Alaska Alrlines and Morizen Air. Included in the Al Other Compensation column
for each Non-Employee Director is the Incrementat cost 1o the Company of providing these benefits, as well as
the value of each:director’s (and his or her spouise’s) membership in the Company’s airport Boardroom
program. Positive-space travel is a benefit unique to the-airline industry. By providing this travel without tax
consequences to NonEmployee Directors, the Cormpany is able to deliver a highly valued benefit at a low cost,
and believes this henefit encourages Non-Eniployee Directors to travel, thus enhancing their connection to the
Alaska Airlines and Horizon Air products and services.
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RIRECTOR COMPENSATION

1n addition, the All Other Compensation column mc!udea the value of reimbursements for taxes on the
transportation benefits provided to each director as Quantified below:

The Company expects directors to act in the

director’s annual cash retainer, such

Company’s best interests regardless of the ownership to be achieved within five years of
number of shares they own. However, in joining the Board. Deferred stock units held
2012, the Board of Directors revised. its by directors, which are 100% vested at
share ownership policy for its members. grant, will count toward the holding

Each non-employee director is expected 1o requirement even though they will not be
hold shares of Company stock having a issued until directors resign from the Board.

value equal to at leastthree times the

G
i



OMPENSATION

The Coms:)eﬁsat ion Discussion and Analysis

i ’;zsf the proxy statement
explaing how our executive compensatio
programs are structured and the
Compensation and Leadership Development
Committee’s rationale for decisions
regarding pay level and mix.

Agreements Regarding Change n Control
and Termi rsatmn . ,

The structure of the Cgmpany 5 executm,
compensation program is designed to
compensate executives ap;}mprtateiy and
competitively and to drive superior
parformance. Because thg‘,Nam,edExecutéve
Officers are primarily responsible for the
overall execution of the Company’s strategy,
a high pemen‘tage of their tma; direct

; \comp@rm@tmm i

Execulive Bummary

This CD&A contains a discussion of the
material elements of compen tmn eaamed

Executive Officers listed in the Summary
Compensation Table: William 8. Ayer, chief
executive officer of Alaska Air Group: Bradley
D. Tilden, president of operating subsidiary
Alaska Airlines; Glenn S. Johnson, president
of operating subsidiary Horizon Air
Industries; Benito Minicucci, chief operating
officer of Alaska Airlines; and Brandon S.
Pedersen, chief financial officer of Alaska Alr
Group. It includes a discussion of the
following:

\mcentwas to achmve goal s that he p créa\te
value for ¢ stockholders. H;ghhghts Df the
program include:

For 2041, the Committes approved
targetlevel compensation for Mr. Ayer
that is-80% variable and tied to
stockholdervalue creation. With respect
to the other Named Executive Officers,
the Committee approved target
eompensation that is, on average, 73%
variable and tied to stockholder value

Objectives of our Executive creation.

Compensation Program

Executives’ bonuses under the
Company’s annual incentive program are
hased on the achievement of specific
performance objectives (broadly
applicable to all employees) established
at the beginning of the fiscal vear by the
Compensation Committee and are
capped at a specified maximurn amount.
As illustrated in the table on page 45,
the annual incentive plan paid out above
targel this year primarily as a result of
achieving record profitability and
excellent customer satisfaction scores.

Our Compensation Philosophy

How Executive Compensation is
Determined

Current Executive Pay Etements
—~  Base Pay, including Peer Group
CEQ Pay Comparisons
- Performance-Based Annual Pay
- LongTerm Equity Pay
-~ Perquisites, Retirtement Benefits
and Deferred Compensation

Changes in Compensation in Connection

with Leadership Transition L I .
Executives’ equily incentive awards

» Policies on Executive Stock Ownership

and Prohibition of Speculative
Transactions
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generally consist of a combination of
stock options, time-based restricted
stock unit awards and restricted stock



EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

unit awards that vest only if specified
performance levels are achieved. For
2010 and 2014, performance-based
awards vest based on the Company’s
total shareholder return relative to a
peer group of companies so that the
executive's opportunity to benefit under
the award is directly linked to the
creation of value for stockholders.

To further enhance the link between the
interests of executives and
stockholders; all of the Company’'s
elected officers are expected to hold a

- specified level of Company stock as set
forth in the Company's stock ownership
policy.

The Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee has reviewed its
compensation programs for executives and
for non-executives and believes that
compensation is structured in a way that
does not create risks that would be
regsonably likely to have a material, adverse
effect on the Company.

Objectives of our Executive Compensation
Program

The objectives of the executive
compensation programs, as determined by
the Alaska Air Group Board Compensation
and Leadership Development Committee,
are as follows:

to attract and retain highly qualified
executives who share the Company’s
values and commitment to its strategic
plan by designing the total compensation
package to be competitive with an
appropriate peer group,;

to motivate executives to provide
excellent leadership and achieve
Company goals by linking incentive pay
to the achievement of specific targets
that are reflected in the short-term
incentive Performance-Based Pay Plan
and the Company’s strategic plan;

to align the interests of executives,
employees, and stockholders by tying a
large portion of our executives' total
direct compensation {defined as base
salary; shortterm incentive pay and
equity-awards) to the achievement of
objective goals related to the Company's
financial-performance, safety record,
cost structure, and customer
satisfaction; and

to provide executives with reasonable
security to motivate them to continue
employment with the Company and
achieve goals that will help the Company
remain competitive and thrive for the
long term.

Compensation Philosophy

For the Named Executive Officers, the
Compensation and Leadership Development
Cormnmitiee will generally set base salary-at
approximately the 25t percentile and
provide executives-an opportunity to-achieve
totaldirect compensation at the 501
nercentile if annual and longterm incentive
targets are reached, and to surpass the bO"
percentile if those targets are exceeded.
Base salary for other elected officers will be
targeted between the 25% and the 501
percentiles with an opportunity to earn total
direct compensation-at the 50" percentile if
annual and longterm incentives are
reached, and o surpass the 500 percentile
if those targets are exceeded.

low Executive Compensation is
sritied :

The Role of the Compensatien and Leadership
svelopment Commities and Consultants

The Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee determines and
approves the Named Executive Officers’
compensation. The Committee has retained
Mercer Consulting, LLP (Mercer), a wholly
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owned subsidiary of Marsh & McLennan:
Companies, Inc.; to assist the Committee
with its responsibilities related to the
Company’s executive and board of director
compensation programs i additionto
serving as-consultant tothe Committes;
Mercer also provided “other sewices” tothe
Company during 2011 relating to the
Company's employee:-benefit plans,
including broad-based plans maintained for
the benefit of employees generally as well
as certain su;)piementa retirement plans
maintained for the Company’s executive
officers and other highly comp@msamd
emptoye&s‘ In 2011, Me;mear received
approximately $202,000 from the Company
in connection with its consulting services for
the Committee and approximately $786,200
for these “other services™ related to
Company benefit plans, of which
approximately $753,600 was for services
refated to broad-based plans maintained for
employees generally. The decision to engage
Mercer 1o provide these “other services”
was made by-management: Although the
Commitiee did not specifically-approve all-of
these engagements, the Committee believes
that the additional services provided by ...
Mercer with respect to the Company's
benefit plans do not prevent Mercer from
being objective in its work for the Committee
for the following reasons:

the consultant receives no incentive or
other compensation based on the fees
charged to the Company for other services
provided by Mercer or ils affiliates;

the consultant is not responsible for
selling other Mercer or affiliate setvices
to the Company;

Mercer's professional standards prohibit
the individual consultant from considering
any other relationships Mercer or any of
its affiliates may have with the Company
in r@nd@rmg advice or. r@commandatmns,
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the consultant has direct access to the
Committee without management
intervention; and

the Committee has sole authorty to
retain and terminate the caﬂsuitar}t

When determining executive compensation,
the Committee considers input from a
variety of sources as well as several other
factors described below.

When determining executive compensation,
the Committee considers input froma
variety of sources as well as several other
factors described below.

Sdements of Gy Exegutive
sation Program Were Selected

oy th

Go

The Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee conducts periodic
reviews of the Company's executive
compensation to ensure that it is structured
to satisfy the Committee’s eb;ectwfes The
Committee considers how each component
of-compensation-motivates executives 1o

elp the Company achieve its performance
goals and how it promotes retention of
executives who share the Company's:
values, The compensation structure is .
designed to promote initiative, \
resourcefulness and teamwork by key
employees whose performance and
responsibilities directly affect the
performance of the business.

The Committee uses both fixed
compensation and variable performance-
based compensation to achieve a balanced
program that is competitive and provides
appropriate incentives. Base salafies,
benefits, perquisites, retirement benefits,
andichange-in-control benefits are intended
to attract and retain highly qualified
executives and are paid out on a shortterm
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or current basis. Annual incentives and long-
term equity-based incentives are intended to
motivate executives to achieve specific
performance objectives.

The Committee believes that this mix of
shortterm and long-term compensation
allows it to achieve dual goals of attracting
and retaining highly qualified executives and
providing meaningful performance incentives
for those executives.

Deterrents 1o Excessive Risk Taking

The Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee believes it has
designed the overall compensation program
in such a way as to deter excessive risk
taking, to encourage executives to focus on
the long-term success of the Company and
to align the interests of executives with
those of stockholders by:

encompassing several different financial
and operational goals]

using overlapping performance periods;

incorporating short-term-and. longterm
performance periods. of varying lengths;

- capping short-term cash incentives;

- allowing Committee discretion to reduce
amounts otherwise payable under cértain
awards;

scaling compensation to our industry;

considering internal equity among
Company executives;and

- reflecting the current business challenges
facing the Company.

Execulive Pay Wik and the Emphasis on
e Pay

The Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee believes that
emphasis on variable compensation at the
senior executive levels of the Company is &
key element in achieving a pay-for-
performance culture and in aligning
mahagemenl’s interests with those of the
Company’s stockholders. At the same time,
the Committee believes that the executive
compensation program provides meaningful
incentives for executives while balancing risk
and reward. When determining executive
pay,-the Commitlee attempts to ensure that
compensation is closely aligned with the
overall strategy of the Company and that it
motivates exeputives to achieve superior
performance and stockholder returmns.

Total direct compensation for a Named
Executive Officer is tailored to place a
substantial emphasis on pay thatis variable
and tied to performance objectives. For
2011, the Committee approved target-level
compensation for Mr. Ayer that is 80%
variable and tied to stockholder value
creation. With respect to the other Named
Executive Officers, the Commitiee approved
target compensation that is on average 73%
variable and tied to stockholder value
creation. ’
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ERECUTIVE CONPENSATION

Total Direct Compensation of CEO'

lﬂ/Base Pay Civariable Pay l

The Use of Benchmarking Agalnst a Peey Garoup

Periodically, the Committee reviews and
analyzes total direct compensation at the
executive level. In analyzing the Named
Executive Officers’ compensation for 2011,
the Committee reviewed the total direct
compensation for executives of this peer
group of air camiers excluding the
companies that ceased reporling
compensation data becausse they were no
fonger public.

The following companies represent the peer
group selected by the Committee as a
comparator for determining appropriate
compensation levels beginning in 2010:

+ AirTran Holdings

- AMR Corporation

+ Continental Airlines*

+ Delta Air Lines
Expresslet*

+  Hawaiian Holdings

« JetBlue Alrways

- Mesa Air Group*

+  Republic Airways Holdings
SkyWest
Southwest Airlines
United Airlines

< US Airways Group
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Tatal Direct Compensation of Other
\ ' NEOS

i@ Base Pay [l Variable Pay ;

*Due to merger or other reorganization, data
was no longer separately reported for
Continental, Expresslet or Mesa Air Group
at the time 2011 compensation was set for
executives and, as a result, they were not
included in the Committee’s peer group
analysis.

in general, the Company's executive
compensation program is designed 1o
achieve total direct compensation at the
50th percentile of the peer group aata fm*
Named Executive Officers.

The Committee chose 1o include the
companies named above in its peer group
for-the following reasons:

- They represent a group of sufficient size
to present a reasonable indicator of
axecutive-compensation levels,

They are in the airline industry and their
businesses are similar to the Company’s
business,

The median annual revenue of this group
is close to the Company’s annual
revenue.

« The Company competes with these peer
companies for talent to fill certain key,
industry-related executive positions.
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The Application of Internal Equity
Considerations

In-addition to benchmarking against an
industry peer group, the Committee believes
it is approptiate to consider other principles
of compensation, and not accept
“penchmarking” data as the sole basis for
setting compensation levels. Thus, while the
Committee has considered peer group data
as described above, it has also applied
other compensation principles, most notably
internal equity, when determining executive
compensation. At current levels, the CEO's
total direct compensation represents
approximately two times that of the
executive vice president level, and
approximately five times that of the average
vice president level. By considering internal
equity, the Committee remains mindgful of
the ratio of CEOto-employee pay and, 8% a
result, is able to structure executive
compensation in a-way that is less
susceptible tosudden, temporary changes
in market compensation levels,

The Use of Tally Sheets

Annually, the Committee reviews tally sheets
that show each element of compensation for
Named Executive Officers. Base salaries,
incentive plan payments, equity awards,
equity exercises, perquisites, and health
and retirement benefits are included on tally
sheets, which-are prepared by the
Company's corporate affairs and human
resources departments. To date, the
Committee has used the tally sheets 10
verify that executive compensation is
internally equitable and proportioned
according to the Committee’s expectations.

The Use of Performance Measures

The Committee uses objective performance
goals in the Performance-Based Pay Plan
(annual cash incentive plan). The Committee

also applies performance measures as a
basis for determining a significant
percentage of longderm egquity awards.
Annualincentives and longderm incentives
are intended to motivate executives to
achieve superior performance levels by
setting goals that are tieddo the Company’s
strategic plan-and by linking executives’
compensation to longterm stockholder gain.
All employee groups at the Company
participated in the Performance-Based Pay
Plan during 2011, The Committee believes
that tying incentive pay to shared
performance targets motivates all
employees across the Company to achieve
the same goals.

Py
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Consideration of Say-on-Pay Advisory Vole

At the May 2011 Annual Meeting, more than
Q4% of votes cast indicated approval of the
advisory Say-on-Pay proposal in connection
with the discussion of 2010 compensation.
The Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee believes that the
vote outeome is an indicationthat
stockholders generally approve of the
structure of executive compensation at
Alaska Air Group and, therefore, the
Committee structured executive
compensation for 2011 in a way that is
generally consistent with 2010.
Stockholders will have an opportunity
annually to castan-advisory vote in
connection with executive compensation.

Current Executive Pay Elemenis
Base Pay

In general, for Named Executive Officers, the
Commitiee fargets base salary levels at the
251 percentile based on:peer group data
identified in the review described in this
discussion. For other vice presidentdevel
executives; the Commities targets base salary
levels between the 25%and 5OW percentiles.
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION..

Thé Committee assesses each executive's
duties and scope of responsibilities, past. o
performance and expected future
contributions 1o the Company, the market
demand for the individual's skills, the
individual’ s-influence onlong-term - Company
strategies and success, the individual's
leadership performance, and internal equity
considerations.

In Eebiruary 2041, the Committee approved
anvincreasein Mr. Ayer'sannual base salary
from $400,000 to $412,000 based on
market considerations. After giving effect to
thesincrease, Mr. Ayer’s salary remained
below the 25" percentile for CEOs in the peer
group. The chart below depicts CEO base
salaries:at airline peer group companies,

UAL Corporation

| Average Base Salary {Alr Group
pesrs)

Amourits are derived from.most recent
compensation data availablé as of the date of this
Proxy Statement. In most cases; this is the 2010
base salary as reported in'the respective company's
2011 proxy statement.

$566,501 |

*

The Committee believes it is appropriate to
target the 25" percentile for base salary -
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levels of the other Named Executive
Officers, with the opportunity to earn market-
level compensationthrough short-and long:
term incentive plans that pay when .
performance objectives are met. In 2011,
the Named Executive Officers received:
modest increases in bhase salary based on
market considerations. o

Performance-Based Annual Pay

The Company's Named Executive Officers
are eligible to earn-annualincentive pay
under the Performance-Based Pay Plan,
which is-intended to motivate the executives
and other employees to achieve specific
Company goals. All of the Company’s
employee:groups participated in the
Performance-Based Pay Plan during 20110
The Committee aligns executive
compensation with the Company’s strategic
plan by choosing a target performance level
for each operational or financial goal
{outlined in the 2011 Performance-Based
Pay Metrics table below) that is consistent
with the Company’s strategic plan goals.

Each participant in the Performance-Based
Pay Plan is assigned a target participation
level that is at about the median level of
target participation levels for similarly
situated executives with the Company’s peer
group and is expressed as a percentage of
the participant's-base salary. For the Named
Executive Officers, the 2011 target
participationlevels are as follows:

sed Pav.Plan Participation

| Glenn S. Johnson

Brandon S.r Ped@rwﬂ
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Incentive award payments may range from level and 25% for performance at the

zero to 200% of the Named Executive threshold level. The payout percentages are
Officers’ target based on the achievement of prorated for performance between the levels
objective performance standards set by the identified below, but if performance for a
Compensation and Leadership Development particular metric is below the threshold
Committee at the beginning of eachvyear. level, no payment will be made as to that
For eachperformance metric; performance metric. The Committee retains the discretion
at the target leveb will generally resultin a to reduce bonus amounts below the level
100% payout of the target amount forthat that would otherwise be paid based on
metric, while the payout is generally 200% these metrics, For 2011, the Performance-
for performance at or above the maximum Based Pay Plan metrics were set-as follows:

20411 Performance-Based Pay Metrics

ldd

Losttime injuries per 100 full-time 5.0 3.7 4.4 3.0 4.2 2.7
employees {5%) or fewer or fewer or fewer or fewer -or fewer or fewer

Aircraft ground damage (5%) 2.2 2.0 1.9 1.5 1.5 0.5
’ or fewer or fewer or fewer or fewer or fewer or fewer |

Measured by the number of Smos. S mos. 8mos. 8mos. 11 mos. 11 mos.
months we exceed our monthly :
customer satisfaction goal

+ Cost per available seat mile 7.6¢  12.0¢  7.5¢ 11.8¢  7.4¢ 11.6¢
excluding fuel and special items

_Alaska Air Group Profitability

* Note: Adjusted pre-tax profit means the net income of Alaska Air Group as computed by GAAP and adjusted for
“Excluded itemns” and *Alternative Accounting Treatments.” “Excluded ltems” means (a) income taxes, (b) pretax
expense underany Alaska Air Group (or subsidiary) profit sharing, performance-based pay, i:speraﬁpnai
performance rewards; variable pay, or similar programs as determined inthe discretion of the Compensation and
Leadership Development Committee, and (¢) special income or expense items that, in the discretion of the
Compensation and Leadership Development Committee, should be excluded because recognizing them would not
appropriately serve the goals of the Plan. These may include, without limitation, gain or loss on disposition of
capital assets, impairments or other fleet exit costs, expenses from voluntary or involuntary severance programs,
government refunds or assistance and the cumulative effect of accounting changes. “Alternative Accounting
Treatments” means expense ofr income items that, for purposes of calculating Adjusted Pretax Profit, the
Company (or any subsidiary) will account for based on non-GAAP methods because, in the discretion of the
Compensation and Leadership Development Committee, using GAAP accounting methods would not appropriately
serve the goals of the Plan. These may include, without limitation, fuel hedge accounting on an “as settled”
hasis.
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Annual target performance measures reflect’
financial and operational goals that are
consistent with the strategic plan: Maximum
goals reflect superior performance, while
threshold goals generally reflect an

acceptable but minimal level of improvement

overthe prior year's performance. The 2011
Alaska Air Group profitability target of $475
million corresponded to a 10.7% return on
invested capital (ROIC). The Company's goal
is to achieve a 10% average ROIC over the
business cycle, which the Company believes
will alfow it to grow profitably. The Safety
and Employee Engagement measures war@
set at levels the Committee believes will

drive continuous improvement and. m:a‘intam

the Company’s reputation as a leader in the
industry in these areas. The costper-
available seat mile excluding fuel and
special items (CASM) metric. was similarly
chosen to support the Company’s
achievement of its strategic plan. The
nor-ticket passenger revenue modifier
{shown below) is aligned with Alaska Air
Group’s overall operational performance
goals and helps balance the incentives in
the Performance-Based Pay Plan.

The Committee believes that using adjusted
measures, such as CASM (excluding fuel
and special items) and adjusted pre-tax
profit, rather than Genersally Accepted

440 pts -8 pts -8 pts 4 pis -2 pis No Adj.

+1 pls +2 pis +4 pis +8 pis 38 pts

Accounting Principles (GAAP) measures
more closely ties results to elements of
performance thatcan be controlled by the
decisions and actions of emplovees, thergby
providing a-more direct link between
performance and reward. In addition, by
removing the short-term impact of certain
business decisions (such as the gain or loss
ondisposition of capital assets, for
example); using adjusted measures
encourages executives to make decisions
that are in the best interest of the Company
over the long term.

For 2011, a modifier was added to the
erformance-Based Pay Plan that resulted in
plus or minus ten percentage points based
on Alaska Air Group’s non-ticket passenger
revenue per passenger. Non-ticket
passenger revenue includes fees for such
things as firstclass upgrades, baggage,
ticketing changes, onboard food and
beverage, and other services not included ir
the base fare, This measure was mtehded
to reinforce the Company’'s 2011 strategic
goal of increasing revenues. The, nonticket
passenger revenue modifier is aligned with
each subsidiary’s operational performance
goals and helps balance the incentives in
the Performance-Based Pay Plan. The
performance measures are detailed below:

+10 pis

| a4 |
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Following is an example of the calculation of the 2011 Performance-Based Pay Plan payout for
an Alaska Airlines executive whose target participationis 75% of base salary.

Empioyee Engagement/(;usmméf
CASM (€ 0

Payout as.a % of Base Salary

Satisfaction*
cluding fuel)!

P

Proxy

10.0%

131.7%

*  Based on Alaska Airlines” performance.
% Participation rates vary by.position, The participation rate used in this example is for-one of the Named

Executive Officers.

The Performance-Based Pay Plan has paid out as follows since its inception:

200% -

150% -

100%

50% -

Historyof §

T49.7% 1A9.6%% 1 Abiskia average - 108% . .
3T % 32,49

BB2% (g4 v

5

Horizon average - 107 % W

51.8%

Y% of Target

In addition, all-of the Company’s-employees,

& separate incentive plan-called Operational
Performance Rewards, which pays a monthly:

including the executive officers, participate in
| 45|




incentive of $100 to all employees when
ceftain operational performance targets are .
met. Awards are based on-the achievement of
onstime performance and customer
satisfaction goals, and the maximum annual
payout for each employee is $1,200.

g-Term Equity-Based Pay

Long-term equity-based incentive awards that
link executive pay to stockholder value are an
important element of the Company's executive
compensation program. Long-lerm equity
incentives that vest over three- or fouryear
periods are awarded annually, resulting in
overlapping vesting periods. The awards are
designed to discourage shortterm risk taking
and are primarily intended to align Named
Executive Officers’ interests with those of
stackholders. In-addition, equitybased awards
help attract and retain top-petforming
executives who fit a teamroriented and
performance-driven-culture.

oft Options

The Company grants a portion of its longterm
incentive awards 1o Named: Executive Officers
in the form of stock options with an exercise

price that is equal to the fair market value of

the Company’s common stock on the grant

date. Thus, the Named Executive Officers will

realize value from their s iong only to
the degree that Air Group s ha!d@m would
realize value if they purchased shares and
held them for the same period the executive
holds his or her stock options. The stock
options also function as a retention incentive
for executives, as they generally vest ratably
over a fouryear period after the date of grant.

ioted Stock Unite

The Company also grants long-term incentive
awards to Named Executive Officers in the
form of restricted stock units. Subject to the
executive’'s
Company, the restricted stock units
generally vest on the third anniversary of the
date they are dranted and, upon vesting, are
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continued employment with the

~opaid-inshares of Alaska Air Group common -
stock. The units provide a long-term

retention incentive through the vesting
period that is not dependent solely on stock
price appreciation. The units are designed to

further link executives’ interests with those

of Air Group’s stockholders, as the units’
value is based on the value of Air Gmup
common stock,

The Company also grants the Named

Executive Officers performance stock units as

part of the longterm equity-based incentive
program, The performance stock units vest
only if the Company achieves performance

~ goals established by the Committee for the

performance period covered by the award.
Performance stock uniis also provide g
retention incentive as the executive generally
must be employed through the performance
period for the units to vest. Beginning in
2010, performance stock units have been
tied to total shareholder return (TSR) as
compared to an industry peer group. These
performance stock units help to further link
the interests of executives with those of our
stockholders as the vesting of the units

sgepends on the Company’s TSR, and the

ultimate value of any portion of the award

“that vests depends on the value of the

Company's common stock.

The performance stock units granted in
20141 are eligible to vest based on the
Company's TSR relative to the following peer
group over the threeyear period
commencing January 1, 2011: AMR, Delta
Air Lines, Hawaiian Holdings, JetBlue
Alrways, Mesa Alr Group, Republic Airways
Holdings, SkyWest, Southwest Airlines,
United Airlines and US Alrways Group. (The

Committee will adjust the peer group

annually as it deems appropriate if one or
more of the peer airlines ceases tobe a
publicly traded company.) The Committee



EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

chose TSR as the performance measure for
these awards to provide additional incentive
for executives to help create shareholder
vatue. Given the nature of the airline
business, the Committee believes that
measuring TSR on a relative basis against
an industry peer group rather than on an
absolute basis provides a more relevant
reflection of the Company's performance by
mitigating the impact of various macro-
economic factors that tend to affect the
entire industry and that are largely not under
the control of executives. Beginning in
2012, performance stock unit awards will be
based 50 percent on the Company’s TSR
performance relative to its peer group and
50 percent relative to S&P 500 companies.
The Committee believes that also measuring
the Company’s performance relative to the
broad market encourages executives o
manage the Company is such a way as 10
attract a broader range of investors. The
percentage of the performance stock units
that vest may range from 0% to 200% of the
target number of units subject to the award,
depending on the Company’s relative TSR
for the performance period. The Commitiee
did not grant performance stock units in
2009, but grants were made for the three-
year performance periods beginning in
January 2010 and 2011.

s aidn s Aarenred P aied JeR—.
Equity Award Guidelines

The Committee considers and generally
follows equity grant guidelines that are

determined based on the target total direct
compensation levels and pay mix-described
above. Target equity grants, when combined
with the base salary and annual target
incentive opportunity described above, are
designed to achieve total direct
compensation at the 50th percentile of the
peer group data for Named Executive
Officers. The Committee may adjust equity
grants 1o the Named Executive Officers
above or below these target levels based on
the Committee's general assessment of:

the individual’s contribution to the
success of the Company’s financial
performance;

internal pay equity;

the individual’'s performance of job
responsibilities; and

the accounting-impact to the Company
and potential dilution effects of the
grant.

The Committee believes that stock options,
time-based restricted stock units and
performance stock units each provide
incentives that are important to the
Company's executive compensation program
as a whole. Therefore, the Committee
generally allocates approximately the same
amount of grant-date value (based on the
principles used in'the Company's financial
reporting) of each executive’s total equity
incentive award to each of these three types
of awards.

47 |
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For 2011, the guidelines applied to the Named Executive Officers are noted in the table below

33y
200% 34%

100% 34% 33%

The Committee retains discretion to. make
other equity awards at such times and on
such terms as it considers appropriate to
help achieve the goals of the Company’s
executive compensation program.

f%’iii‘ss%”és s Porsonal Bene

An annuﬁi amount equal to 12% ¢f base
salary is paid o each Named Executive
Officer-in Hew of all perguisites except for
travel, life insurance,; health exams,
accidéental death and dismemberment:.
insurance and Alaska Airlines Boardroom
membership:in addition, the Company waH
provide lifetime travel to Mr. Ayer as part.of
his retirement.

rement Benelits /Ded

The Company provides retirement bensfils
to the Named Executlive Officers under the
terms of qualified and nor-qualified defined-
benefit and defined-contribution retirement
plans. The Retirement Plan for Salaried
Employees (the “Salaried Retirement Plan™)
and the Company's 404(k) plans are
tax-qualified retirement plans that Mr. Ayer,
Mr. Tilden and Mr. Johnson participate in on

| 48]

substantially the same terms as other
participating employees. Due to maximum
limitations imposed by the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 and
the Internal Revenue Code on the annual
amount of a pension which may be paid
under a gqualified defined-benefit plan, the
benefits that would otherwise be provided to
these exscutives under the Salaried
Retirement Plan are required 1o be timited.
An.unfunded defined-benefit plan, the 1995
Elected Officers Supplementary Retirement
Plan (the “Supplementary Retirement Plan”),
provides make-up benefits plus
supplemental retirement benefits. In lieu of
the supplementary retirement defined-
benefit plan, Mr. Minicucci and

Mr. Pedersen patticipate in a defined-
contribution plan underthe Company's
Nongualified Deferred Compensation Flan
and the Company’s Supplementary
Retirement Defined Contribution Plan.

The Named Executive Officers are also
permitied to elect to defer up 1o 100% of
their annual Performance-Based Pay
payments under the Company's Nongualified
Deferred Compensation Plan. The Company
believes that providing deferred
compensation opportunities is a cost



effective way to permit executives to receive
the tax benefits associated with delaying the
income tax event onthe compensation
deferred.

Please see the tables under “Pension and
Other Retirement Plans” and “2011
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation” and
the information following the tables for a
description of these plans, pages 57 and
59, respectively.

Copnection with-Léadership Trar

In February 2012, Mr. Tilden was named
CEO effective May 15, 2012, following the
Annual Meeting. Following that date,

Mr. Ayer will continue as the Company's
executive chair. In connection with this
change, the Commitiee approved an annual
base salary of $425,000 for Mr. Tilden.
Beginning in 2012, Mr. Tilden's target
participation rate in the Company’s short-
term annual cash incentive plan will be
100% of base salary, and he will be entitled
to receive long-term incentive equity awards
at a target rate of 300% of base salary. On
February 14, 2012, the Committee granted
Mr. Tilden an award of performarnice stock
units with a grant date fair value equal to
400% of his base salary in connection with
his promotion to CEO. The Committee set
Mr. Ayer’'s 2012 annual salary at $103,000,
commensurate with an anticipated reduction
in his responsibilities during the leadership
transition. Mr. Ayer will continue to be
eligible to receive annual equity awards, but
at a tevel consistent with the value of equity
received by the Company’s other
non-employee Board members.

4 TV N N Y [r o FO% F

The Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee believes that

requiring significant stock ownership by
executives further aligns their interests with
those of long-term stockholders. In 2011,
the Compensation and Leadership
Development Committes revised the
Company's stock ownership policy for
elected officers. Under the revised policy,
within five years of election, each executive
officer must beneficially own a number of
shares of the Company’s common stock
with a fair market value equal to or in
excess of a specified multiple of the
individual’'s base salary as follows:

the CEOQ is required to acquire and
hold: Company: stock with a value of
five times base salary; and

the other Named Executive Officers
are required to acquire and hold
Company stock with a value of two to
three times base salary, depending on
their levels of responsibility.

Executives are reguired to retain 50% of any
shares of common stock acquired in
connection with the vesting of restricted
stook units and performance stock units
until the holding target is.reached. -
Unexercised stock options, unvested
restricted stock units and unvested
performance share units do not count
toward satisfaction of the ownership
requirements. The Committee reviews
compliance-with this-requirement annually;

criigtive Transactivgsin

Our insider trading policy prohibits our
execitive officers, Including the Named
Executive Officers, from engaging in certain
speculative transactions in the Company's
securities, including engaging in short-term
trading, short sales, publicly traded options
(such as puts, calls-or other derivative
securities), margin-accounts, pledges or
hedging transactions.
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The Company has change-in-control

agreements with the Named Executive

Officers that provide for severance benefits

if the @xecut;ve s emp!oymeﬂi terminates

undu Certam circumstances in connection
tha Change in control.

The Company has entered into
change-in-control agreements with these
executives because it believes that the
occurrence, of potential occurrence, of a
change-in-control transaction would create
uncertainty and disruption during a critical
time for the Company. The payment of cash
severance benefits under the agreements is
triggered if two conditions are met: (1) actual
or constructive termination of employment
and (2) a change-in-control transaction. The
Committee believes that Named Executive
Officers should be entitled to receive cash
severance benefits only if both conditions
are met. Once the change-n-control event
oceurs; the Named Executive Officer’s
severance and benefits payable under the
contract begins to diminish with time o long
as the executive's employment continues,
until ultimate expiration of the agreement 36
months later. In'November 2007, the
Compensation and Leadership Development
Committee amended its policy regarding the
provision of payments to executive officers

for excise taxes imposed under

Section 280G such that any new
agreements between the Company and its
executives will not include reimbursement
for Section 280G excise taxes

aot to §§§§§§§ 1§2§m

Section 162( m) of the intemai Revenue
Code generally prohibits the Company from
deducting certain compensation over $1
million paid to its CEO and certain other
executive officers unless such compensation
is based on performance objectives meeting
certain criteria or is otherwise excluded from
the limitation.. The Committee strives . -
whenever possible to structure its
compensation plans such that they are
tax-deductible, and it believes that a
substantial portion of compensation paid
under its current program (including the
annual incentives, performance stock units
and stock option grants described above)
satisfies the requirements under /
Section 162(m). However, the Committee
reserves the right to design programs that
recognize a full range of perfnrmance criteria
important to its success, even where the
compensation paid under such programs
may not be deductible. For 2011, the
Company balieves that no portion of ats tax
deductlon for compensatxon paid to its :
Named Executive Officers will be disallowed
under Section 162(m). :

YW

The Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee has certain duties
and powers as described in its charter. The
Commitiee is currently composed of three
nor-employee directors who, along with the
former Chair of the Committee, are named
at the end of this report, each of whom is
independent as defined by ma NY&E !i&tmg,x
standards.
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The Compensation and. Leadersmp
Development Committee has reviewed and
discussed with management the disclosures
contained in the Compensation Discussion
and Analysis section of this Proxy =~
Statement. Based upon this review and
discussion, the Committee recommended to
our Board of Directors that the
Compensation Discussion and Analysis -



SOMPENSATION

section be included in the Company’s 2011
Annual Report on Form 10-K on file with the
SEC and the Company’s 2011 Proxy
Statement.

Compensation and Leadership Bevelopnient

Committes of the Board of Directors

J. Kenneth Thompson, Chair
Phyilis J. Campbell, former Chair
R. Marc Langland, member
Dennis F. Madsen, member

(1) - SEC filings sometimes “incorporate information by reference.” This means the Company is referring you to

information that has previously been filéd with the SEC and that this information should be considered as part
of the filing you are reading. Unless the Company specifically states otherwise, this report shall not be deemed

to be incorporated by reference and shall not constitute soliciting material or otherwise be considered filed

underthe Securities Act or the Exchange Act.

The Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee members whose
names appear on the Compensation and
Leadership Development Committee Report
above were committee members during all
of 2011 except for Ms. Campbell and

Mr. Langland, each of whom served a partial
year as a result of Mr. Langland joining the
Committee and Ms. Campbell leaving the
Committee in May 2011. No member of the
Compensation and Leadership Development
Committee during 2011 is or has been an
executive officer or employee of the

“Company or has had any relationships

requiring disclosure by the Company under
the SEC’s rules requiring disclosure of
certain relationships and related-party
transactions. None of the Company’s
executive officers served as a director or a
member of a compensation committee (or
other committee serving an equivalent
function) of any other entity, the executive
officers of which served as a director or
member of the Compensation and

_ Leadership Development Committee during

the fiscal year ended December 31, 204.1.

& Proxy



The following table presents information regarding compensation of the CEO, the CF0 and the three
other most highly compensated executive officers for services rendered during 2011. These individuals
are referred to as “Named Executive Officers” in this Proxy Statement. As noted above, Mr. Aver will
retire as CEO of the Com;nany and its subsidiary carriers, effective at the 2012 Annual Meeting, and will
be sucteeded in those positions by Mr. Tilden.

[Glenn S. Johnson(6) 2011 308,846 0 416,840 214,485 306,889 513,008 74207 1834276
Prasidenit; Horizon AlF: 2010 299,009 0 1,450,782 176,880 491,269 354.00% 0 BR880 - 2IER IO
2009 311,537 0

386,051 4%‘45 94%8’ 388,863 417,941 61,656 1,988,546

e
o
308016 888 od8

113,149 871,291
89,003 ' 822185

Brandon S. Pedersen(7) 2011 260,961 0 176544 91,052 220,585
| VP/Finance and CFO 2010219389 0 198,010 48,205 269,578

- Alaska

(1) The amounts reported in Columns (e )-and (f) of the Summaw Compensation Table above reflect the fazr value
of these awards on the grant date as determmec& under the prmcip es used to calculate the vaiue of equ:ty
awards for purposes of the Conmipany’s financial statements (distegarding any estimate of forfeitures related to
senvice-based vesting conditions), For a discussion of the assumptions and methodologies used to value the
awards reported in Column (&) and Column (f), please see the discussion of stock awards and option awards
contained in Note 13 (Stock-Based Compensation Plans) to the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements, included as part-of the Company’s 2044 Annual Report filed on Form 10:K with the SEC and
incorporated herein by reference: For information about the stock awards and option-awards granted i 2011
to the Named Executive Officers, please see the discussion under “Grants of Plan-Based Awards” below.

The-amounts reported-in Column (8) of the table above also include the grant date fair value of performance-
based stock unit awards granted in 2010 and 2014 10 the Named Exscutive Officers based on the probabie
outcome {determined as of the grant date) of the performance-based conditions applicable to the awards,
Performance-based stock unit awards were not granted in 2009, The following table presents the aggragate
grant date fair value of these performance-based awards included in Column (&) for 2010 and 2011 and the
aggregate grant date value of these awards assuming that the highest level of performance conditions will be
achieved.
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(3

| W:mam S Ayer

: Glenn % Johnson 1,264,476 1,450,732

Brandon S. Pedersen sz 97,784

379,&3&1 S 745004 410,710
e

ks oy 0

176,544~

Non-Equity incentive Plan-Compensation is Performance-Based Pay Plan compensation.and Operational
Performance Rewards; further described in the “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” section above.

The amount reported in Column (h) of the Summaty Compensation Table above reflects the year-over-year
change in present value of accumulated benefits determined as of December 31 of each year for the
Retirement Plan for Salaried Employees:and the Officers Supplementary Retirement Plan (defined benefit plan)
as well as eamings on each Named Executive Officer’s ascount-under the Nongualified Deferred-Compensation
Plan. For:Mr. Minicucci and Mr. Pedersen, ompany contributions to the Defined-Contribution Officers
Suppiementary Retitement Plan (DC-OSRP) in lieu-of ’thﬁ deﬁn@d benefit p%an are reported in Coiumn (i) and
detaﬂed m the Lable in Footnote (4) below, :

The following ta%}!e prewnta detailed information t}n the types and amounts of mmgensatien repefted for the
Named Executive Officers in Column (i) of the Summiaty Compensation Table. For Col umn (i), each perguisite
and other personal benefit is included inthe total and identified and, it it exceeds the greater of $25,000 or
10% of the total amount of perquisites and other benefits for that officer, is quantified in the table helow. Al
reimbursements of taxes with respect to perquisites and other benefits are identified and quantified. Tax
reimbursements are provided for travel privileges unigue to the airline industry. Alse included in the total for
Column (i) are: the Comipany’s ingremental cost of providing flight benefits; Alaska Airlines Board Room i
membership; annual physical; and accidental death and dismemberment insurance premiums. By providing
positive-space travel without tax consequences to - Named Executive Officers, we are able to deliver a highly
valued benefit at a low costto the Company. Inaddition, we belisve that this penefit provides the opportunity
for Named Executive Officers to connect with the Company's frontline employees. As noted in the
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis” section above, we pay gach of the Name Executive Officers a
“Perquisite Allowance” equal to 12% of the executive's bage %alary in fieu of providing perquisites other than

those noted above.

Itemization of All Other compensation {Column i

4,534/2.600 12, 49274

2,3467/1.,346 6,206 37,062 74,207 |
i . Bids ohuisEe dpash 3Bges | e s
‘Brandon S, Pedersen 14,700 35,724 698/401 742,780 31, ’SJ’: 141\;52 2,589 113,149

* _“Other” includes the- Company's incremental cost of providing flight beﬁef ﬁ Alaska Alrlines: Board: Room
membership, annual physical, and accidental death and dismemberment insyrance premiums.

The Compensaﬁeh and Leadership Development Committes granted special incentive awards including stock
options and restricted stock units to Mr. Ayer in January 2009,
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reviously he was Executive
, sa d Leadership Development
ainted & special performence stock unit award to Mr. Jobnson upon his election to president of
Horizon Air on June 10, 2010, . , - -
Mr. Pedersen was elected CFO of Alaska Air Group and Alaska Airlines in June 2010, and was not a Named
Executive Officer prior to 2040, As such, only Mr. Pedersen’s 2010 and 2011 compensation information is
included. i , : .

The following table presents information regarding the incentive awards granted to the Named Executive

Officers for 2011. Please see the “Performance-Based Annual Pay” section {on page 42) of the

“Compensation Discussion and Analysis” above for a description of the material terms of the non-equity

incentive plan awards reported in this table and the “Long-Term Equity-Based Pay” section (on page 46)

of the “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” for a description of the material terms of the equity-

based awards reported in this table. Each of the equity-based awards reported in the table below was
ice Incentive Plan (2008 Plan). G

itlam 5. Ayer : i T
Stock Options™ = 2/7/2044: 25,800
R&8Us- ; 2/7/2001 13,400
PSUs 2/1/2041 0 6,700 13,300
PBP Plan ; N/A-108;000:412,000: 824,000 :

"l

Glenn. S, Johnson i ’
+ Stock Options 2/7/2011 214,435

[ + RSUs 2/7/2041 SR Gt R S 800 208,420
ﬁ . PSUs 2/7/2011 : 208,420
|+ PBP Plan N/A : : |

randon 5. Pedersen o

* Stock Options —-2/7/2014 5,520 30,65
RSUs S04 2:880 :
PSUs L0 O 1,440 2,880 .
PEE Plan 2 NZA 43,063 172,250-844,500

i REUs « Restricted Stock Units; PSUs < Performarice Stock Units: PRP Plan = PerformanceBased Pay Plan

The amounts reported in Column (1) reflect the fair value of these awards on the grant date as determined
under the-principles used to caloulate the value of equity awards for purposes of the Company’s financial
statements and may of may not be representative of the value eventually realized by the executive. For a
discussion of the assumptions and methodologies Used to value the awards reported in Column (1), please see
the discussion of stock awards and option awards contained in Note 13 (Stock-Based Compensation Plans) to
the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements, included as part of the Company’s 2011 Annual Report
filed on Form 10-K with the SEC and incorporated herein by reference.
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The following table presents information regarding the outstanding equity awards held by each of the
Named Executive Officers as of December 31, 2011, including the vesting dates for the portions of
these awards that had not vested as of that date.

i SRR
William S Ayer 9/13/2006 6 : 0 19/13/2016
| 1/31/2007 0 1/31/2017
2/8/2008 26,400(2) 2/8/2018
1/29/2009 ‘771 300(4) 1378 1/: 1 ,250(4) 1,811,548
1/25/2000 0 136,676(5) 13.78 1/29; . L2065 2,410,990
2/3/2010 1 7,930(6) 02 s 5) 1,688,023 22,400(9)
/2011 : 7 13,40 503,103 :13.400(9)

Ot
CGlenn S dohnson - 2/8/2008 10080021 A3 745, 2/8/2018 : i
! g 1728972009 29.99204) LRTR /2920097 28,204(4) 1,058,919 : i
2/3/2010 14,700(8) 16.63  2/3/2020  11,200(8) 420,504  11,200(9) 420,504
6/10/2010 44.000(7) 1,651,980
247/ 201% ( 13,000(10) 30,65 - 2/ 1720 8:800( 255,306 - 6,800(9)

“Brandon & Pedersen . - 9/13/2006 ; 89/48/2
i : S A2/1/2006 ; Q 19.99 12”/?016
2/8/2008 78 3,800(2) 13,745 2/8/2018 ;
1/29/2009 7,000 7,000(4) 1878 1/29/2019 - 6,580(4) |
2/3/2010 128 3,840(8) 16.63 1 2/3/2020 - -2,940(6) 110,382 2,940(9) 130,
6/10/2010 4,090(8) 153,559
2/7/2011 2,880(10) 108,130  2,880(9) 108,180

Q B.520(10) 3085 2/7/2021

(1) The dollar amounts shown in Celumn (h) and Cotumn () are determined by mukiplying the ﬂumbef of shares or
units reported in Column (g) and Column (1), respectively, by $37.5458 (the closing price of our common stock
on the last trading day-of fiscal 2011, adjusted for the two-forone stock split):

(2y The unvested options under the 2/8/08 grant will become vested as follows: Mr, Ayer = 26,400 on 2/8/12;
Mr. Tilden — 13,700 on 2/8/12; Mr. Johnson —10,950 on 2/8/12; Mr. Minicucci 2,870 on 2/8/12; and
Mr. Pedersen ==3,6000n 2/8/12.

(3) The unvested options under the 6/12/08 grant will become fully vested.on.6/12/12,

| 55 |

FOXY

& Pr



M. Tilden =24 (}63 ond/29/4 2 and 24,070 on.4/29/4.3; My, Johnson » 14 996.0n 1,!29/ 12-and: 14 91%
an 1/?9;’13 Mr. Minicueci =~ 11,900 on-1/29/12 and 11,900 on.1/29/13: and Mrl Peder%ﬁ —3;500.0n
/29742 and 2,500 on 1/29/13.

{5): The awards grantez:i e} Mr Ayer on1/29/09 will fully vest on the third anni versmy of the giaﬂt iia‘cg or

vest bawd on th& g@ais setfora thr@ e p rfa \‘ance périod enrjmg 12/34/42; and: the performance steck
units granted on 2/7/14 will vest based on the goals setfor a threewear performance period ending
12/34/43.

(10) The RSUs-awarded on 2/7/11 will became fully vested on'2/7/44. The unvested options under the 2/7/11
grant will become vestad as foll ews Mo Aver = 6,450 on 2/7/12, 645000 2/7/13, 6,450 on 2/7/44 and
6,450 on 2/7/45; Mr. Tilden 5,100 on 2/7/12, 5,400 002/ 7/13, 5,400 on 2/7/14 and 5,100 on
2/7/15; Mr. Johnson — 3 2%(13 on 2 7/12, 3,060 0n 2/7/18, 3,250 0n 2/7/14 and 3.2 y
Mr: Minjicuscl 3,900 on 2/ z/:L 3,@00 an 42/”{,/33, 3 900 on 2/7/14 and 3,900
Wi Pedersen —

QW icers durmg 20.1_3, and on the ve&stm
Nam&d Exeoutwe fo;cers

316,438
57,810

%’and— S: Pedersen : ' 'ii 886’ ’

{1) -The dollar amounts shown in Column {¢) above for option awards are determined by maitip ying (i) the number
of shares of our common stock to which the exercise of the om o related, by (i) the difference between the
pershare closing price of our common stock on the Yate of exercise and the: exercise price of the options. The
dollar amounts shown in Column () above for stock awards are determined by multiplying the number of
shares or units, as applicable, that vested by the pershare closing price of our common stock on the vesting
date.
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The Company maintains two primary defined \ Officers, other than Mr. Minicucei and
benefit pension plans. covering Named Executive Mr. Pedersen, also participate in the Alaska Air

Officers, other than Mr. Minicucci and
Mr. Pedersen. The Alaska Air Group, Inc.

Group, Inc. 1995 Elected Officers Supplementary
Retirement Plan (the “Sap;ﬁﬁmentary Retirement

Retirement Plan for Salaried Employees (the Plan™).

“Salaried Retirement Plan”) is the qualified
defined-benefit employee retirement plan, and
the Named Executive Officers, other than

The following lable presents informati'on
regarding the presentvalue of accumulated

Mr. Minicucci and Mr. Pedersen, participate in benefits that may become payable to the Named
this plan on-the same generalterms as other Executive Officers under the qualified.-and

| Brandon 5. Pedersen . Salad d Reti rekmant Pian N/A N/A N/A

eligible employees. The Named Executive nonqualified defined-benefit pension plans,

Salaried Ret;rament Plcm
‘ Retir

el Retsrémem Plan 3\6.?42
Supplementary Retirement Plan ‘8.431 1,545,714

N/A NA

Supplemental Retirement Plan N/A

(1)" The years of credited service and presentvatue of accumulated benefits shown in the table above are
presented-as-of December 31, 2011 assuming that each Named Executive Officer retires at normal retirement
age and that benefits are paid out in accordance with the tefms of each plan described below. For a
description of the material assumptions used to calculate the present value of accumulated benefits shown
above, please see Note 6 (Employee Benefits Plans) to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements,
included as part of the Company's 2011 Annua! Report filed on: Form LOHK with the SEC and incorporated
herein by reference.

In lieu of participation in the defined-benefit plans, Mr. Minicucci and Mr. Pedersen receive a contribution to
the Company’s defined-contribution plans. Specifically, in tieu of participation in the qualified defined-benefit
pension plan, Mr.-Minicucci and Mr.'Pedersen each recelve a Company match coritribution to the Alaskasaver
401K} Plan up to 6% of their eligible wagss. in tiell of the Supplementary Retirement defined-benefit plar;

Mr. Minicucel and Mr, Pedersen participate in the Supplementary Retirement defined-contribution pian which i
further described below. -



EXAECUTIVE COMPENSATION
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The Salaried Retirement Pian is.a
tax-gualified, deﬁned benefit retirement plan
for salaried Alaska Airlines employees hired
prior to April 1, 2003. Each of the Named
Executive Officers that participates in the .
Plan is fully vested in his accrued benefits
under the Salaried Retirement Plar. Benefits
payable under the Salaried Retirement Plan
are generally based on years of credited
service with the Company and its affiliates
and final average base salary for the five
highest complete and x:onsecutwe calendar
ye” rs of an employee’s last t
Qa‘ieendar years of serv
retirement benefit at age 6 ;
retirement age under the Salaried
Retirement Plan) is equal to 2% of the
employee's final average base salary limes
years of credited sepvice (limited 1o 40
vears)-Annual benefits are computed.on a
straight life annuity basis beginning at
normal retirement age Benefits under the
Salaried Retirement Plan are not sybject to
offset for Social Security benefits.

The tax law limits the compensation on
which annual retirement benefits are based.

For 2044, this limit was $245,000. The tax
law also limits the annual benefits that may

be paid from a tax-qualified retirement plan.
For 20414, this limit on annual benefits was
$195,000..

Supplementary Retirement Plans

inaddition to the benefits described above,
the Named Executive Officers, other than
Mr. Minicucci and Mr. Pedersen, are eligible
10 receive retirement benefits under the
Supplementary Retirement defined-benefit
ptan. This plan is a non-gualified, unfunded,
defined-benefit plan. Normal retirement
benefits are payable once the officer
reaches age 60. Benefits are calculated as
a monthly amount on a straight life annuity
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g@nwal the monthly benefit |
determined as a pemenwg& (50% to 75% of
a participant’s final average monthly base
salary) with the percentage determmed
based on both the officer’s ength of service

with the Company and length of service as
an elected officer. ' S e

This benefit amount is subject to offset by
the amount of the officer’'s Social Security
benefits and the amount of benefits paid
under the Salaried Retirement defined-

. benefit plan to the extent such benefits were
; ;:accrued afteer the} officer became a

e Supplementary Retireme

. ""defmed beneﬂt p’Iam (There is no offset for

any Salaried Retirement Plan benefits
acerued for service before the officer
became a participant in the Supplementary
Retirement defined-benefit plan.)

Participants in the Suppiementary
Retirement defined-benefit plan become fully
vested in their benefits under the plan upon
attaining age 50 and completing 10 years of
service as an‘elected officer. Plan-benefits
wilt also become fully vested upon a change
of .control of the Company or upon’
termination of the participant’s employment

due to death or disability.

In lieu of the Supplementary Retirement
defined-benefit plan, Mr. Minicucci and
Mr. Pedersen participate in the Company’s
Supplementary Retirement Defined-
Contribution plan. Under this plan, the
Company contributes 10% of the officer’s
gligible wages, as defined-in plan
documents, minus the maximum legal
Company contribution that the Company
made, or could have made, under the
Company’s qualified defined-contribution
plan.

On June 20, 20114, the Board of Directors
amended the Salaried Retirement Plan and



EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

the Supplementary Retirement Plan to
provide that, effective January 1, 2014, both
plans will be frozen so that participants in
the plans will not accrue any benefits with
respect to sewvices performed or
compensation earned on or after that date.
The Board of Directors also amended the
Supplementary Retirement Defined-

Under the Deferred Compensation. Plan; the
Named Executive Officers and other key
employees may elect to receive a portion of
some or all of their Performance-Based Pay.
awards on a deferred basis. There were no
deferrals under the plan by any of the
Named Executive Officers in 2011. The
crediting interest rate for amounts deferred
in prior years.is based on the mean between

the high and the low rates during the first 11

months of the preceding year of yields of
Ba2-rated industrial bonds as détermined by
the plan administrator (rounded to the
nearest one-guarter of one percent).
Participants under the plan have the
opportunity to elect among the investment
funds offered under our 404(k) plan for
purposes of determining the return on their
plan accounts. Alternatively, participants
may allocate some or all of their plan

Glenn 5. Jahnis;gq

0

Brandon S. Pedersen

Contribution Plan so that, effective

~ January 1, 2014, officers who previously

participated in the Supplementary
Retirement Plan, including Mr. Ayer,

Mr. Tilden and Mr, Johnson, and are then
employed by the Company, will be eligible to
participate in that plan.

account to an'interest-bearing option with'a
rate equal to the yield on a Moody's index of
Ba2-rated industrial bonds as of November
of the preceding year, rounded to the
nearest one-quarter of one percent. Subject
to applicable tax laws, amounts deferred
under the plan are generally distributed on
termination. of the participant's employment,
although participants may elect an eatlier
distribution date and/or may elect payment
in a lump sum or instaliments.

The following table presents information
regarding the contributions to and earnings
on the Named Executive Officers’ balances
under the Compary's nongualified:deferred
compensation plans during 2011, and also
shows the total deferred amounts for the
Named Executive Officers as of

December 31, 2011.

35,724 ”38,& 0 64,093

(1) Only the portion of earnings on deferred compensation that is considered to be at-above-market rates under
SEC rules is required to be included as compensation for each Named Executive Officer in Column {(h) of the
Summary Compensation Table. However, total earnings for sach Named Executive Officer listed in Column
(d) above were included as earnings in column (h) of the Summary Compensation Table

s




The Company has entered into .
change-in-control agreements with each of
the Named Executive Officers. Under these
agreements, if a change of control ocours, a
three-year “employment period” would go
into effect. During the employment petiod,
the executive would be entitled to:
receive the highest monthly salary the
executive received at any time during the
12-month period ;arecedmg me change—a i
control; : s .

y reoesve an annual incentive pz:aym@nt
“equal to the higher of the ex&eutwe s

target Performance-Based Pay Plan
incentive or the average of the
executive’s annual incentive payments for
the three years preceding the year in
which the change in control occurs;
continue-to accrue age and service credit
under our gualified and non-qualified
defined benefit relirement plans; and

participate in fringe benefit programs that
are at least as favorable as thoseé in
which the executive was participatingr :
prior to the change m cantro!

If the executive's em;vi()ym@nt 13 termmated :
by the Company without cause or by the
executive for “good reason” during the
empioyment pseru}d (an in certain
circumstances, if such a termination occurs
prior to and in connection wi th a change in
control), the executive wr}uid be entitled to
receive a lump-sum payment equal to the
value of the payments and benefits
identified above that the executive would
have received had he continued to be
employed for the entire employment period,
(The terms “cause?” “good reason” and ,
“change in control” are each. defmed in the
change in control agreements. )!n the event

60|

that the executive's benefits under the
agreement are subject to the excise tax
imposed under Section 280G of the Internal
Revenue Code, the Company will make a tax
payment to the executive so that the net
amount of such payment (after taxes} the
executive receives is suﬁzexent ta pay i:he

‘excise tax due.

In November 2007, the Compensation and
Leadership Development Committee
amended its policy regarding the provision of
payments to executive officers for excise
taxes imposed under Section 280G such
that any new agreements between the
Company and its executives will not include
reimbursement for Section 2806 excise
taxes. In the event that benefits under an
agreement that was in place prior to the
policy change exceeds the threshoid amount
that would trigger an excise tax under
Section 280G of the ntérnal Revenue Code
by less than 10%, the benefits will be
reduced to the extent necessary to avoid
triggering the excise tax. If the benefits
exceed the Section 280G threshold amount
by more than 10%, the benefits will be paid
in full, and the Company will make a tax
payment to the executive so that the net”

.7 amount of such payment (after taxes) the
_executive receives is sufﬁment t{) pay the

excise tax due.

In addition, Outs‘?aﬁdmg and u;west&d slock
options, restricted stock units and th@ target
number of performance stock units would
become vested under the terms of our
equity plans. Under the 2008 Performance
Incentive Plan, awards will not vest unless a
termination of employment without cause or
for good reason also occurs or an acquirer

~ does not assume outstanding awards.
- Finally, the executive's unvested ben@ﬁm



under the Supplementary Retirement Plan

would vest on a change in control whether or

not the exef;utwe s employment was
terminated. The outstanding equity awards
held by the executives as of December 31,
2011 are described above under
“Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year
End” and each executive’s accrued benefits
under our retirement plans are described
above under “2011 Pension Benefits.”

In the event the executive’s employment
terminates by reason of death, disability or
retirement, (i) restricted stock units would
become vested under the terms of our
equity plans, and a prorated portion of the
performance stock units would vest at the
coniclusion of the performance period based
on actual performance and the portion of the
performance period in which the executive
was employed; and (i) options would be fully
vested upon death or disability, vested to
the extent they would have vested in the
next three years upon retirement, and the
options can be exercised for three years
following term of employment. Furthermore,
Mr. Ayer would be entitled to lifetime air
travel on Alaska Airlines and Horizon Air

having an approximate incremental cost to
the Company of $13,891.

In the tables below, we have estimated the
potential cost to-us of the payments and
henefits each of our Named Executive Officers
would have receved if the executive’s -
employment had terminated due to
retirement, death or disability, or change in
control on December 31, 2011, The value of
accelerated vesting would be the amount
described in the column entitled Equity
Acceleration below, assuming the

“performance share units pay at target. As

described above, except for the equity
acceleration value, the amount an executive
would be entitled to receive would be reduced
pro-ratafor any period the executive actually
worked during the employment period.

The calculations are estimates for proxy
disclosure purposes only. Payments on an
actual change in control or termination may
differ based on factors such as transaction
price, timing of employment termination and
payments, methodology for valuing stock
options, changes in compensation, and

~other factors.

13 582,629
. 5011843
0 4,549,534
0 1,089,642 0

1,089,'642

Eyrad ey D, Til
5 &Ierm S Johnson

=) = 1] - f=8

Hrandon S Pederson

640 9‘293

13,891 13,627,102 13
4,571,943
2,916,929
1,099,157

0 1,000,157 0
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

G ange in Control

dor 5. Pedersen e 162’826 14,700 33 ,?(38 038 1 141 18? 4,770,183

(1) M Ayer is entitled to xfenme alr travel benefits under all termination-scenarios.In this col umn we show the
present value of thss benefit, caleuiated using a discount rate and mortality table that are the same as those
used for our pension plan accounting under ABC 7185:20 as. of December 34, 2011, described above in the
section titled *201.1 Pension Benefits.” Other assumptions include that the lifetime dverage annual usage is
equal to actual average annual Usage amounts. in 2009 through 2014, and that the annual value of the benefit
is equal to the annual incremental cost to the Qmpany, which will be the same as the average of the
incremental cost incurred to provide air b o the exeoutiv@ m thosa year»; as disclosed under AH {Dth@r :
Compensation in the Summary Compensation Table, i

”Repreaént& the “in-the-money” value of unvested stock options and the face value of unvested restricted stock
and performance stovk unit awards that would vest upon termination of employment in the circumstances
described above based on @ stock price of $75.40 (the presplit c!osaing price of our stock on the last trading
day of fiscal 2{)1l} The value of the extended term of the options. is.not reflected in the table because we
have assumed that the executive’s outstanding stock options would be assumed by the acqumng company
pumuant to-a change in control

Represems the amourt obtained by multiplving three by the sum of the éxecutive’s *nghest fate of base salary
during the preceding 12 months and the mgher of the executive's target | mentwa or hxs average mcenth* for
the three preceding years.

Represents the sam of {a) except in the case of Mr. Minicuceland Mr. Pedersen, the actuarial equwaiem ofan
additional-three years of age and sepvice credit under our gualified and nonsqualified retirement plan using the
execulive's highest rate of salary during the preceding 12-months prior to a change in control, (b)-except in the
case of Mr. Minicucci and Mr. Pedersen, the present value of the accried but unvested paman of the
norqualified retirement benefits that would vest upon a change of control, (¢) the matching contribution the
executive would have received-under our gqualified defined contribution plan had the executive continued o
contribute the maximum ailowabie amount-during the employment period, and (d) inthe case of Mr, Mmscucca
and Mr. Pedersen, the contri the j Id have received under our non valified defined

lon plan had the tinued to

5) Represents the estimated cos :
and (b) three years of continued participation n %ife, d;sab ac,mdenta death insurance and other fringe
benefit programs:
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OWNERSHIP

This table shows how much Company common stock is owned as of March 23, 2012, by (a) each
director and nominee, (b) each of the Company’s executive officers named in the Summary

Com peﬁsatmn Table, and (c) all executive officers as a group. Except as Othefwzse indicated and
subject to applicable community property laws, the persons named in the table below have sole voting
and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock beneficially owned.

William S. Ayer 143,191 ' 469,187

*Less than 1%

(1)

(2)

Consists of the aggregate total of shares of common stock held by the reporting person either directly or
indirectly, including 401(k) plan holdings.

Total beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and represents the sum of
the columns “Number of Shares of Comman: Stock Owned” and “Options Exercisable within 60 Days.”
Beneficial ownership does not include shares of common stock payable upon the vesting of restricted stock
units, none of which wilk-vest within 60 days, as follows: Mr, Aver, 59,600; Mr. Tilden, 39,200; Mr.-Jjohnson,
23,6001 Mr. Minicucei, 25,600 and Mr. Pedersen, 13,610, This table also excludes shares of commorn stock
payable upon vesting of performance stock units, none of which will vest within the next 60 days of the record
date, and which are described in the “2011 Grants of Plan Based Awards” table on page 54.

Total shares beneficially owned reported for non-employee directors also include common shares to be issued
upon the director’s resignation from the board. The aggregate number of deferred stock units granted to date:
Ms. Bedient, 9,304; Ms. Blakey, 1,902; Ms. Campbell, 9,304; Mr. Knight, 9,304; Mr. Langland, 9,304,

Mr. Madsen, 9,304; Mr. Mallott, 9,304; and Mr. Thompson, 9,304.

We determined applicable percentage ownership based on 71,398,578 shares of our common stock
outstanding as of March 23, 2012.
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The table below identifies those persons knowh by us to have benefi a!ownership of more than 5% of the
Company's oulstanding common stock; as of March 23,2012,

BlackRock, Ine. {2y 16,695,310 9.4%
40 East 52 Street
New York, New York 10022

|PAR Capital Management Inc. (5) 4,006,228
LOF ernational Place, Suite QCM:L e
Mesathucite 61

Renaissance Technologies Holding Corporation (7) 3,822,400 54%
LBO0 Third Avenue e
sweYork, New York 10022

We determme apphcab 5 pem@amge ownershio based onmore than 71,398,578 shar‘es of eur a&mmt}n ﬁoak
outstanding ag of March 23, 2012,

Beneficial Ownefshup information is based on & Schedule 43G/A filed by BlackRock, Inc. (“BlackRoc ”) {ara
January 20, 2012, BlackRock reported in the Schedule 13G that It had sole voting power and sole dispositive
power overall 6,695, 31{) sﬁar%

Beneficial éwnemh:p mfwmatzon is based on a Schedule 13G/A filed by PRIVIECAP Managemsmﬁaﬁ‘{p'aﬂy
(*PRIMECAP? ) on February: 9, 20102, PRIMECAP reperted in the Schedule 13G/A that it had sole voting power
over 437,600 shares and sole d‘apom‘iwe power over all ﬁ"%(ﬁm 700 5! nares, :

chedule 13(%,7», filed 'on Ji / 26, 2012 by V. ng;uard @h@smr Funds — Vmguard an@wp Fu
(“Vanguard”), reported sole votmg power over 4,800,000 of the shares representi ng 6.75% of our outsta dmgg
common stock. The Vanguard Primecap Fund shares are included in the shares reported in the table as
beneficially owned by PRIMECAP M amg&mant Lompany

A Schedule 136 filed jointly by PAR Mvestmem Partnars, L.P., PAR Group L.P. and PAR Management, Inc. on
February 14, 2012 reported sole voting power-and sole dispositive power oves" an 4,006,228 shares.

A Schedule 136G filed on February 8, 2042 by the Vanguard Group, Inc. reported sole voting power aver
109, %6(3 shares and sciﬁs dz&pz)s* e power over 3,810,368 shares.,

A %c%xedu le-13G filed on February 13, 20412 by Renaissance Technologies Hol dsngs Cefpcraiacﬁ { RTriC”}
reported sole voling power over 3,637,090 shares and sole dispositive power over 3,751,188 shares -
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Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires
the Company’s directors and certain of its
officers to send reports of their ownership of
Company common stock and changes in
such ownership to the SEC and the NYSE.
The Company assists its directors and
officers by preparing forms for filing. SEC
regulations also require the Company to
identify in this Proxy Statement any person

subject to this requirement who failed to file
a report on a timely basis, Based on a
review of copies of reports furnished 1o the
Company and written representations that
no other reports were required, the Company
believes that everyone subject to

Section 16(a) filed the required reporis on a oy
timely basis during 2011.

e
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~ UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, DC 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One}

X] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 [NO FEE REQUIRED]

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011
OR
[ ] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 [NO FEE REQUIRED]
For the transition period from to
Commission File Number 1-8957

¥

A Delaware Corporation
911292054 19300 International Boulevard, Seattle, Washington 98188
{1.R.S. Employer Identification No.) Telephone: (206) 392-5040

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
Title of Exch Class Mame of Each Exchange on Which Registered

Common Stock, $1.00 Par Value New York Stock Exchange
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

indicate by check mark if the ?@gagiram is a well-known seasoned issuer; as defined.in Rule 405 of
the Securities Act. Yes [X] No []

r:c:i cate by check mark if thfg registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or
Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes || No [X]

Indicate by check mark whethe? the »_fégiest{aﬁt (1) has filed ail reports required to be filed by
Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 1.2 months (or for
stich shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reporis), and (2) has been subject 1o

stich filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes [X] No []

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its
corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required 10 be submitted and posted pursuant to
Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such
shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes [X] No []

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinguent filers pursuant to ltem 405 of Regulation S-K is
not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy
of information statements incorporated by reference in Parl 1L of this Form 10-K or any amendment to
this Form 10-K. [] : i

indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large *"acce ez’aied filer, an-accelerated filer, a
non-accelerated filer or a smaller reporting company See defin “large accelerated filer”,
“accelerated filer” and “smaller repofting company” in Rule mb ? of theﬁ Exchange Act (Check one}:

Large accelerated filer [X] Accelerated filer ] Non-accelerated filer [] Smaller reporting company [
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the

Exchange Act.): Yes [ ] No [X

As of January 31, 2012, shares of common stock outstandingtotaled 35,458,202, The aggregate
market value of the shares of common stock of Alaska Air Group, In¢. held by nonaffiliates on
June 30, 2011, was approximately $2.5 billion (based on the closing price of $68.46 per share on the
New York Stock Exchange on that date).
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As used in this Form 10-K, the terms “Air Group,” the “Company,” “our,” “we” and “us,” refer to

Alaska Air Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries, unless the context indicates otherwise. Alaska Airlines,

Inc. and Horizon Alr Industries, Inc. are referred to as “Alaska” and “Horizon,” respectively, and
together as our “airlines.”
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD—LOOKING STATEMENTS

In aaddttaon to historical lnfc:rmmlon, this Form
10-K contains forward-looking statements within
the meaning of Section- 27A of the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended, Section 21E of the
Securilies Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
and the Private Securities Litigation Reforin Act
61 1995, Forward-looking statements are those
that predict or deseribe future svents or trends
and that do not relate solely to historical
matters. You can generally identify forward-
looking statements as statements:containing the
words “believe,” “expect,” “will,” "anticipate,”
“intend,” “estimate,” "project,” “assume” or
other similar expressions, although not all
forward-ooking statements contain these
identifying words. Forwarddooking statements
involve risks and uncertainties that could cause
actual results to differ materially from hlstor!cai
experience or the Company’s présent
éxpectations.

You should not place undue reliance on our
forward-looking statements because the matters

| 4]

they ﬂeacnbé are subgeet to known and unknown

risks, uncertainties and other unpredictable
factors, many of which are beyond our-control.

Our forward-looking statements are-based on the
information curtently available to us and speak
only as of the date on which this report was filed
with the SEC. We expressly disclaim-any
obligation to issue any updates or revisions to
our forward-locking statements, even if
subsequent events cause our expectations 1o
change regarding the matters discussed in those
statements: Over time, our actual results,
performance or achievements will likely differ
from-the anticipated results, performance or

‘achievements that are expressed or implied by

our forward-looking statements, and such
differences might be significant and materially
adverse to our shareholders. For a:-discussion of
these and other risk factors in this Form 10-K,
see “ltem 1A Risk Factors.” Please consider our
forward-looking statements in light of those risks
as you read this report,



PART |

Alaska Air Group, Inc, (Air Group, the Company,
our, we or us) is a Delaware corporation
incorporated in 1985 and -has:two principal
subsidiaries: Alaska-Airlines, Inc. (Alaska) and
Horizon Air Industries, Inc, {Horizen), which
orovide scheduled air transportation for
passengers and cargo throughout the United
States, Canada and Mexico. During 20141, we
provided air service to more than 24 million
passengers and flew to more than 100
destinations.

The domestic airline industry is fiercely
competitive. To set ourselves apart we have
focused on outstanding operational performance
and customer service as evidenced by being
ranked “Highest in Customer Satisfaction among
Traditional Network Carriers” by 1.D. Power and
Associates for four consecutive years. We
believe we differentiate ourselves in a number of
ways.

First, we offer an award-winning frequent fiver
program, the Alaska Alrlines Mileage Plan™,
Members can earn and redeem miles on Alaska,
Horizon, and a network of 15 airline partners
around the globe, including Delta Air Lines and
American Airlines in the U.S. Our-Mileage Plan
has earned recognition as the “Frequent Flyer
Program of the Year” five times in the Freddie
Awards. In addition, our Mileage Plan Visa card
has been named “Best Loyalty Credit Card in the
Americas” for two years running.

Second, we are recognized as having industry-
leading ontime performance and other key
operational metrics. We are the only alrline in the
country with a Baggage Service Guarantee and
recently launched new mobile applications for
Android and iPhone smart phones that provide
customers with new functionality aimed at
making their travel experience more convenient
and hassle-free. Improving the travel experience,
particularly in the airport environment, is an area
we will continue to focus on in 2012,

Third,we aim.to provide a high guality onboard
experience-to our passengers. For example, we
equipped our-fleet of 737 alrcraft with onboard
Wi-Fi capability. With 98 percent of the fleat
equipped, Alaska is an industyy leader in this
area. The Company also continues to focus on
serving high-quality food and beverage products
on board,. using local products from the Pacific
Northwest and Hawail. Our Northern Bites
meals-for-purchase program had-record sales-in
20171, and on February 1, 2012 we introduced
Starbucks coffee on on Alaska Flights. Starbucks
has been featured on Horizon flights for many
years. Additionally, Alaska recently took delivery
of its first new 737 featuring the Boeing
Dreamliner-inspired-Sky Interior. Al future
deliveries will include this new interior.

Fowrth, we want 1o be khown forour
environmental leadership. Inthe fall of 2041, our
airlines were the first U.S. carriersto operate
rultiple scheduled biofuel flights. We flew.over
75 commercial flights between Seattle—
Washington D.C. and Seattle—Portland using a
20 percent aviation biofuel blend, refined from
used cooking oil. These routes were selected to
demonstrate the use of biofuel on a
transcontinental route on a Boeing 737 and a
short-haul operation using the Bombardier Q400.
Our inflight recycling programs divert an
estimated 800 tons of mixed recyclables from
local landfills each year. In 2011, Horizon flight
attendants collected and diverted 90 percent of
all recyclable materials, with Alaska flight crews
setting a goal to divert 70 percent of all
recyclable materials in 2012, Further, we are
spearheading a “Greener Skies” initiative to
implemeant GPS technology which will allow
airlings to use more efficient and
environmentally-friendly flight paths, resulting in
improved flight procedures and reduced
emissions.

And finally, we are striving to establish more
direct relationships with our customers by
engaging them whenever possible at

(&3]
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alaskaair.com. Our completely re-designed
website smmduced in 9011 is now am()% the

ah a’nge of tmve product «

the:site through ennanced online search effoits,

emall-marketing, an expanded social media

presence and other digital marketing efforts. As

a %’8“%\3§t alaskaair.com’s share of total bGQK ings
5 NowW over 50 f}efcent

Although Alaska and Horizon both operate as
aitlines their-business plans, competition; and
sconomic tisks differ substantially. Alaska
Airlines is an Alaska corporation that was
organized in 1932 and incorporated in 1937.
Horizon Air-Industries is a Washington
corporation that first began service and was
incorporated in 1981. Horizon was acquired by
Air Group:in 1986, Alaska operates a fleet of
passengerjets (“mainling operations”) and
contracts-with Horizon, SkyWest Alrlines, Inc.
(SkyWest) and Peninsula Airways, Inc. (PenAir)
for regional capacity under which Alaska veceives

customers. Our focus is to drive more visitors to

all passenger revenue from those flights. Horizon

\op‘eratos a fleet of turboprop aircraft and sells all

apacity to Alaska pursuant to a capaci
Ut  arrangement (the Horizon CPA). The
Hori zon CPA reflects what the Company believes
are cutrent market rates received by other
regional carriers for siriilar flving. Amounts paid
by Alaska to Horizon are available to pay for
various Horizon operating expenses such as crew
expenses, maintenance, and aircraft ownership
costs, ' S &

Effective January 1, 2011, Horizon's business
modelchanged such that 100% of its capacity is
sold to Alaska under the Horizon CPA, As is
typical for similar arrangements, certain costs
such as landing fees, selling and distribution
costs, and fuel costs directly related to regional
flights operated by Horizon are now recorded by
Alaska. Because of this change, Horizon's
revenues and expenses and Alaska's Regional
reventies and expenses have changed
sighificantly on a year-overvear basis.

MAINLINE

We offer extensive north/south service within the
westemn U,S., Canada and M@XICQ and paaseng,er
and dedi cated cargo services to fand within the
state of Alaska. We also provide ipm«h«au! east/
west service to Hawaii and thirteen cities in the
mid-continental and eastern U.S., primarily. from
Seattle, where we have our largest concentration
of departures; although we do offer long-haul
departures from other cities as well,

in 2011, we carried nearly 18 million revenue
passengers in our mainiing’ opetations; and we
carry more passengers between Alaska and the
U.5. mainland than any other airline. Based on
the number of passengers catried in 2041,
Alaska’s leading airports are Seattle, Los
Angeles, Anchorage and Portland. Based on.

20141 revenues, the leadi ng mf:)mtop mum& are. .

Seattle-Anchorage, Seattle-Los Angeles, and

| &

Seattle-Las Vegas. At December 31, 2011,
Alaska's:operating fleet consisted of 117 Boeing
T37+jet aircraft, compared to 114 aircraft as of
December B:L 2010;

The percentage of mainline passenger traffic by
market is presented below:

West Coast o ov 33% 36%

ANithin Alaska and
between Alaska
and the U.S,
maintand ...

Transcon/midcon .

19%  21%
24%  23%

Hawail . .. ... ... 14% - 9%
Mexico ... ... 8% 9%
Canada~ ... 0000 2% 2%
~ Total ..., | 100%  100%
Average Stage
Length 1,085 1,034



REGIONAL

In 2011, our regional operations carried nearly
7 million revenue passengers, primarily in the
states of Washington, Oregon, Idaho and
Cailifornia. Horizon is the largest regional airline
in the Pacific Northwest and represented 87%,
98%, and 98%, of Air Group’s regional revenue
passengers during 2011, 2010, and 2009,
respectively.

Based-on 2011 passenger enplanements:on
regional aircraft, the leading airports are Seattle,
Portland, Spokane,-and Boise. Based on
revenues in 2011, the leading nonstop routes
are Portland-Seattle, Spokane-Seattle, and
Seattle-Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada. At
December 31, 2011, Horizon's operating fleet
consisted of 48 Bombardier Q400 turboprop
aircraft. Horizon flights are listed under Alaska’s
designator code in airline reservation systems,
and in most other customer-facing locations.

The percentage of regional passenger traffic by
market is presented below:

West Coast ... ..
Pacific Northwest .

Canada ....5. .. 8% 7%
Within Alaska .../ 2% 2%
Mexico i, o0 .. o0 xwi% W}_%
Total .............. 100% 1 QQ% }Qg%‘
Average Stage
CLengthooo..u 333 327

AlR GROUP CAPACITY

We attempt to deploy aircraft into the network in
a way that best optimizes our revenues and
profitability, reduces-our seasonality, and takes
advantage of demand in areas where other
carriers have either exited or don’t have the
ability to serve.

The percentage of our capacity by market is as
follows:

West . Coast .. oo A% 45%
Alaska ova .. SRR 19% 20%

Transcon/mideon 19% 7%

Hawali ... oas 11% 7%

Mexico ... v 8% 8%
‘ Canada ......... 2% Mﬁ%
CTotalo oL

100% 100%

INDUSTRY CONDITIONS,
COMPETITION, AND ALLIANCES

GENERAL

The airline industry is highly competitive and has
historically been characterized by low profit
marging subject to various uncertainties. This
includes general economic conditions, volatile
fuel prices, Industry instability, intense
competition, a largely unionized work force, the
need to finance large capital expenditures-and
the related availabllity of capital, government
regulation, and potential aircraft incidents.
Airlines have high fixed costs, primarily for
wages, aircraft fuel, aircraft ownership, and
facilities rents. Because expenses of a flight do
not vary significantly with'the number of
passengers carried, a relatively small change in
the number of passengers orin pricing has a
disproportionate effect on an airline’s operating
and financial results. In other words, a minor
shortfall-in expected revenue levels could cause
a disproportionately negative impact on our
operating and financial results. Passenger
demand and ticket prices are, to alarge
measure, influenced by the general state of the
economy, curfent giobhal economic and political
evenis and total avaitable airline seat capacity.
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YEAR IN REVIEW-—2011 "

2014 was characterized by wmmued mdu‘atry
capaotty discipline with an increas
traffic. This allowed for higher loa
vields, leading others in the industry to report
higher revenue and in some cases, stronger
adjusted earings compared to 2010, Jet fuel
prices increased s;gmﬁcam in 2044, and that
continues to be an area of concern in 2012,

During 2011, our key initiative was 1o optimize
revenue. We continued to redeploy capamty to
betmr match demand résultmg in record
pa%engw Ioad factors. We also worked to iowm
non-fuel unit costs to better compeie with
carrers that have lower mst structures. Along
with our continued focus on customer setvice
and our strong operational ,performa,nce we
reported record adjusted financial results that
again were among the best in the industry.

Our business and financial results are highly
affected by the price and, potentially, the
availability of jet fuel. Fuel prices have been
extremely volatile over the past few years and
are impacted. by changes in both the price of
crude oil as well as the West Coast refining
margin, which represent the price of refining
crude oil-into jetfuel and can vary by regionin
the U.5,

The price of crude oil spiked in. 2008 with & high
of nearly $150 per barrel in July 2008 anc! i
dropped significantly to an average of $62 per
barrel in 2009, We saw upward pressure on fuel
prices again with an average crude oil price of .
just over $80 per barrel in 2010 and $95 per
barrel in 2011, For us, a $1 per barrel increase
in the price of oil equates to approximately $9

miltion of additional fuel cost annually. Said
another way, a one-cent change in our fuel price
pergation w;i smaac* our expected annual fuel
cost by approximately $4 million per year,

While West Coast refining margins are a smaller
portion of the overall price of jet fuel than crude
olf, they also contributed to the overall price
volatility-in recent years, Refining margin: prices
reached a high of nearly $45 per barrel in May
2008, before they dropped to an average price of
$24 per barrelin 2009. Refining marging prices

Bl

dropped further in 2010 to average $14 a barrel,
but-then jumped upwards in 2011 and averaged
$33 abarrel forthe year. Generally, West Coast
jetfuel prices are someawhat higher and more
volgtile than prices in the Gulf Coast or on the
East Coast, putting ol airlines at a si;ght
competitive di xadvamage S

We refer 1o the price. we pay for fuel atthe

airport, including applicable taxes, as our “raw”
fuel price; Historically, fuel costs have generally
represented 10% t0.15% of an aitline’s operating
costs, bul due to volatility in prices over-the past
few years, fuel costs have been in the range of
30% to 50% of total operating costs. Both the
crude oil and refining cost components of jet fuel
are volatile and outside of our control, and they .
can have a significant and immediate impact on
our operating resuus

Our-average raw fuel-cost per gallon increased
36% in 2014, 27% in 2010, and dec ined 43% in
2009,

We use crude oil call oplions and jet fuel refining
margin swap contracts as hedges to decrease
our éxposure 1o the volatility of jet fuel prices.
Both call options and swaps effectively cap our
ricing for the crude oil and refining margin
componernts, limiting our exposure to increasing
fuel prices for about half of our: planned fuel
consumption. With the call option contracts, we



stilbbenefit from the decline in-crude oil prices,
as there is no future cash exposure above the

premiums we pay to enterinto the contracts. The

swapcontracts do not require an upfront

We believe that operating fuekefficient aireraft is
the best hedge against high fuel prices.-Alaska
operates an all-Boeing 737 fleet. Horlzon
completed its transition to an all-Q400 turboprop
fleet in 2011, Because of these changes,
Alaska’s fuel burn expressed-in available seat
miles flown per gallon (ASMs/g) improved from
65.9 ASMs/g in 2006 to 76.6 ASMs/g in 2011.
Similarly, Horizon's fuel burn has improved from
547 ASMs/g in 2006 to 59.3-ASMs/gin 2011,

These reductions have not-only reduced:our-fuel
cost, but also the amount of greenhouse gases
and-other pollutants that our operations emit,

COMPETITION

Competition in the airline industry is intense. We
believe the principal competitive Tactors. inthe
industry that are important 1o customers are:

safety record and reputation,

fares,

flight schedules,

customer service,

routes served,

frequent flier programs,

or-time arrivais,

baggage handling,

on-board amenities,

type of aircraft, and

codesharing relationships.
We carry approximately 4% of all U.S. domestic
passenger traffic. We compete with ong or more
domestic or foreign airlines.on most of our

routes, including both major legacy carriers and
low-cost carriers.

prerniun, but do expose us to future cash
outlays in the event actual prices are belowthe
swap price during the hedge period.

Due 1o its short-haul markets, ourfegional:
operations also competes with ground
transportation i many markets, including train,
bus and automobile transportation. Both
carriers, to some extent, also compete with
technology such as video conferencing and
internet-based meeting tools that have changed
the need for, orfrequency of face-to-face
business meetings.

ALLIANCES WITH OTHER AIRLINES

We have marketing alliances with a number of
airlings that provide reciprocal frequent flyer
mileage credit and redemption privileges as well
as codesharing on certain flights as shown in the
table below. Alliances are-an important part-of
our strategy and enhance our revenues by:

offering our customers more travel
destinations and better mileage credit/
redemption opportunities;

giving our Mileage Plan program a
competitive advantage because of our
partnership with carriers from-two major
global alliances (Onewarld and Skyteam);

giving us access 1o more connecting traffic
from other airlines; and

providing members of our alliance partners’
frequent flver programs an opportunity to
travel on Alaska whiigeaming mileage credit
i our partners’ programs.

Most of our codeshare relationships are free-sell
codeshares, where the marketing carrier sells
seats onthe operating carrier' s flights from the
operating carrier's inventory, but takes no
inventory risk: Our marketing agreements have
various termination dates, and at any time; one
or more-may be inthe process of renegotiation.

lol
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Our marketing alliances with other aitlines are as
follows: G G

American Aidines/
American Eagle: .,
Alf-France i o PR
British Aleways . ... ..
Cathay Pacific
Altways oo
Detta:Airtines (a) oo
Emirates Airling o0
leglandair .......... NG,
.............. No
Korean Air ......... @ No

banS8A ..ol Yes No  Yes
Alr-Pacific (b) 2w Yes No S Nes o

Qarntas ‘;’ess NQ

 Regiona . .
SkyWest () .00 Yes Yes No
Era Mlaska .o 0000 Yes Yes No
PenAir by ioo o rr i e Yes No
Kenmore Alr(b) o0 Yes o No Mo

{(#) Alaska has codeshare agreements with the Delta
Connection carriers SkyWest ABA; Pinnacle; Mesaba,
Comair-and Compass as part of its agreement with
Delta.

{b)  These aitiines do not have their own frequent flyer
program. However, Alaska’s Mileage Plan members can
earn and redeem miles on these airines’ route systems.

TICKET DISTRIBUTION

Airline tickets are-distributed through three:
primary channels:

+ - Alaskaair.com: It is less expensive for us to
sell through this direct channel and, as a
result, we continue to take steps to drive
more business to our website. In addition,
we helieve this channel is preferable fromy a
branding and customer-relationship
standpoint in that we can establish ongoing
communication with the customer and taiior
offers accordingly.

, Traditi@na/iaand online travel agencies: Batﬁ
traditional and online travel agencies
stypically use Global Ristribution Systems

l10 ]

{GDRS), such as Sabre; to obtain their fare

sandiinventory date from airlines. Bookings

Cmade through these agencies resultin a fee
that/ls chargedto the airline. Many of our
large corporate customers require us to use
these agencies, Some of our competitors do
not use this distribution channel and, as a
result, have lower ticket distribution costs.

Reservation call centers: These call centers
are lpcated in Phoenix, AZ, Kent, WA, and
Boise, 1D, We generally charge a $15 fee for
booking feservations through these call
centers.

Our sales by channel are as follows:

« .
 Alaskaair.com . PRk
Traditional agencies .. ... ..

 Online travel agencies .. ... 15%
' Reservation call centers .. .. % 9%

Total

.....

SEASONALITY AND OTHER FACTORS

Our results of operations for any interim period
are not necessarily indicative of those for the
entire year because our business is subject to
seasonal fluctuations: Our profitability is
generally lowest during the first and fourth
guarters due principally to lower traffic. it
typically increases in the second guarter and
then reaches its highest level during the third
quarter as a result of vacation travel, including
increased activity in the state of Alaska.
However, we have faken steps over the past few
years to reduce the seasonality of our operations
by adding flights to leisure destinations in Hawaii
and Mexico.

In addition to passenger loads, factors that could
cause our quarterly operating results to vary
include: i

- general economic conditions and resulting
changes in passenger demand,

«_pricing initiatives by us and our competitors,

- changes in fuel costs,



the timing and amount of maintenance
expenditures (both planned and unplanned),

- increases or decreases in passenger and
volume-driven variable costs; and

labor actions.

In addition to those factors listed above,
seasonal variations in traffic, the timing of
various expenditures and adverse weather
conditions may affect our operating resuits from
quarter to quarter. Many of the markets we serve
experience inclement weather conditions in the
winter, causing increased costs associated with
deicing aircraft, canceled flights and
reaccommodation of displaced passengers. Due
to our geographic area of operations, we can be
more susceptible to adverse weather conditions
(particularly in the state of Alaska and the Pacific
Northwest) than some of our competitors, who
may be better able to spread weatherrelated
risks over larger route systems.

No material part of our business or that of our
subsidiaries is dependent upon a single
customer, of upon a few high-volume customers.,

EMPLOYEES

Labor costs have historically made up 30% to
40% of an airline’s total operating costs. Most
major airlines;-including ours, have employee
groups that are covered by collective bargaining
agreements. Airlines with unionized work forces
have higher labor costs than carriers without

unionized work forces, and they may not have
the ability to adjust labor costs downward quickly
enough to respond to new competition. New

- entrants into the U.S. airline industry generally

do not have unionized work forces, which can be
a competitive advantage for those airlines.

We had 12,806 (9,640 at Alaska and 3,166 at
Horizon) active fullime and parttime employees
at December 34, 2011, compared to 12,039
{9,013 at Alaska and 3,202 at Horizon) at
December 31, 2010. Wages, salaries and
benefits (including variable incentive pay)
represented approximately 41% and 43% of our
total non-fuel operating expenses and 27% and
31% of our total expenses in 2011 and 2010,
respectively.

At December 31, 2014, labor unions
represented 83% of Alaska's and 47% of
Horizon’s employees. Our relations with our U.S.
labor organizations are governed by the Railway
Labor Act (RLA). Under this act, collective
bargaining agreements do not-expire but instead
become amendable 4 of a stated date. If eilher
party wishes to modify the terms of any such
agreernent, it must notify the other party in the
manner prescribed by the RLA and/or described
in the agreement. After receipt of such notice,
the parties must meet for direct negotiations,
and if:no agreement is reached, either party may
request the National Mediation Board (NMB) 1o
initiate a process including mediation,
arbitration, and a potential “cooling off” period
that must be followed before either party may
engage in self-help.
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Alaskals union contracts at December 31, 2011 were as follows:

Vi P

- Air Line Pilots Association  Pilots Amendable 4/1/2013
~Anternational (ALPA) : : i
| Association of Flight Attendants Flight attendants in Negotiations

(AFA)

International Association of Ramp service and stock ~ Amendable 7/17/2012

- Machinists and Aerospace clerks .

- Workers (IAM)

CIAM . Clerical, office and Améndabie 1/172014

§ passenger service g

- Alteraft Mechanics Mechanics, inspectors 4 Amendable 10/17/2016
FratemalAssociation (AMEA) and cleaners )

Mexico Workers Association of Mexico airport personnel Amehdabie 9/4/2013

- Alr Transport ’ , : : .

Transport Workers Union o © 'Dispatchers \ Coe 3600 Amendable 3/24/2015

Arnerica (TWU) !

Horizon s union comfaé{s at December 34, 2011 were as follows:

ﬁf‘sa‘ii_enai Br@themasﬁ@f Pilots Amendable
Teamsters (IBT) - 12/14/2045

AFA Hight attendants in Negotiations
BT : : Mechanics and related Amendable
classifications 12/16/2014

TWU Dispatchers Amendable

] : ‘ 8/26/2014

- National Automobile, Aerospace, - Station personnel in Van-  Expires 2/13/2013
- Transportation and General Workers — Couver and Victoria, BC, - o i

Canada



EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The executive officers of Alaska Air Group, Inc. ahd executive officers of Alaska and Horizon who have
significant decision-making responsibilities, their positions and their respective ages are as follows:

Williamy Ayer oo .o Chalrman, President and Chief Executive Officer of
Alaska Alr Group; Inc., Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of Alaska Airlines, Inc.-and Chairman: and Chief
Executive Officer of Horizon Alr Industries, Inc,

Brandon Pedersen .. ... Vice President/Finance and Chief Financial Officer of 45 2003
Alaska Alr Group, Inc. and Alaska Alrlines, Ihe.
Keith Loveless ........ Vice President/Legal and Corporate Affairs, General 55 1996

Counsel and Corporate Secretary of Alaska Alr Group,
inc. and Alaska Airlines, Inc.

Bradley Tilden . ... ... President of Alaska Airlines, Inc. 51 1994

Glenn Johnson ... ... .. President of Horizon Air Industries, Inc. 53 1991

Benito Minicucei ... ... Executive Vice President/Operations and Chief 45 2004
Operating Officer of Alaska Airlines, Inc.

Kelley Dobbs .. ...... Vice President/Human Resources of Alaska Airlines, 45 2004
inc.

Mr. Aver has been Alr Group’s President since
February 2003 and became Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer in May 2003, He has also
served as Alaska Alrlines’ Chairman since
February 2003, as Chief Executive Officer since
January. 2002 and was President from November
1997 to December 2008, He has served as
Horizon Alr Industries’ Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer since June 2040, Prior to that,
he was Sr, Vice President/Customer Service,
Marketing and Planning of Alaska Airlines from
January 1997, and Vice President/Marketing and
Planning from August 1995. Prior thereto, he
served as Sr. Vice President/Operations of
Horizon Air Industries from January 1995.

Mr. Ayer also serves on the boards of Puget
Energy, Ing., the Alaska-Airlines Foundation,
Angel Flight West, Inc., and the Museum of
Flight. He also serves on the Unijversily of
Washington Business School Advisory Board,
and as a director of the Seattle branch of the
Federal Reserve Board. In January' 2012,

Mr. Ayer was appointed to the University of
Washington Board of Regents. On February 16,
2012, the Company announced that Mr, Ayer will
resign as CEO but will remain as executive
chairman of the board, effective May 15, 2012.

Mr. Pedersen joined Alaska Alrlines in 2003 as
Staff Vice President/Finance and Controller of
Alaska Alr Group and Alaska Alrlines and was
elected Vice President/Finance and Controller for
both entities in 2006, He was elected Vice
Frasident/Fihance and Chief Financial Officer of
Alaska Alr Group and Alaska Airlines inJune
2010. He is a member of Alr Group’s

Management Executive Committee.

Mr. Loveless became Corporate Secretary and
Assistant Geperal Counsel of Alaska Alr Group
and Alaska Airlines in"1996. 1n 1999, he was
named Vice President/Legal and Corporate
Affairs, General Counseland Corporate Secretary
of Alaska Alr Group and Alaska Airlines. He is a
member of Alr Group’s Management Executive
Committee,

Mr. Tilder joined Alaska Alrlines in 1991,
became Controller of Alaska Air Group and
Alaska Airlines In 1984, Chief Financial Officer in
February 2000, Executive Vice President/Finance
and Chief Financial Officer in January 2002,
Executive Vice President/Finance and Planning in
2007, and President of Alaska Alrlines in
December 2008, He is a mamber of Air Group’s
Management Executive Committee and was
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elected to the Alr Group Board in 2010, On
February 16, 2012, the Company announced the

appointment of Mr. Tilden as the Chief Eixec:utw@ i

Officer, effective May 15, 2012,

Mr. Johnsan ;ﬁme&‘ Aiaska Alrlines in 3@87
became Vice President/Controller and Treasurer
of Horizon Alr Industries in 199 and Vice
President/Customer Sewvices in 2002, He
returned 1o Alaska Airlines in 2003 whete he has
served in several roles, including Vice President/
Finance and Controller-and Vice President/
Finance and Treasurer. He served as SeniorVice
Pregident/Customer Service-—Airporis from
January 2006 through April 2007 and in April
2007, he was elected Executive Vice President/
Airports and Maintenance and Engineering: He
was elected Executive Vice President/Finance
and Chief Financial Officer of Alaska Air Group
and Alaska Airlines in December 2008, He was
elected President of Horizon Alr Industries in
June 2040, He s a member of Alr Group's
Management Executive Commiitiee,

M. Minicucel joined- Alaska Altlines in 2004 a8
Staff Vice President of Maintenance and
Engineering-and was promoted o Vice President
of:-Seattle Operations in June 2008 i December
2008 he was elected Executive Vice President/
Uperations and Chief Operating Officer of Alaska
Alrlines. He is a member of Alr Group's
Management Executive Committes;

Ms. Dobbs joined Alaska Airlines in 1987,
became Staff Vice President/Human:
Resources—Staffing and Development in 2004,
Vice President/Human Resources—-Strategy,
Culture and Inclusion in June 2007, Vice:
President/Human Resources and Labor
Relations in:2009,and Vice President/Human
Resources in 2044, Sheis a member of Alr
Group’s Management Executive Committee;

REGULATION

CGENERAL
' ‘Thé al Hmeg industry is hngh!y regu lated.

Th@ @epanment of Transportats;m {B{}T ), the

Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) and the
Transportation Security Administration (T8A)
exercise significant regulatory authority over-air
carriers,

DOT: In order 10 provide passenger and
cargo air transportation in the U.S., a~
domestic airline Is required to hold a
certificate of public convenience and
necessity issued by the DOT. Subject to
certain individual airport capacity, noise and
“other restrictions, this certificate permits an
calrcarrierto operate between any two points
inthe U.5, Certificates do not expire, but
may-be.revoked for failure to comply with
federal aviation statutes, regulations, orders
or the terms of the certificates. In addition,
the DOT has jurisdiction over the approval of
international codeshare agreements,
marketing alliance agreements between
major domestic carriers, international and
some domestic route authorities, Essential
Alr-Service market subsidies, and carrier
liabitity for personal or property damage:
International treaties may-also-contain
restrictions or requirements for flying
outside of the U.S. and impose different
carrier liability limits than those applicable
to domestic flights. The DOT has recently
“been active in implementing a variety of
“passenger pmtectmn regu at ions; coveri ng
subjects such as advertising, passenger
communications, denied boar{‘jmg
compensation and tarmac delay response.
Asof January 26, 2012, carriers must
adhere to DOT's full-fare advertising rule,
which requires quoted fares to include all
applicable government taxes and fees,

FAA: The FAA, through Federal Aviation
Regulations (FARS), generally regulates all
aspects of airline operations, including
esmi:;%%shmg personnel maintenance and
flight operation standards. Domestic aitlines
are required to hold a valid air carrier =
operating certificate issued by the FAA
Pursuant to these regulations we have



gstablished, and the FAA has approved, our
soperations specifications and a-
maintenance program for each type of
aircraft we operate. The maintenance
program provides for the. ongoing
maintenance of such aircraft, ranging from
frequent routine inspections to major
overhauls. From time to time the FAA issues
airworthiness directives (ADs) that:must be
incorporated into our aircraft maintenance
program and-operations. ‘All-airlines are
subject to enforcement actions that are
hrought-by the FAA from time to time for
alleged violations of FARs or ADs. At-this
time, we are notaware of any enforcement
proceedings that could either materially
affect our financial position or impact our
authority to operate.

TSA: Airlines serving the U.S. must operate
a TSA-approved Aircraft Operator Standard
Security Program (AOSSP), and comply-with
TSA Security Directives (8Ds) and
regulations. Alrlines are subject to
enforcement actions that are brought by the
TSA from time-to time for alleged violations
of the AOSSP, SDs or security regulations.
We are not aware of any enforcement
proceedings that could either materially
affect our financial position or impact our
authority to operate. Under TSA authority,
we are also required to collect a

September 11 Security Fee of $2.50 per
enplanement from passengers and remit
that sum to the government to fund aviation
security measures. Carriers also pay the
TSA a security infrastructure fee to cover
passenger and property screening costs.
These security infrastructure fees amounted
to $12.6 million each year in 2011, 2010
and 2009.

The Department of Justice and DOT have
jurisdiction over airline antitrust matters. The
U.5. Postal Service has jurisdiction over certain
aspects of the transportation of mail'and related
services. Labor relations in the air transportation
industry are regulated under the Railway Labor
Act. To the extent we continue to fly to foreign
countries and pursue alliances with international
carriers, we may be subject to certain reguiafcibns
of foreign agencies.

AIRLINE FARES

Aitlines are permitted to establish their own
fares without governmental regulation and the
industry is characterized by vigorous price
competition. International fares and rates are
also subject 1o the jurisdiction of the
governments of the foreign countries we serve.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

We are subject to various laws and government
regulations concerning environmental matters
and employee safely and health in the U:S.and
other countries, U.S. federal laws that have a
particular effect on us include the Airport Noise
and Capacity Act of 1990, the Clean Air Act, the
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the
Clean Water Act, the Safe Drinking Water Act,
and the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation and Liability Act, or
Superfund Act. We are also subject to the
oversight of the Occupational Safety and Health
Administration (OSHA) concerning employee
safety and health matters. The U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency, OSHA, and
other federal agencies have been authorized to
create and enforce regulations that have an
impact on our operations. In additionto these
federal activities, various states have been
delegated certain-authorities under these federal
statutes. Many state and local governments

. have adopted environmental and employee
~safety and health laws and regulations. We

maintain our safety, health and environmental
programs in order to meet or exceed these
requirements.

It is expected. that there will be legislation in the
future to reduce carbon and other greenhouse
gas emissions. Alaska and Horizon have
transitioned to more fuel-efficient aircraft fleets,
thereby greatly reducing our total emissions.

The Airport Noise and Capacity Act recognizes
the rights of airport operators with noise
problems to implement local noise abatement
programs so long as they do not interfere
unreasonably with interstate or foreign
commerce or the national air transportation
system. Authorities in several cities have
established aircraft noise reduction programs,
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including the imposition of nighttime curfews. We
believe we have sufficient scheduling flexibility to
amommmdate local noise re‘:»;mctaona

Although we do not currently anticipate that
these regulatory matters, individually or
cotlectively, will have a material effect on otr
financial condition, results of operations 6r cash
flows, new regulations or compliance issues that
we do not currently anticipate could-have the
potential to harm our financial condition, results
of operations orcash f%cws in future periods.

CUSTOMER SERV!GE

Along thh other dcmesi ic-airlines, we have
smm&manted a customer service commitment
plan to address a number of servi ice gaais and .
regu t«atory requlremonts ine udmg, but not
limited to, goals relating to lowest fare o
availability, delays cancellations a[ d davemmn&,
baggage delivery &nd liability, guamnmed fares
ang ticket refwds As atestament to our
sewice, Aiaska has won the JD Power and
Associates award for “Highest in Customer
Satisfaction Among Traditional Network Carriers”
for the ;:a/s/t four years.

NﬁuﬁANCE

We carry Airlineg Huii Spares and-Comprehensive
Legal Liability Insurance in amounts and of the

If any of the following occurs, ou
financial condition and results of operations
could suffer. In such case, the trading price of
our common stock could also decline. We
operate in a continually changing business
environment. In this environment, new risks may
emerge-and aireacfy identi fied risks may vaty
significantly in terms of ;mpas;t and likelihood of
oceurrence. Management cannot predict such
developments, nor can it assess the impact, if
any, on our business of such new risk factors or
of events ﬁesaribed in any forward-looking
statements.

We have adopted an enterprise wide R sk
Analysis and Oversight Program designed
identify the various risks fac&d

organization, assign responsibility for mamaging '
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type generally consistent with industry practice fo
cover damage toaireraft, spare parts and spare
engines; as well as bodily injury and property
damage topassengers and third parties. Since
the September 14, 2001 attacks, this insurance
program excludes coverage for Warand Allied
Perils, including hijacking, terrorism, malicious
acts, strikes, riots, civil-commotion and other
identitied perils. 50, like other aidines, the
comipany has purchased war risk coverage for
such events through the U5 government.

We believe that our emphasis on safety and our
state-oithe-ar flight decic safety technology help
to-control thescostof aviation insurance.

WW%W% YOU CAN EIND MORE
INFORMATION

Our filings with the %Puntiets and Fxch:ange
Commission; including ourannual report oo Form
10K, quarterly reports on Férm 100, current
raports on Form 8K and amendments to those
reports are available on-our website at
wiww.alaskaair.com, free of charge, a8 s00n.as
reasonably practicable after the electronic filing
of these reports with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. The information -
contained onour website js not & part of this
annual report on Form 10K

those nsks to it mdwx‘dyua ‘executives withi
managem@m ranks as well as align these risks
with appropriate Board level oversight. These
@mwpr se fevel ;demzﬂed nsks have been
aligned to the risk factors discussed below.

LIANCE AND QF%%% ?‘fﬁﬂ@* L

Oy reputation and financial resuits could be
harmed in the event of an airline ac::id&ﬂf or
incident,

An accident or incident involving one of our
aircraft or an aircraft operated by one of our
codeshare panﬁ@rs or CPA carriers could nvoive
a significant loss of life and result in a loss of
confidence in our airlines by the flyi ng public. We



could experience significant claims:from injured
passengers; by-standers and surviving relatives,
as well as costs for the repairorreplacement of
a damaged alrcraft and its consequential
temporaty or permanent loss from service. We
maintain liability insurance in amounts and of
the type generally consistent with industry
practice, as do our codeshare partners and CPA
carriers. However, the amount of such coverage
may not be adequate to fully cover ali claims and
we may-be-forced to bear substantial-losses
from an acecident. Substantial claims resulting
from-an accident:in excess of vur related
insurance coverage would harm our business
and financial results, Moreover, any aireraft
aceident or incident, even.if fully insured and
even ifit does not-involve one of our.aircraft,
coultl cause a public perception that our airlings
or the equipment they fly-is less safe or reliable
than other transportation alternatives, which
would harm our business.

Changes in government regulation Imposing
additional requirements and restrictions on our
operations or on the airporits at which we
operate could increase our operating costs and
result in service delays and disruptions.

Airlines are subject to extensive regulatory and
legal requirements; both domestically. and
internationally, that-involve significant
compliance costs, in the last several years,
Congress has passed laws, and the U.8. DOT,
the TSA and the FAA have issued regulations
that have required significant expenditures
relating to the maintenance and operation of
airlines and consumer protections. Similarly,
many aspects of an-airline’s operations are
subject to increasingly stringent federal; state
and local laws protecting the environment.

Because of significantly higher security and other
costs incurred by airports since September 414,
2001, many airports have incregsed theirrates
and charges to air carrers. Additional laws,
regulations, taxes,; and airport rates and ¢harges
have been proposed from time to timethat could
significantly increase the cost of airline
operations.or reduce the demand forairtravel -
Although lawmakers may impose these
additional fees and view them: as pass-through”
costs, we believe that a higher total ticket price

willinflugnce consumer purchase -and travel
degisions and may resuft inan overall decline:in
passenger traffic, which would harm our
business.

The aivline industry continues to face potential
security concems and related costs.

The terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001 and
their-aftermath negatively affected the airline
industry; including -our company. Additional
terrorist attacks, the fear of such attacks or
other hostilities involving the-U.8: could - have a
further significant negative effect on the airline
industry,including us;and-could: -

. signiﬁoantiy reduce passenger traffic and
yields as a result of a potentially dramatic
drop-in demand for air travel;

- significantly increase security and insurance
costs;

make war risk or other insurance
unavailable or extremely expensive;

increase fuel costs and the volatility of Tual
prices;

increase costs from alrport shutdowns, flight
cancellations and delays resulting from
security breaches and perceived safety
threats; and

result in @ grounding of commercial air
traffic by the FAA.

The occurrence of any of these events would
harm our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

We rely on third-party vendors for certain
critical activities.

We have historically relied on outside vendors for
a variety of services and functions-critical to our
business, including airframe and engine
maintenance, ground handling, fueling, computer
reservation system hosting and software
maintenance. As part of our costreduction
efforts, our rellance on-outside vendors has
increased and may continue to do so in the
future. In recent years, Alaska and Horizon have
subcontracted their neavy aircraft maintenance,
fleet service, facilities maintenance, and ground
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handling services at certain airports, including
Seattle-Tacoma lntematmma A mmt to outsideav i
vendors. i, it i i

Qur use of outside vendors increases our
exposure to several risks. In the eventthat one
of more vandors gnes miio bankmmsy, ceases
operation of fails to peﬁerm as promised,
replacement services may not be readily
available at competitive rates, or at all. 3?‘ one of
our vendors falls to perform adequatel Vowe may
experience increased costs, delays, maintenance
issues; safety issues or negative public
perception of our aidine: Vendor bankiupicies,
unionization, regulatory compliance issues or
significant changes in the competitive
marketplace among suppliers could ad\/@rmiy
affect vendor services or force us to renegotiate
existing agreements on less favorable terms.
These events could result in disruptions ir our
operations or increases in our cost structure,

Dur operations are often - affected by factors
beyond our control, including delays,
cancellations, and other conditions, which
could harm our financial condition and results
of operations.

Like other airlines, our operations often are
affected by delays, cancellations and other
conditions caused by facters largely: beyond our
controk

Other conditions that might impact our
operations include: :

- air traffic congestion at ai rporrﬂ; or other a;r
traffic control problems;
adverse weather conditions;
increased security measures or breaches in
security;
international or domestic conflicts or
terrorist activity; and

other changes in business conditions

Due to our géog{éphic area of operations, we
be;!ie*w a large ;:;eri:’ian of our Qperation 15 more

thm of 1 nany of our competttors A gemmai
r@ductmn in airline passenger traffm as a rewlt ;
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of any of theabovermentioned factors could
harm our business; financial condition aﬁd
régults of operations: :
STRATEGY

The airline industry Is highly competitive, If we
cannot successfully compete in the ’
marketplace, our business, financial condition
and operating results will be materially
adversely affected. /

We face significant competition with respestto
routes, services, and fares. Some of our
competitors have lower costs than we do and
provide service to destinations served by us, We
continue to strive toward aggressive cost
reduction goals that are an imporiant part of our
husiness strategy of offering the best value to
passengers through competitive fares while
achieving acceptable profit marging and return
on capital Ifwe are unable to reduce our costs
over the longterm and achieve sustained
targeted return on invested capital;, we will likely
not be able to grow our business in the future or
weather industry downturns and therefore our
financial results may suffer.

We depend on a few key mafkets*tb be
successiyl,

Qur strategy is to focus on serving a few key
markets, including Seattle, Portland, Los
Angeles, Hawaii and Anchorage. A significant
portion of our flights oceur to and from our
Seattle hub ln 2014, passengers to and from
Seattle accounted for 63% of our total”
passengers.

We believe that concentrating our service
offerings in‘this way allows usto maximize our
investment in personnel, aircraft, and ground
faciiities, as well as to gain greater advantage
from sales and marketing efforts in those
regiohs. As g résult, we remain highly dependent
orrourkey markets. Our business could be
harmed by any circumstances causing a
reduction in demand for air transportation inour
key markets. Anincrease in competition in our
Key markets'could also cause us to reduce fares
of take other competitive measures that could
harm our business, financial condition and
results of operations.



Economic uncertainty or another recession
would likely impact demand for our product and
could harm our financial condition and resulls
of operations.

The recent U.S. and global .economic recession
resutted in-a decline-in demand- for air ravel.
While some economicindicators ateshowing
signs of growth, unemployment remains highuin
some of our key markets. Given that the strength
of the U.S. and global economies have an impact
on the demand for air travel, a longterm
economic slump could resuit in a need to adjust
our capacity plans, which could harm our
business, financial condition and results of
operations.

We are dependent on a limited number of
suppliers for aircraft and parts.

Alaska is dependent on Boeing as its sole
supplier for aircraft and many aircraft parts.
Horizon is similarly dependent on Bombardier.
Additionally; each carrier.is dependent.on.sole
suppliers for alreraft engines. As a result,. we-are
morevulnerable 1o any problems associated with
the supply of those aircraft and parts; including
design defects, mechanical problems,
contractual performance by the manufacturers,
or adverse perception by the publicthat would
result in customer avoidance or'in actions by the
FAA resulting inan inability to operate our
aircraft.

We rely on partner airlines for cadeshm and
frequent flyer marketing arrangements.

Alaska and Horizon are parties to marketing
agreements with a number of domestic and
international air carriers, or “partners,” including,
but not limited to, American Airlines and Delta Air
Lines. These agreements provide that certain
flight segments operated by us are held out as
partner “codeshare” flights and that certain
partner flights are held out for sale as Alaska
codeshare flights. In addition, the agreements
generally provide that members of Alaska’s
Miteage Plan program can eam miles on of
redeem miles for partner flights andvice versa.
We receive a significant amount of revenue from
flights sold under.codeshare arrangements, In

addition;we believe thatthe frequent flyer
arrangements are an important part of-our
Mileage Plan program: The loss of & significant
partner orcertain: partner flights through
bankruptcy, consolidation, or otherwise, could
have a negative effect on our revenues or the
attractiveness of pur Mileage Plan, which we
believe 15 a source of competitive advantage.

in November 2041, AMR Corporation, the parent
of American Airlines, filed for bankruptey
protection. We do not believe the bankruptoy will
impact our marketing agreement with American
Airlines,

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

We rely heavily on automated systems to
operate our business, and a fallure or disruption
of these systems or their operators could harm
our business.

We depend on automated systems to operate
our business, including our airline reservation
system, our telecommunication systems, our
website, our maintenance systems, our check-in
kiosks; and other systems. Substantially all of
our tickets are fssued to passengers as
electronic tickets and the majority of our
customers check in using our website orour
alrport kKiosks, We depend on our reservation
system 10 be able 1o issug, track and accept
these electronic tickets. In order forour
operations to work efficiently, our website,
reservation system, and check-in systems must
be ableto accommodate a high volume of traffic,
maintain secure information, and deliver
important flight information. Substantial or
repeatad website, feservations system or
telecommunication systems failures or service
disraptions could reduce the attractiveness of
our services and cause our customers to-do
husiness with another airline. In addition, we rely
on other automated systems for crew
scheduling, flight dispatch, and other operational
needs. Disruptions, untimely recovery, or a
breach of these systems could resull in the loss
of important data, an increase of our expenses,
an impact on.our operational:performance, or a
possible temporary cessation of our operations.
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If we do not maintain the privacy and security
of customer-related information, we could
damage our reputation, incur substantial
additional costs and become subject to
litigation,

We receive, retain, and transmit certain personal
informatl ion aboul our customers. In addition, our
onting oses‘atiens at alaskaair.com de;ts@nd on
the secure transmission of confidentia

information over public networks. includi ing oredit
card information. A compromise of our security
systems ot those of other business partners that
results in our customers’ personal information
being obtained by unauthorized persons could
adversely affect our reputation with our
customers and others, as well ag our operations,
results of operations, financial wmimn and \
liquidity, and could result in inst us
or me mpositxon of penait
se}ounty breach could require that we :?*Xpémd
significant additional resources related to the
seeurity of information systems and could result
in-a disription of our operations, patticularly our
onling-sales-gperations.

Additionally, the use ol individually identifiable
data by our business.and our business partners
is-regulated at the international, federal and
state levels. Privacy and information secutity
laws and regulations change, end compliance
with therymay result in cost increases due 1o
necessary systems changes.and the
cﬁﬁ}valo{)ment of new administrative processes.

ﬁwmmm CONDITION a&f%ﬁ?ifﬁ MNAN("ML
MARKETS

Oy busir;essf financial condition, and f&ﬁﬁﬁ‘s of
operations are substantially exposed fo the
volatility of jet fuel prices, Increases in jet fuel
costs would harm our business,

Fuel costs constitute a significant portion of our
total operating expenses, accounting for 34%
and 27% of total operating expenses for the
years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. Significant increases in average fuel
costs during the past several years have
negatively affected our results of operations.

Future increases in the price of jet fusl will harm
our financial condition and results of operations,
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unless we are able torincrease fares oradd
additionalancillary f@% toattempt to maw@r
increasing fuel costsy o

Qur continuing obligation to fund our traditional
defined-benefit pension plans could negatively
affect vur ability to c;ompete in the
mmkei'pmm

%ub;eci to mmk@t £ s»k f mamet retu{ﬂs am poot
in the future, any future obligation to make
additional cash contributi ions In accordance with
the Pension Protection Act of 2006 could
increase and harm our liquidity. Poor market
returns also lead to higher pension expense in
our consolidated statements of operations. The
calculation of pension expense is dependent on”
many assumptionsthat are more fully described
n “Critical Accounting Estimates” and Note 4. to
our consolidated financial statements.

Our indebtedness and other fixed obligations
could incroase the velatility of earnings and
otherwise restrict our activities and potentially
iéad to liguidity constraints. i

Although we have reduced our fong-term debt
balance significantly over the past three years,
we have, and may continue 1o have for the
foreseeable future, a significant amount of debt,
[ue to our high fixed costs, including aircraft
lease commitments and debt service, a
decrease in revenues results in a
disproportionately greater decrease in earnings.

Our outstanding long-term debt and other fixed
obligations could:have important conseguences,
For example, they could:

limit our ability to obtain additional financing
to fund our future capital expenditures,
acquisitions, working capital or other
plrposes: :

reguire us o dedicate @ malerial portion of
our operating cash tlow to fund lease
payments and interest payments on
indebtedness, thereby reducing funds
avallable for other purposes; and

< “limit our ability to withstand competitive
pressures and reduce our flexibility in



responding to changing business and
economic conditions; including reacting to’
‘thecurrent economic slowdown,

Although we have historically been able to
generate sufficient cash-flow from our operations
to pay our debt and other fixed obligations as
they become due; we cannot ensure we will:be
able to do so in the future. If we fail to do so, our
business could be hammed.

Alaska is reguired to comply with specific
financial covenants in certain agreements. We
cannot be certain that Alaska will be able to
comply with these covenants or provisions or
that these requirements will not limit our ability
to finance our future operations or capital needs.

See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” for more
detailed information about our obligations. and.
commitments.

Increases in insurance costs or reductions in
insurance coverage would harm our business,
financial condition and resuits of operations.

Aviation insurers could increase their premiums
in the event of additional terrorist attacks,
hijackings, airline accidents or other events
adversely affecting the airline industry.
Furthermore, the full hull and liability war risk
insurance provided by the government is
currently mandated through September 30,
2013. Although the government may again
extend the deadline for providing such coverage,
we cannot be certain that any extension will
oceur, or if it does, for how long the extension
will last, 1t'is expected that, should the
government stop providing such coverage to the
airline industry, the premiums charged by
aviation insurers for this coverage will be
substantially higher than the premiums currently
charged by the government and the coverage will
be much more limited, including smaller
aggregate limits and shorter cancellation
periods, Significant increases in insurance
premiums would adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

BRAND AND REPUTATION
We may nbf be successful in implementing

important strategic initiatives, which may
negatively impact our brand and reputation.

We continue to focus on strategic initiatives
designed to increase our brand perception to a
diverse and evolving demographic of airline
travelers, These efforts-include significant
improvements 1o our airport space at Los
Angeles International Airport (LAX) and efforts to
increase our direct customer relationships
through improvements to our online purchasing
portal {alaskaair.com), social media, and
customer loyalty programs (Club 49).

If these efforts are unsuccessful or they
negatively affect our reputation with our existing
customer base, we may experience an adverse
impact on our business and financial results,
Furthermore, with the ongoing Horizon brand
phase-out, there is a potential that we may lose
some brand recognition from our customers in
areas that Horizon has historically served.

LABOR RELATIONS AND LABOR STRATEGY

A significant increase in labor costs,
unsuccessful attempts to strengthen our
relationships with union employees, or loss of
ey personnel could adversely affect our
business and results of operations.

Labor costs are a significant component of our
total expenses, accounting for approximately
27% and 31% of our total operating expenses in
2011 and 2010, respectively. Each of our
represented employee groups has a separate
collective bargaining agreement, and could make
demands that would increase our operating
expenses and adversely affect our financial
performance it we agree to them.

As of December 31, 2014, labor unions
represented approximately 83% of Alaska's and
47% of Horizon's employees. Although we have
been successful in maturing communications,
negotiating approaches, and other strategies to
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enhance workforce engagement in the
Company’s long-term vision,
around open contracts
aﬁectmg employee foous in our bu

diverting management’ 5 attention fmm @th@{
pm}ects amj jssues,

We compete against thﬁ rmajor LB aitlines and
gther businesses for laborin many:h gn vgkilled

AIRCRAFT

The following table desscmb@s; the aimmﬁ we
operate and their average age at
December 34, 2011

uture uncertainty

(&) F-Freighter; C-Combination freigh@er/ passange;r ,

Part Il, item 7, “Managemm’c’a Das ussion and
Analysis of Fmanual Condition and Results m“‘
Operations,” discusses future orders and
options for additional aircraft.

Most of our owned aircraft secure longterm debt
arrangements or collateralize ourrevolving credit
facility. See further discussion in “Liguidity and
Capital Reseumes

Alaska’s leased 737- 400 and 737-800 aircraft
have ica'se expiration dates between 2013 and
2016, and between 2@1& and 2021,
respectively. Horizon's leased 0400 aircraft have
expiration dates in 2018. Horizon also has two
owned and 14 leased CRJ-700 aircraft that are

221

positionsdf we are: unable to hire, train and”
retain qualified employees at a reasonable cost,
sustain employee engagement in the Company's
strategic vision, or if we are unsuccessful at
implementing succession plans for our key staff,
we'may be unable to grow or sustain our
business:in such case, ouroperating resuits
and business prospects could be harmed,

subleased to third-party carriers. Alaska and
Horizon have the option to extend most of the
ieases for additional permds of the right to
purchase the aircraft at the end of the lease
term, usually at the thenfairmarket value of the
alreraft,

The following table displays the currently
anticipated fleet counts:as of the end of each
quarter in 2012:

|B737-4
B737-400F (a)
B737-400C (a) .
B737-700
B737-800
B737-900, .o
B737-900ER . ...
Q400 (b)

F-Freighter; C-Combination freighter/passenger
Includes two additional ai rcm*‘t authorized subsequent to
December 31,2011

GROUND @“ﬁ%&ﬁ%ﬁS AND SERVICES

Alaska and Horizon lease ticket muntem gates,
cargo and bagdage space, office space, and
other support areas at the majority of the
mom they serve, Alaska also owns term;nai
dings In various cities in the state of Alaska,

Alaska has centralized operations in several
buildings located at or near Seattle-Tacoma



International Airport (Sea-Tac) near Seattle, WA:
These include a five-bay hangar and shops
complex (used primarily for line maintenance), a

flight operations and training center, an air cargo

facility, an information technology office and
datacenter, an office building, and a corporate
headquarters complex. Alaska also leases a
stores warehouse, and office space for a
customer service and reservation faciity in Kent,
WA, Alaska’s major facilities outside of Seattle
include a regional headquarters bullding, an air
cargo facility and a hangar/office facility in
Anchorage, AK, as well as leased reservations

We are a party to routine litigation matters

the ultimate disposition of these matters is not
likely to materially affect our financial position or
results of operations. This forward-looking
statement is based on management’s cufrent
understanding of the relevant law and facts, and

Not applicable.

incidental to our business. Management believes

facilities in Phoenix, AZ. and Boise, 1D. Alaska

uses its own employees for ground handling
services at most of our airports in the state of

- Alaska. At other airports throughout our system,
“those services are contracted to various third:

party vendors,

Horizon owns its Seattle corporate headquarters
building. It leases an operations, training, and
atrcraft maintenance facility in Portland, as well
as line maintenance stations in Boise,
Bellingham, Eugene, Los Angeles; Medford,
Redmond, Seattle, and Spokane.

it is subject to various contingencies, including
the potential costs and risks associated with
litigation and the actions of judges and juries.

The SEC has formally notified Mr. Ayer that the
inguiry discussed in our 2010 Form 10-K has
been closed. i .
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As of December 34, 2011, there were
35,474,775 shares of common stock of Alaska
Air Group, Inc. issued and outstanding and
3,105 shareholders of record: We glso held
2,391,747 treasury shares atacostof 81253
miltion. We have not paid dividends on the

common stock since 1992 and have no plans to
do so in the immediate future. Our common

stock is listed on the New Yerk $t(>ck Exchaﬁge

(symbol: ALK)
The ﬂ:ﬂtowmg tabie shows the trading range of

Alaska Air Group, Inc. common stock onthe ‘New’
York Stack Exchange:

$42.59 §31.94

Bad3 3703
5466 42.00

..... ) 59.59 44.86

On February 15, 2012, the board of directors
declared a two-forone spiit of the Company’s
common stock to be accomplished by means of
a stock distribution. The additional shares will be
distributed on March 16, 2012, to the
shareholders of record on March 2, 2012, The
stock split will increase the Company’s
outstanding shares from approximately

35.5 million shares to aboul 71.0 mil ’;:m
shares. Our historical guistand g shares will be
recast upon the distributio

| 24|

ctober 1,
2011 -
October 31,

L2000 0w ...
November 4,
2011 ~
November 30,
L2014y ... 73800 66831
‘memmber 1,

20141 ~
December 31,

2004(a) ... 73500 71.82 - 73,500

Total .... 279,000 $64.27 279,000 $1,702,870

132,000 $59.05 132,000

73,600

(&) Purchased pursuant to a $50 million répurchase plan

authorized by the Board of Directors-in-June 2041: The
plan was completed in January 2012,



@"&w QRM&N%E ﬁ&%”%

The following graph oompares our cumuiatnve total stockholder return smoe December 31, 2006 with
the 8&P 500 Index and the Dow Jones U.S. Airl ineaa Index. The graph ‘assumes that the value of the
investment in our common stock and each index (including reinvestment of dividends) was $100 on
December 31, 2006.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Alaska Alr Group, Inc., the S&P 500 Index,
and the Dow Jones US Airlines Index

$200
$180 -
$160 -
$140 -
$120

$100
$80 -

$60 -

$40 -
$20 -

$0 L—in ‘ ‘ ~ - :
12/08 12107 12/08 12/09 12110 i)

—g+— Alaska Air Group, Inc. — A — S&P 500 .- O - - Dow Jones US Airlines

*$100 invested on 12/31/06 in stock or index, Including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31,

Copyright© 2012 S&P, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies inc. All rights reserved.
Copyright© 2012 Dow Jones & CoAll righis resarved.
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CONSOLIDATED OPERATING RESULTS (audited)
Year Ended December 31 (in‘millions, except per shar@
amounts):
Operating Revenues . ........ e PSR 38323 3,399.8 36626 35060
Operating EXpenses e i b e Yoy 3.360:7 31324 38348 32951

Dperating Income (Loss) . ... ... ... ey i 4716 267.4 (172.2) 2109
Nonoperating expense, net of interest

gapitalized (8) .. ... ... L LT E T 9.2] (65.7) (64.5) (44.0) (10.4)
income {loss) beforeincometax ... ... ...... ... . . 40859 202.9 {213.2) 2005
Netineome (Loss) ... . i ‘ 251.1 121.6 {135.9) 124.3
Average basic shares outstending .. ... ... .0 ... 36.822 35815 36.343 40125
Average diluted shares outstanding . ... .. ..o cie . 36,786 36454  36.343 - 40424
Basic earnings(loss)pershare .. ... oo u. 7.04 3.39 (3.74) 3.10
Diluted earnings (loss) pershare . .. oot in s 6.83 3.36 (3.74) 3.07
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION (audited)
At End of Period (in millions): G
Totalassets .. ... e $5,016.6 $4,996.2 $4,835.6 $4,490.9
‘Longterm debt and capfital lease obhgamn net of g
CeUIeNtROMION L L. e e 1,313.0  1,699.2 - 1,596.3 - 1,124.6
8724 661.9 10254

‘Shareholders™ equity v cv i v in v a vt S ins ke ; 1,105.4
"OPERATING STATISTICS /unaudtted) .
“Consvlidated: (b)
‘Revenue passengers-(000) .. .ot vt vivdcnvae s ;, 23,834 . 22;320 24,189 © 25,110
‘Revenue passenger-miles (RPM) (000; QC}O) ‘“Traffic” . 5,088 22,841 0 20,811 24,390 21411
Available seat miles (ASM) (000,000) “capacity” ... b 27,736 26,801 27,908 . 28258
Load fattor . L e Ce 82.4% T8.5% 76.6% 75.8%
= R PR T ; 15.27¢ 14.93¢ 15.76¢ - 45.20¢
Passenger revenues per ASM (PRASM) .. ... .., & 12.58¢ 14.73¢ 12.08¢ - 11.54¢
Operating revenues per ASM (RASM) v . ot o 13:82¢  12.83¢  13:42¢ 12.41¢
Qp@ratmg expenses per ABM, excluding fuel and n@ted
iterms (CASMex) (¢) , 8.821¢
Average number of fulltime equivalent employees "
. {FTE) 11,696
Mainline: ;
Revenue passengers (000) .. ...y 16,514 15561 16,809 17,558
|RPM& (000,000) “traffic? . oo i 20,350 48,362 18,712 18,451
/XSMS (000,000) “capacity” 24,434 23,144 0 24,218 24,208
/ 83.3% 79.3% 77.3% ?6,2%
13.58¢ 13.28¢ 14.43¢ - 13.81¢
U 14.31¢  10.54¢ 10.82¢  10.52¢
CASMex (o) 7.85¢ 8:26¢. . . 7.49¢ 7.50¢
Operating fleet at period-end . 114 115 140 115
Regional: {d)
Revenue passengers (000) i wr i v e ‘ 6,820 8,759 7,390 0 7.5852
RPMs (000,000) “raffic™ . ... ... N 2,491 2449 - 2678 2,960
ASMs (000,000 “capacity” .. ... o e . 3,302 3,357 3,690 4,048
loadfactor. ... % 75.4% 73.0% 72.6% 73.1%
; ; 2941¢ 27.30¢ 27.20¢ 23.86¢
................................ NPT ~ 21.96¢  1992¢  19.74¢ . 17.45¢
) EVA 54 58 59 70

8.47¢ = 8.56¢

9:20¢

12,223 13,327 13,676

(&) Includes capitalized interest of $12.5 million, $6.2 million, $7.6 million, $23.2 million, and $27.8 million for 2011, 2010,
2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively.

(b): Includes flights operated by SkyWest beginning in May 2011 and flights operated by PenAir under Capacity Purchase
Agreements (CPA).

(o) See reconciliation of this. measure to the most directly related GAAP measure in the “Results of Operations” section.

(d) Data presented includes information related 1o regional CPAS, except for operating flest.
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OVERVIEW

The following Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations (MD&A) is intended to help the
reader understand the Company, our operations
and our present business environment: MD&A I8
provided as a supplement to—and should be
read in conjunction with——our consolidated
financial statements and the accompanying
notes. All statements in the following discussion
that are not statements of historical information
or descriptions of current accounting policy are
forward-looking statements. Please consider our
forward-looking statements in light of the risks
referred to in this report’s introductory cautionary
note and the risks mentioned in Part |, “ltem 1A,
Risk Factors.” This overview summarizes the
MD&A, which includes the following sections:

« Year in Review-highlights from 2011
outlining some.of the major-eventsthat
happened during the year and how they
affected our financial performance.

Results of Operations—an in-depth analysis
of the results of our operations for the three
years presented in our consolidated
financial statements. We believe this
analysis will help the reader better
understand our consolidated statements of
operations. Financial and statistical data is
also included here. This section includes
forward-looking statements regarding our
view of 2012,

Liguidity and Capital Resources-—an
analysis of cash flows, sourges and uses of
cash,.contractual-obligations, commitments
and off-balance sheet arrangements, an
overview of financial position and the impact
of inflation and changing prices.

Critical Accounting Estimates—a discussion
of our accounting estimates that involve
significant judgment and uncertainties.

YEAR IN REVIEW

Our 2011 consolidated pretax income was
$393.7 million compared to $405.9 million in
2010, The $12.2 million decline was primarily
due to the $396.8 million increase in aircraft
fuel expense and $111.4 million increase in
other operating expenses, partially offset by the
F485.5 million improvementin revenues. The
increase in fuel cost was driven by the 36.1%
increase in raw cost per gallon.on a 5.6%
increase in consumption. Our improvement in
revenues was primarily due to a 9.6% increase in
traffic and a 3.3% increase in yield.

See “Results of Operations” below for further
discussion of changes in revenues and operating
axpenses and our reconciliation of Non-GAAP
measures to the most directly comparable GAAP
measure.

s Pelghiights

Accomplishments and highlights from 2011
include:

We reported record adjusted earnings for
2011, )

Alaska and Horizon continued their-excellent
operational performance again in 2011 as
measured by ontime arrivals and
completion rate as reported to the
Depanment-of Transportation (DOT). As'a
result, we were awarded the 2041 On-Time
Performance Service Award among major
North American Airlines by FlightStats.com
for the second consecutive year.

» For the fourth year in a row, Alaska Airlines
ranked “Highest in Customer Satisfaction
among Traditional Network Carriers” in 2041
by J.D. Power and Associates.

We were the first North America carrier 1o
receive the Joseph S. Murphy Industry
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;qemoe Awmd for outstand s

- Forthe year, the Wall Street Jowrnal namec;i
Alaska Airlines the best performing carrier in
the V.8 inits annual Middle Seat analysis

 We won the Seati%e Business Magazine
2011 Green Award, in the Large Services
«::ampany category.

= During the year, we reaah@{ti afiveyear
agreement with the Alrcraft Mechanics
Fratermal Association (AMEA) representing
the gitcraft technicians.

For the year, our employees earned $71. 9 '

million in incentive pay for meeting certain
operational and financial goals. We also
contributed $133.3 million to Alaska’ 5
defmecﬁ benefit pension pians :

Movizon f‘wwf*ii ?%& silian

T strengthen the regional operations we

;:)!ememed several changes in 2044,

wluding: Unifying our external brand 1o the
&saoka Airlines brand, Horizon became a 100%
CPA carrier, Horizon transitioned to an all -0400
fleet, Horizon subleased CRI-700 aircraft and
removed all residual inventory, Horizon
outsourced certain activities to third parties, and
adimited number of long stage-length routes
were transitioned to SkyWest. ,

Mew War

In 2044, we added several n@h &amp rouma to
ouroverall network as:follows:

Bellinghamto Honoluld . .. Daily 1T/ 2011
Adhueto Bandese .. ... Sxweekly. - 3/27/2011
‘Lihtie to Oakland . ... ... Axweekly 3/28/2011
‘Billingsto Portland .00 Dally (seasonal) - 6/5/2011
‘Missoula to Portland Dailyfseasonal) - 8/8/20141

Ban Diegoto Honolilg

| 28

Daily 14/17/2011

dd new«mces and norz stopm e

San-Jose to Palm

Serings s i woDally (seasonaly: 2/17/2012
Seatile to Kansas City a0 s Dally 874272002
Oakiand to Honolul ., .. . . o o Dally 4/10/2012
San Jose to Honoluly ., .. i O Daily 4/10/2012
Portland 1o Long Beach . S paily 3/12/20172
San Diegoto Santa Rosa o000 Dally - 8/4/2042
San Diego to Fresno: oo i “oxDaily B/4/2012
San Disgo to Monterey. ... Daily - 6/4/2012
Renoto Sandose . . ... 0. 2 Daily - 6/4/2012
Portland to' Bellingham ... . Daily (seasonal) — 6/4/2012
Portland to Bozeman .. 0 Daily (seasonal) - 6/4/2012
Portland to-Santa : :

Barbaraoosiiinnne Daily (seasonal) = 6/4/2012
Seattle to Philadelphia. .. ... Daily: 6/11/2042
Seattlaa to F'mt Lauderdale S

(replaces Seattle to ‘ B

Mtam ) ..... TR CL R paily T/46/2012

The changes above, when combmed with the
significant number of network changes over the
last few years, have diversified our network and
made ug less dependent on ourhistorical
markets in-the State of Alaska and up and down
the West Coast: We believe our smallersize
makes us more nimble than some of our larger
competitors, gives us a closer ccnﬁect;on with
our customers and allows us to identify and
respond to market opportunities quickly.

Btoek Mwwwmm

in 2011 we rapumhaseci 1,309, 3OG s;har% of
our common stock for $79.5 million under the
$50 million repurchase plans authorized by the
our Board of Directors in June 2010 and June
2014, Since 2007, we have repurchased

8.4 milliors shares of common stock under such
programs for 3262 million foran average m ce of
approximately $31 per share



iy focus every year is to mn ssafe
c;cmphant and reliable operations at our ‘
airlines. In addition to our primary objective, our
key initiative in 2012 is 1o focus on the customer
travel experience. Our specific focus will'be on
providing information and mobile capabilities to
our customers as well as 1o speed them through
the airport on the day of travel. Our biggest

concermn for 2042 is the rising cost of fuel.
However, with our fuekefficient aircraft and our
fuel hedge portfolio, we believe we are better
prepared to handle those rising costs than
others in the industry.

Our advance bookings suggest our load factors
will be up 2.5 pts in February and 2.5 pts in
March compared to the same periods in 2014 on
an expected 3.5% increase in capacity for the
first quarter of 2012.

Subseguent Evenis

On February 15, 2012, the board of directors
declared a two-for-one split of the Company’s
common stock 1o be accomplished by means of
a stock distribution. The additional shares will be
distributed on March 16, 2012, to the
shareholders of record on March 2, 2012, The
stock split will increase the Company’s
ouistanding shares from approximately

35.5 million shares to about 71.0 million
shares. Our historical outstanding shares will be
recast upon the distribution.

Additionally, the board of directors approved a
stock repurchase program authorizing the
Company to purchase up to $50 million of its
common stock with available cash on hand.

Furthermore, the board of directors authorized
Horizon to purchase two Q400 alreraft in April
and June 2012 and sell two Q400 aireraft in the
fall of 2012, The expected capital expenditures
and aircraft purchase commitments reflect this
action.

RESULTS m @%&%%@WW ONS
2011 COMPARED WITH 2010

Our consolidated net.income for 2011 was
$244.5 million, or $6.66 per diluted share,
compared to net income of $251.1 million, or
$6.83 per diluted share, in 2010. Significant
iftems impacting the comparability between the
periods are as follows:

Both periods include adjustments o reflect
the timing of net unrealized markto-market
gains or losses related 1o our fuel hedge
positions, For 2011, we recognized net
markto-market losses of $30.1 million
($18.7 million after tax; or $0.51 per share)
compared 10 losses of $5.3 million ($3.3
million after tax, or $0.09 per share) in
2010.

2011 includes Horizon fleet transition costs
of $38.9 million ($24.2 million aftertax, of
$0.686 per share) compared to $13.2 million
($8.2 million, or $0.22 per share) in 2010.

ADJUSTED (NON-GAAP) RESULTS AND
PER-SHARE AMOUNTS

We believe disclosure of earnings excluding the
impact of these individual charges is useful
information to investors because:

We believe it is-the basis by which we are
evaluated by industry analysts;

Our results excluding these items are most
often used in internal management and
board reporting and decision-making;

Our results excluding these adjustments
serve as the basis for our various employee
incentive plans, thus the information allows
investors to betier understand the changes
in variable incentive pay expense in our
consolidated statements of operations; and

it is useful to n@n"i‘m‘ performance without
these ltems.as it improves a reader’s ability
{0 compare our results 1o those of other
airlines.
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» - Itis consistent with how we present
information i
reieases;

Although we are pfesenimg these ntm {QAAP ,
anmounts for the reasons abave investors amj
other readers should not ﬂecessareiy conclude

that these a,mo;sms are non-recurring, infrequent,

or unusual in nature.

Excluding the markto-market adiustments and
other special charges, our adiusted consolidated
net income for 2011 was $287.4 million, or
$7.83 per diluted share, compared to an
adjusted consolidated net income of $262.6
million; or $7.44 per share;, in 2010.

| a0l

our quartear!y earnings preﬁs 8

Net incorrie and diluted

EPS as reported..
Fleet transition costs,
niet of tax
Markitomarket fusl
hedge adiustments
nat of tax

Net income-and dilut

EPS, excluding noted

items

$251.1..46.83




OPERATING STATISTICS SUMMARY (unaudited)
Alaska Air Group, Inc.

Below are operating statistics we use to measure operating performance. We often refer to unit
revenues and adiusted unit costs; which is a non-GAAP measure. Refer o page 34 on why this measure
may be meaningful.

Consolidated Operating Statistics: (a)

Revenue passengers (000) ............. .0 ... 23,334  6.2% 22,320  4.5%
RPMs (000,000) “raffic” .. ... ... .o L 22841 9.6% 20,811 9.8%
ASMs {000,000) “capacity” . «o.v v v vi g ainiene s bal 27,736 -8.8% 26,501  4.7%
Loadfactor ... ... .. . . . . 82.4% 2.Apts 78.5% 3.9pts
Y L i i e e e e e e 18 15.27¢ °3.3% 14.93¢ - 2.3%
PRASM . . i i e e i 12.58¢ 6.0% 11.73¢ 7.2%
 CASM excluding fuel and fleet transition
LCOSES (@) i i e e 8.82¢(3.4)% 9.20¢ (4.1)%
Economic fuel cost per gallon (b) ... .o N $ 2.37 34.2% $ 2.05 15.6%
Fuel gallons (000,000) . .« .. v v i wan v 377.3  5.6% 365.0  3.4%
Average number of full-time equivalent
BMPIOYEES . L it 11,696  1.2% - 12,223 (4.3)%
Mainline Operating Statistics: ,
Revenue passengers (000) ... v i n. 7,8 16,514 7.8% 15561 6.1%
RPMs (000,000 traffic” .. . ... ... o vvn o o0, 20,350 11.0%  18;362. 10.8%
ASMs (000,000) “capacity” ... ... ... .. 0 .. 24434 8.5% 23,144 56%
Load factor . ... .. U S A % 83.3% 1.9pts - 79:3%  4.0pts
Yield . ... o L G , : 13.58¢ - 3.5% 13.28¢ 2.3%
PRASM L. e ¢ - 11.31¢ 5.9% 10:54¢ - 7:3%
CASM excluding fuel (b) ... ... . o ... 7.85¢ (3:2% 8264 (5.0)%
Economic fuel costpergallon(b). ........ . ..., = 7 2.837 34.2% % 205 156%
Fuel gallons (000,000) © ... ... ... .. ... .. . ad 319:6: +8:4% 304.9 4:8%
Average number of full-time equivalent
Coemployees ... e i N 8,651 3.1% 8,915 (3.0%
Aireraft utilization .. ... o o e 10.0  5.0% 9.8  2.0%
Average aircraft stage length .. ..o o ol 1,085 - 2.7% 1,034 4.9%
‘Mainline operating fleet at periodeend . v ol 0.0 144 3a/c 115 (Lasc
Regional Operating Statistics: (¢) . i
Revenue passengers (000) ... ... ... oo, 980 G820 -2.8% 6,759 0.9%

' RPMs (000,000) “traffic”
ASMs (000,000) “capacity”
“Load-factor o

2,491 (4.8)% 2,449  1.7%
3,302 (B.8% - 3,357 {(1.8)%
75.4%  3.2pts 73.0% 2.4pts
29.11¢ 8.8% 27.30¢  6.6%
21.96¢ 13.4% 18.92¢ 10.2%

{(a) Except for FTEs, dataincludes information related to regional CPA flying with Horizon, SkyWest and PenAir.
(b) - See reconciliation of this measure to the most directly related GAAP measure in the “Results of Operations” section.
(¢) - Data presented includes information related to regional CPAs.
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OPERATING REVENUES

Total operating revenues increased $485.5
rillion, or12.7%, during 2011 compa
same periodin 2010. The changes are
summarized in the following table;

Passenger
- Mainting
Ragional ..

Total passenget
revenue
Freight and mail ...

Othet=-net .7

Totatoperating E
revenues

Mainline passenger revenue for 2001 improved
By 14.9% onan 8.5% increase in capacily and &
5.9% increase in bassenger revenle per
available seat mile (PRASM) compared to 2010,
The increase in capacity Is diiven by the '
annualization of newroutes added in 2010 and
new routes in 2041, most of which was Hawaii.
The incregse in PRASM was driven by 6 3.8%
risein ticket vield-and & 1.9 pointincrease in
load factor compared to the prior year. The
increase inyield is due to raising prices to help
offset the 36% incréase in raw fuel costs,

Passenger regional

Regional passenger revenue increased by $49.3
mitlion:or 6.8% compared to 2000.0on-a. 4 ‘4’%
increase in PRASM compared to 2010, despite a
5.8% decline in capacity. The increase in PRASM
was driven by an 8.8% increase in tickal vield
anda 3.2-point increase in load factor compared
to the prior year. The decline in capacity and
increase in load factors s due to better matching
supply with demand in the regional network,

&oand- Mail

Freight and mail revenue increasad $2.5 million,
or 2.4%, primarily due to freight fuel surcharge
increases of $5.4 million offset by lower mail
revenue on-lower volume.

|3zl

et revenue increased $20.9 million, or
WB%.drom 2010 The increase is primarily due:
tease-in our Mileage Plan revenues of

| 331’3‘ B mitlion with higher commissions driven by

a larger number of miles sold to our affinity card
partner and a contractual rate increase for those
sold miles. Additionally, food and beverages
“2‘3"&? incregsed $4.3 mi iien due tc tf}cr&a%@d

volurmes,

OPERATING EXPE NSES

Total operating expenses increased $508.2
milion; or 15,1%, compared 1o 2010 mostly a5 a
result of significantly higher fuel costs. We
believe: it is. useful to.summarize operating
expenses as follows; which is consistent Mt’h‘
the way expenses are reported interally and
evaluated by management:

$3,3607 1

Significant operating expense sza{iariizésfmm
2010 are mote fully described below.

Wages and Benefits

Wages and benefits increased dunng 2@ \it by
$29.6 million, or 3:4%, compared to 2010, The
prifvisry components of wages and benefits are
shown in the Tollowing table:

Wages .,
Pansio

retivement
benealits
Medical benef
Other & nd ,
payroll teaves ... .. 84.3 7.9

Total wages and
benefits . ... ...

$960.9 3.

((((( ol




Wages increased 4.3% ona 1:2% Increase in
FIEs as'a result of increased flying, higher wage
rates, and a signing bonus to Alaska’s clerical,
office and passenger sevice employees in
connection with a new contract ratified in January
2011, Productivity as measured by the numbey
of passengers per FTE increased 5.0% compared
to 2010,

The 5.5% decline in pension and other
retirementrelated benefits s primarily due 1o-a
reduction in our defined-benefit pension cost
driven by the improved-funded status at the-end
of 2000-as compared 1o the previous vear
partially offset'by a slight Increase in defined-
contribution expense.

Medical benefits decreased 0.8% from the prior
year primarily due to a decline in employee
healthcare claims, partially offset by an. increase

Other benefits and payrolitaxes inicreased 7.9%
frorthe prior year due 1o increases in our
Workers Compensation and Disability Plan as
well as increased payroll taxes inline-with
increasedwages.” -~

We expect wages and benefits to be higher in
2012 compared to 2011 due to higher FTEs to
support increases involume and higher pension
expense of approximately $15 million.

Variable incentive Pay

Variable incentive pay expense decreased from
$92.0 million in 2010 10 $7L.9 million in 2011.
The decrease is due to the fact that in 2010 our
financial and operational results exceeded
targets more so than in 2011,

if we meet targets established under our
Performance Based Pay and Operational
Performance Rewards programs, variable
incentive pay will be approximately $55 million to
$80 million per.year. If we exceed the targets,
variable incentive pay will be higher. If we do not
achieve targets, it will be lower,

See Note 8 to our consolidated financial
statements for additional information.

Afvoraft Foel

Aircraft fuel expense includes both raw fuel
axpense (as.defined below) plus the effect of
markto-market adiustments to our fuel hedge
portfolio included in our consolidated statement
of operations gs the value of that portfolio
increases and decreases, Our aircraft fuel
axpenseis very volatile, even between quarters;
becausedbtincludes these gains orlosses inthe
valte of the underying instrument as crude oll
prices and refining margins increase or
decrease. Raw fuel-expense is defined as the
price that we generally pay at the girport, orthe
“intosplane” price; including taxes and fees. Raw
fuel prices areimpacted by world oil prices and
refining costs, which can vary by region inthe
U.S. Raw fuel expense approximates cash:paid
to:suppliers and does not reflect the effect-of gur
fuel-hedges:

Aircraft fuel expense increased $396.8 million,
or 44.0% compared 1o 2010, The elements of
the change are illustrated in the following table:

Fuel gallons consumed .
Raw price per gallon .. 361
Total raw fuel expense $868.9 434
Net impact on fuel

expense from losses

arlsing from fuelhiedging

activities L. . e 20 MM
Aircraft fuel gxpense .. $900.9 44.0

NM-Not Meaningful

Fuel gallons consumed increased 5.6%, primarily
as a result.of a 5% increase.in block hours and a
slight increase in fuel burn per block hour as a
result of higher load factors. !

The raw fuel price per gallon-increased 36.1% as
a result-ofhigherWest Coast jet fuel prices.
West Coast jet fuel prices are impacted by both
the higher price of crude oil, as well as increased
refining marging associated with the conversion
of crude oil to jet fuel, The average prices of
crude oil and refining margins during 2011 were

|23
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higher by approximately 19% and 244% 0

re&s&mctwaty, as <~ompafed w 2010

We'also evaiuate ‘economic fu@i éxmahw wh:ch
we define as raw fuel expense adjusted for the
cash we receive from, or pay to, hedge
counterparties for hedges that setile during the
period; and for the premium expense thatwe
paid for those contracts. A key difference

between airctaft fuelexpense and economic fuel

expense is the timing of gain or loss recognition
on our hedge portfolio. When we refer to
economic fuel expense; we include gaing and
losses only when they are realized for those
conlracts that were settled during the period
based on their original contract terms. We
helieve this is the best measure of the effect
that fuel prices are currently having onour
business because it most closely approximates
the net cash outflow associated with purchasing
fuel for our operations. Accordingly, many
industry analysts evaluate our results using this
measure, and it is the basis for most internal
management reporting and incentive pay plans,

Quir eﬁcmomic fuei expenfse is calculated as
follows: -

Raw fuel expense .. ..

Less net of cash :
settlement on settled
hedges and premium
expense recognized

Etonomic fuel expense
Fuel gallons consumed
Economic fuel cost per

N%\E««Nm Meanmgfm

As noted above, the total net benefit recognized
for hedges that settled during the year was
$24.4 million in 20114, compared to a benefit of
$2.3 milllion-in 20410, Theseamounts represent
the'cash received net of the premium expense
recognized for those hedges.
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We currently expect our economic fuel price per
gallon to be approxirmately 18% higher in the first
quarter of 2012 due to the rising cost of jet fuel,
As both oil prices and refining marging are
volatile, we are unable to forecast the fullyear
cost with any certainty.

Ajrcraft maintenance declined by-$109 million;
or 5.0%, compared to the prior year primarily due
to lowercosts associated with the return of
leased aircraft and lower costs due to the
phaseout-of the CRI fleet; offset by increased
airframe check costs and components. We
expect aircraft maintenance 1o be slightly higher
in 2012 in line with- additional block hours and
the timing of scheduled maintenance events.

Alrcraft Rent

Alrcraft rent declined $22.6 million, or 16.3%,
compared to the prioryear period primarily due to
$13.7 million less rent related to 11 fewer CRJ
700 aircraft and $5.5 million less rent related 1o
5 fewer B737 aircraft leased in 2011 compared
to 2010, We currently do not-expect any leased
aircraft to be retumed in 2012, nor do we expect
10 lease any new. aircraft,

Landing Fees anil Other Renitals

Landing fees and other rentals increased $5.4
million, or 2.3%, primarily due to-a $3.6 million
increase in facilities rents across our network:
and a $1.8 million increase in our landing fee
expenses. Mainline landing fee expenses
increased due to a 9% increase in departures,
partially offset by decreases in our regional
departures of 10%. We expect landing fees and
other rentals to be higherin 2012 due to
increased rates and a slight increase in
departures. :

Contraoied Sewices

Contracted services increased $22.1 million, or
13.6%, primarily due to an increase in capacity
purchased flying of $13.2 million compared to
the prior year as the new agreement with



SkyWest began in May 2011, Additionally; we
experienced higher passenger handling of $2.8
mitlion as a result of an increase in-the number
of flights to airports where vendors are used and
an increase in contract labor of $2.1 million.

We expect contracted services to be higher in
2012 due to the full year impact of our capacity
agreement with SkyWest and the use of
contracted tabor in Hawaii.

iling Expenses

Selling expensés increased by $21.5 million, or
14.0%, compared to 2010 as a result of higher
travel agent and ticket distribution costs of
$1.0.8 million and credit.card commissions. of
$6.3 million due to increased revenues of
12.7%.

We expect selling expense will be higher in
2012, primarily due.to higher revenue-related
expenses.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization increased $16.4
mitlion, or 7.1%, compared to the prior year. This
is primarily due to additional depreciation
expense of $18.0 million for the B737 mainline
aircraft, $6.9 million increase in Q400 aircraft
depreciation, offset by a decrease of $4.0
mitlion in CRJ 700 aircraft and other assets that
became fully depreciated or were removed from
operation. \

We expect depreciation and amortization to be
higher in 2012 in line with our six new aircraft
deliveries and the annualization of 2011
deliveries.

Food-and Beverage Service

Food and beverage costs increased. $9.7 million,
or 16.9%, from the prior year due to an
increased number of passengers, increase in
sales of buy on board products, the higher cost
of some of our fresh food items served on board,

ased costs associated with food
‘We expect food and beverage costs to
be higher in 2012 due to increased passenger:
and departure volume;

ing Exbenses

Other operating expenses increased $34.6
million, or 17.2%, compared to 2010. The
increase is primarily-driven by higher personnel
non-wage costs such as hotels, meals and per
diems of $8.1 million and higher professional
service costs of $7.4 million as well-as-higher
costs for communications, property taxes,
passenger remunerations; and deicing. We
expect other operating expenses to be higher in
2012 dueto higher, property taxes, professional
sewvices, IT and training costs.

Fleel Transition amd Restructuring Related
Expenses

Fleet transition costs increased $25.7 million, as
we finalized our transition to an all Q400 fleet.
The increase was directly due to net charges of
$28.3 million related to the removal of the
CRJ-700 aircraft and related inventory and a loss
on the final disposition of Q200 aircraft of $10.6
million in. 2011,

¢ dvallable Beat Wile

(CASM) ,
Our operating costs per ASM are summarized
below:

Consalidated;
Total operating expenses per
ASMI(CASM) oL oo
Less the following
componants:
Aircraft fuel, including
hedging gains and

12.12¢ 7.8

losges o e . 3:.25 24.8

Fleet transition costs 005 - NM
CASM, excluding fuel and

fleet transition costs . . .. 8.82¢ {3.1)
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Total mainline operalmg
EXPENSES per ASM
(GASM)

Less the following
components:

Ajrcrattfuel, including
hedging pains and
losses .. .

CASM, excluding fuel .

ot Meaningfut

We have listed separately in the above table our
fuel costs per ASM and our unit costs; excluding
fuetand other noted items. These amounts are
included in CASM, but for internal purposes we
consistently use unit cost metrics that exclude
fuel and certain special items 1o measure our
cost-reduction progress. We believe that such
analysis may be important to investors and other
readers of these financial statements for the
following reasons:

+ By eliminating fuel expense and certain
special items from our unit costmetrics, we
believe that we have better visibili ‘tj into the
results of our nonfusel costreductio
initiatives. Qurindustry is highly competétiv&
and is characterized by high fixed costs, so
even a small reduction in non-fuel operating
costs can result in a significant
improvement in operating results. in
addition, we believe that all domestic
carriers are s:msiariy ampam@d by vhsﬁmgea in

mves‘mrs} to undefstaﬁd the i m@a@% nf (an{j
trends in) company-specific cost drivers
such as labor rates and productivity, alrport
costs, maintenance costs, etc.; which are
more controliable by management.

Cost per ASM (CASM) excluding fuel and
certain special items is one of the most
important measures used by management
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qand by the Alr Group Board of Directors in
assessing quarterly and annua com
: performance

VA M excluding fuel (and other items as

»;pacmed in our plan documents) is an
important metric:for t!ﬁ;e em{playee inc&n‘tive
plan that covers all employees,

CASM excluding fuel and cettain special
tems is a measure commonly used by
industry analysts, and we believe it is the
basis by which they compare our airlines 1o
others in the irdustry. The measure is also
the subject.of frequent quesnﬁﬂs from
investors.

Disclosure of the individual impact of certain
noted items provides investors the ability to
measure and monitor performance both with
and without these special items. We believe
that disclosing the impact of certain items,
such as fleet transition costs, is important
because it provides information on
significant items that are not necessarily
indicative of future performance. Industry
ahalysts and investors consistently measure
our performance without these items for
better comparability between geﬁeﬁs ahd
among other airlines.

Although we disclose our passenger unit
revenues, we do not {ner are we able o)
evaluate unit revenues excluding the impact
that changes in fuel costs have had.on
ticket prices. Fuel expense represents a
large percentage of our total op@rmmg
expenses, Fluctuations in fuel prices often
drive changes in-unit revenues in the
mid-to-long term. Although we believe it is
useful to evaluate non-fuel unit costs for the
reasons noted above, we would caution
readers of these financial statements not to
place undue reliance on unit costs excluding
fuel 85 a measure or predictor of future
profitability because of the significant
impact of fuel costs on our business,



Our current expectations for capacity and operating costs per ASM are summarized below:

i Col olidated:

| Capacity (ABMs in miHons) . v gt o i s B

| Cost per ASM excluding fuel and special items Gmm)

........ 7,%25 =375 ~3v5”;: 31,400 31,600 ~5%

87 -8.92 1% 8.40 - 8.45

Mamiine,

Capacity (ASMs in milions) . o v i i b s ot - o
Cost per ASM excluding fuel and special items (cents) ..., ..

CONSOLIDATED NONOPERATING INCOME
(EXPENSE)

Net nonoperating expense was $55.2 million in
2011 compared to $65.7 million in 2010. The
$10.5 million decrease is due to lower interest
expense due to payments on maturing debt and
prepayments of debt in the current year, higher
capitalized interest due to higher levels of capital
expenditures, offset by lower investment returns
in our marketable securities portfolio, and an
impairment charge of $6.2 million on an owned
aircraft that was leased to another carrier that
filed for bankruptey protection, and otherthan-
temporary-impairments on morigage-backed
securities.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Our effective-income-tax rate for 2041 was
37.9%, compared to 38:1% for 2010: The
difference between the effective tax rates for
both periods and our marginal tax rate of
approximately 37.8% is due primarily to
mtscetian@ous non—deduct;bie expenses, such a%
per diems.

Our effective tax rate can vary significantly
between quarters and for the full year, depending
on the magnitude of non-deductible expenses in
proportion-to pretax results.

2010 COMPARED WITH 2009

Our consolidated net income for 2010 was
$254.1 million; or $6.83 per diluted share,
compared to net income of $12:1.6 million, or
$3.36 per diluted share, in 2009. Significant
items impacting the comparability between the
periods are as follows: '

- Both periods ihciuded adjustmentsto reflect
the timing of net unrealized markto-market

...... 5,550 6,600
,,,,,, 7.90-7.85 4%-15%  7.50- 55 ~{1)%

SEB%2T.850-28.350 - ~6%

gaing or losses related to our fuel hedge
positions. For 2010, we recognized net
markto-market losses of $5.3 million ($3.3

illion after tax, or $0.09 per share)
compared to gains of $88.8 million ($55.2
million after tax,.or $1.53 per share) in
2009.

« 2010 included Horizon fleet transition costs
of $13.2 million ($8.2 million after tax, or
$0.22 per share).

+ 2009 included the new Alaska pilot contract
transitions costs of $35.8 million ($22.3
million after tax, or $0.62 per share),

Excluding the markto-market adjustments,; fleet
transition and restructuring costs, our adjusted
consolidated net income for 2010 was $262.6
million, or $7.14 per diluted share, compared to
an adjusted consolidated nat income of $88.7
million, or $2.45 per share, in 2009.

Net income and
diluted EPS as :
reported ... ... 52 $121.6  $3.36
Pilot contract .
transition costs,
net of tax- .0 o

Fleet transition
costs, et of
RE2) U S -

Mark-to-market fuel
hedge -
adiustments, net
oftax ... 0 652y {1.83)

Net income.and

diluted EPS;

exclp«‘dm‘g nated

223 0.62

items o
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OPERATING REVENUEB

or12. 7%, dur g 20
same period in 2009. The changes are
summarized in the following table:

Bassenger
Muairline ... .
= Regional ..o

- $2,438.8
868.6

Total:passenger
FEOVRNUE v il $3,407:4
959
1965

Total operating
revenues L. L.l

e

Mainline passenger revenue for 2010 | mpmved
by 13.3% on a 5.6% increase in capacity and a

7.3% mc;’ease in passenger revenue per
available seat mile (PRASM) compared to 2009.
The increase in PRASM was driven by a 2.3%
rise in-ticket yield and a 4.0-point increase in
load factor compared to the prior year.

a2 ~bomt increase in Odd acto c“:omp, ed to :
the prior year. i

Frejpght and Mall :
Freight and mail revenue increased $10.3
mitlion, or 10.7%, pnmarz%y as a result of higher

volumes and yield and highe;* security and freight
fuel surcharges:

zs‘ce*mm ng from a iarge; numi::cw of mnt@s aold to

| 28|

\smur aﬂ‘rmty card parmer and a conﬂaﬁtuai rate

"OPERATING EXPENSES

Total operating expenses increased $228.3
million, ot 7.3%, compared to 2009 mostly as a
result of significantly higher fuel costs. We
believe it is useful to summarize operating
expenses as follows, which is consistent with
the way expenses are reperted mtemaﬂy cand
evaluated by management:

Non-uel expenses .

Total C)pemtmg
(:xpensua .........

Significant operating expense variances from
2009 are more fully described below.

Wages and benefits decreased dur;*‘sg 2010 by
$27.2 million, or 2.8%, compared to 2009. The
primary components of wages and beneﬁta are
shown inthe following table: :

............

Pe,n ion and defined-
| contribution retirement
Cobenefits oL
Medical benefits .. ..
Other benefits and pavroll
TAXES © oo

1242 (248)
1039 49
(13

2.8

Total wages and benefits

Wages were relatively flat on a reduction in FTE
compared to 2009. Wages have not declined in
step with the FTE reduction because of the
higher wage rates for the pilot group in
connection with their new contract effective
April 1, 2009 and higher average wages for
certain other employees after 2009 and early
2040 furloughs; which are generally seniority-



based. However, productivity as measured by the
number of passengers per FTE increased 9.2%
compared to 2009.

The 24.8% decline in pension and other
retirementrelated benefils is primarily. due 1o a
significant reduction in our defined-benefit
pension cost driven by the improved funded
status at the end of 2009 as compared 1o the
previous year and the closing of the defined-
benefit plans to the new pilot entrants with their
new contract in 2009.

Medical benefits increased 4.9% from the prior
year primarily as a result of an increase in
employee healthcare costs partially offset by a
decrease in postretirement medical expense for
the pilot group.

Variable Incentive Pay

Variahble incentive pay expense increased from
$76.0 million in 2009 to $92.0 million in 2010,
The increase is primarily due 1o the fact that in
2010, our financial and operational results
exceeded targets established by ourBoard more
so than in 2009. in 2010, additional workgroups
were included to the PBP plan, resulting in higher
earnings than the profit sharing plan in which
they previously participated.

Alreraft Fuel

Aircraft fuel expense increased $242.8 mi!!idm,
or 36.9%, compared to 2009. The elements of
the change are illustrated in the following table:

Fuel'gallons consumed-.. } 3650

| Raw price per gallon .. .. 26.6
Total raw fuel expense 36882 31.0
Net impact on fuel expense
from (gains) and losses
arising from fuelhedging
activities . ... ... ... (28.1) NM
Aircraft fuel expense ... ... . '_ ; - $eBR.A 386.9

Fuel gallons consumed-increased 3:4%, primatily
as a result of a 1.1% increase in block hours and
an increase in fuel burn due to higher load
factors.

The raw fuel price per gallon increased 26.6% as
a result of higher West Coast jet fuel prices
driven by higher crude oil costs and refining
margings.

Qur economic fuel-expense is calculated as
follows:

Raw fuel expense
| Plus or minus: net of cash
| settlement on settled hedge :

and premium expense o i
recogmized s .o ’

Economic fuel expense . . . .

Fuel gallons consumed .. ... .

Economic fuel cost per
gallon ... 0000000

NM==Not Meaningtul

As noted above, the total net benefit recognized
for hedges that settled during the period was
$3.3 million in 2040, compared to a loss of
$60.7 million in 2009. These amounts represent
the cash received net of the premium expense
recognized for those hedges.

Aircraft Maintenance

Aircraft maintenance declined by $6.6 million, or
3.0%; compared to the prior year period;
Mainline maintenance decreased due to less
expensive events, lower component costs, and
decreased costs associated with aircraft retumns,
offset by increased engine events in the regional
business.

%}i
A

Aircraft rent declined $14.8 million, or-9:6%,
compared to 2009 as a result of the return of
three B737-400 and two B737-700 leased
aircraft, as well as the removal of five CRJ-700
leased aircraft in 2040,

o
&
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mmwmg s‘fws and Qa’:hw Rents -

Landmg fem and other renm mcreaased $9 6
million, or 4.3%, compared to 2009. The
increase is attributable to higher rates in many.
airpotts across our network and more
departures,

Contracted Services

Contracted services increased $12.4 million, or
8.2%, compared to the prior vearas a resultof
increased use of vendors across our network,
primarily m!gteg, ;9{ our Haw;aii network growth,

Selling ﬁx;mm&s

Selling expenses mcreased by $Q§2 0 mnhon or:
16.7%, compared to 2009 as a result of higher
credit card and travel agent commissions and
ticket distribution costs resulting from tm o
increase in passeﬁger revenue.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization increased $11.3
million, or 5.2%, compared to the prior vear. This
is primarily due to four B737-800 aircraft
deliveries in 2010 and a full period of
depreciation for the ten B737-800 aircralt
delivered in 2009

o

Food and Beverage fﬁwww i

Food and beverage costs increased $7. 4 mnnon,
or 14.8%, from 2009 due to an increased

number of passengers, the hsgher cost of some

of our fresh food items served on board, and
increased costs associated with food delivery.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenseés declined $13.2
million, or 8.2%, compared to the prior year. The
decline is primarily driven by a reductionin
outside professional services costs and lower
personnel non-wage costs, partially offset by
higher property taxes.

| 40|

Flegr ?‘Wsm‘z?ﬁ%mm msaﬁ Rmemiwamm" mmm
Expenses’ \ / ;

We recorded $10.3 million in 2010 re‘aia{'ed o
the removal of five CRI-700 aircraft from our
operations under sublease or lease assignment
to t?n rd-party carriers. ‘We also recorded $2.9
filion of restructurmg chas’ges assac*at&éd with
th@ voluntary separation of a number cf
ampioyees resulting fmm the dec;smn m
outsource the remaining aircraft heawy
maintenance function at Horizon to a third party.

in 2009, fleet transition costs associated with
the removal of 0200 aircraft from the operating
fleet were $8.8 million as the final Q200 aircraft
were removed from operation. :

During 2009, in connection with a new fouryear
contract, Alaska’s pilots received a one-time
aggregate bonus of $20.3 million. We also
recorded transition expense associated with
establishing the new sick-leave payout program
which totaled $15.5 million, bringing the total
pilot contract transition cost to $35.8 million.

@gﬁ@%m@gmg Costs per Avaliable Beat Wile

Our operating costs per ASM are summarized
below:

Consolidated:
Total operating expenses per
ASMACASMY =y i REE 2.5
Less the following
companents; i
 Aireraft fuel, dincluding
. hedgind gaing and
losses i 310
New pilot contract
fransition costs o0 N
Fleet transition costs: . NM
CASM, excluding fueland
noted items ... o (44




| Mainline
| Total mainline operating
expenses per ASM ‘
(CASMY ... .. ... 0.96¢ 10.78¢ 1.7
Less the following component '
Aireraft fuel, including
hedging pains and -
losses s iiny 37 L2
New piiot contract
transition costs .. ... 0.15 NM

' CASM, excluding fuel and note
tems ... L

NM=-=Not Meaningful

CONSOLIDATED NONOPERATING INCOME
(EXPENSE)

Net nonoperating expense was $65.7 million in
2010 compared to $64.5 million in 20089,
Interest expense increased $4.0 million primarily
due to the ‘write-off of deferred financing costs
and prepayment penalties on debt prepaid in
2010, partially offset by lower averags interest
rates on ourvariablerate debtand a lower
average debt balance. Other—net nonoperating
income (expense)improved by $7.4 million
compared 10 2009 primarily due 1o larger
realized gains on the sale of marketable
securities.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Our consolidated effective income tax rate on
pretax income for 2010 was 38.1%; compared to
40.1% for 2009, The difference between the
effective tax rates for both periods and our
marginal tax'rate of approximately 37.9% is due
to.nondeductible expenses, such as employee
per-diem costs and stock-based compensation
expense recorded for certain stockawards.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL
RESOURCES
Our primary sources of liquidity are:

+ Our existing cash and marketable securities
balance of $4.1 billion {which represents
26% of trailing 12 months revenue) and our
expected cash from operations;

Aircraft financing—the 34 unencumbered
alreraft{as of December 31, 2011) inour
operating fleet that could be financed, if
necessary; /

Our combined $200 million bank
line-of-credit facilities (currently none
outstanding);

. Other potential sources such as a “forward
sale” of mileage credits to our bank partner.

In 2011, we paid off outstanding debt
associated with seven aircraft and a portion of
the outstanding debt for four additional aircraft
totaling $164.7 million. In addition, we
repurchased $79.5 million of pur common stock
in 2041 and completed our existing $50 million
Board authorization in January 2012. Finally, we
made a voluntary contributions to our defined-
henefit pension plans of $133.3 million in 2011,
although there were no funding requirements. We
will continue 1o focus on presenving a strong
liguidity position and evaluate our cash needs as
conditions change.

We believe that our current cash and marketable
securities balance combined with future cash
flows from operations and other sources of
liquidity will be sufficient to fund our operations
for the foreseeable future.
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In-our cash and marketable securities: por”nfoiso
we invest only in securities that meet ou varall
investment strategy of maintaining and securing

investment principal. Our investment portfoliois

managed by reputable financial institutions and

The table betow presents the major indicators of financial

Cashand markétable securitles L o0 o a a0
Cashand marketable securities a5 a percentage of trailing twelve months

FRVERIO o e e e e e e
Longterm debt, net of current portion ..\ 2.l iiisiie s v s
Shareholders” @QUily .. .. . i i s
Longterm debtlo-capital assuming alrcraft opefmmg eases are capitalized at

seven times annualized rent. i ol S a e e

ed to ensure that the
d with our strate
December 31, 2 we had a $12.2 million
unrealized gain on our $1.1 billion cash and
marketable securities balance.

condition and liquidity:

$4,2082 § (67.3)

32%  (6,0)pts |
1,313.0 j
1,105.4 67.8

67%:33% - (5.0)pts’

The following discussion s-»ummanzaas the pr;mary

dr;vera of the increase in our cash and \
marketable securities balance and our

expectation of future cash requirements.

ANALYSIS OF OUR CASH FLOWS

Cash Provided by Operat

During 2011, net cash provided by operating
activities was $696.0 million, compared to
$552.7 million during 2010, The $143.3 million
million increase was primarily driven by
nc*reased revenues during 2011, higher
advanced ticket sales, reduced cash spend on
aircraft rent, and increases in miles sold to our
Mileage Plan partners, partially offset by higher
fuel and nonfuel operating expenses,

We typically generate positive cash flows from
aperations, and expect to use a portion to invest
in-capital expenditures.

Lasty Used in invesling 4

Gurinvesting activities are primarily made up of

capital expenditures and, 1o g lesser extent,
purchases and sales of marketable segcurities.
Cash used in investing activities was $403.3
million during 2014, compared 10 $295.2 million
in 2010, Our capital expenditures were $387.4
miflion, or $202.1 million higher than in 2010
due to eight Q400 aircraft purchases and
advance deposits related 1o our delivery
schedule for the next two years.

l42]

In addition, we spent $107.9 million related m
the renovation of Terminal 6 at LAX as :
project progresses towards completion in hé
spring of 2012, For financial reporting purposes
we are considered the owner of the assets under
construction: When we transfer the project to Los
Angeles World Airports (LAWA), this asset will
remain-on-our balance sheet as we will not
gualify for sale accounting due to our continuing
involvement with the facility. As of December 31,
2011, we estimate that the total cost of the
project will be approximately $235.0 million, of
which $210 million will be reimbursed by LAWA,
Amounts that have currently been reimbursed
and future reimbursements will be included in
the consolidated statement of cash flows as a
financing activity.

We currently expect capital expenditures for
201210 beas follows (in millions):

 Aircraftrelated (a) . .. .. . S
CNoregircraft oL 0oL oo PR 85

Total Air GrOUp -« ov civvsars $455

{a) Includes two additional aircraft authorized subsequent 1o
December 31, 2011

The expected increase in capital expenditures

from 2011 is due to payments associated with
the deliveries of three B737-800 aircraft, three
B737-900ER, and advance deposits related to
our aircraft delivery schedule discussed later



under “Aircraft Purchase Commitments”. We
preliminarily expect 2013 capital expenditures 1o
be approximately $360 million.

Cash Used by Financing Activilies

Net cash used by financing activities was
$280.0 million during 2011 and $332.2 million
during 2040, During the current year we had
scheduled debt payments of $168.8 million;
debt prepayments of $164.7 million; and stoek
reptirchases of $79.5 million, offset by the
issuance of $106.5 million debt that was used
to pay-off existing debt with higher interest rates.

We plan to meet our capital and operating
commitments through internally generated funds
from operations and cash and marketable
securities on hand, along with additional debt
financing if necessary.

Bank Line-of-Credit Facility

The Company has two $100 million credit
facilities. Both facilities have variable interest

rates based on LIBOR plus a specified margin:

_ Borrowings on one of the $100 million facilities,
~ which expires in March 2013, are secured by

aircraft. Borrowings on the other $100 million
facility are secured by-certain accounts
receivable, spare engines, spare parts and
ground service equipment. During 2011, we
modified the second facility by extending the
term from March 2014 to March 2016 and
reduced the commitment fee. The Company has
no immediate plans to borrow using either of
these facilities. i

AWCTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND

e oty Bl ity oy o Al g
Commitments

Afreraft Purchas

Overall, we had firm orders to purchase 27
aircraft, as set forth below. We have options to
acquire 42 additional B737s and options o
acquire 10 Q400s.

The following table summarizes aircraft purchase commitments by year:

B737-800

'B737-900ER
Q400 (a)

{a) Includes two additional aircraft authorized subsequent to December 31, 2011

We expect to pay for the firm future aircraft
deliveries with cash on hand. If we exercise our
options for additional deliveries, we may finance

the aircraft through internally generated cash,
long-term debt, or operating lease arrangements.

|43
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ce for

cents per. ga lon and 11% Df oursecond quar‘{er ’?(}1? estimated purchases at an gverage price of 76
cents per gal lon ,Our crude oll positions are as follows:

First Quarter 2012
Second Quarter 2012

Third Quarter 2012
?{)Wh Quarter 2012

Full Year 2012 .

‘First Quarter 2018 . i

Second Quarter 2013 ... ... ...
[ Third Quarter 2013 ... ... ... ...
‘Fourth Quarter 2013 . Ly

Full Year 2043

Flrst Quarter 2044 ... ... .. ... e B 22% $ 98 $14
Second Quarter 2014 ... i e 16% $ 97 %4
Third Quarter 2014 ... ... .. . .. ... R o7 1% $ 94 oo $14

Fourth Quarter 2034 ... .. .. e e 6% $102 $12

Fall Year 2044 . ... ... ..., . 00 e e ey :M% : $ 97 514

o 3’:%‘6“5%;“&%&? ﬁiﬁ?ﬁg‘ﬁf;ﬁﬁ%

The followi ng table pmwde% jmmaz’y of our principal payments under current anci ioag term dabt
obl sga‘a ons, operating lease commi imemg asmraﬁ“ purchase commitments and other obligations as of
Dﬁmﬁﬁmber 34, 2011,

Current and long-term debt i o o / g
ohligations . .......... ... $207.9 $165.9 $122.3 $118.9 $116.5 $5754 $1,306.9

- Operating lease . - :
comm:tmnﬁts (a} s 2200000 4667 A1B3.3 . 4247 90.8 2422 . 89748
Aircraft purchase ) ; : i

commitments .. ... ... 3724 2893 1887 32.0 1.4 28 856.6

Imterest obligations (b) ... .. .. 63.9 53.3 45,2 40.0 34.8 79.6 316.6

Other obligations {¢) . . ..., .. £69.2 50.0 43.9 28.1 183 265 236.0

Total ..o e $913.5  $725.2 $523.4 $340.7 $261.6 $926.5 $3,690.9

(a) - Operating lease commitments generally include alroraft operating leases, alrport property and hangar leases, office space,
and ather equipment leases:
(b} For variable-rate debt, future obligations.are shown above using interest rates in effect as of December 31,2011,
() Includes minimum obligations under our fongterm powerbythehour maintenance agreements and obligations associgted
with third-party CPAs with SkyWest and Penhir. Referto the “Commitments” note in the consolidated financial statements for
further information.

| a4




PensionOb

The table above excludes contributions to our
various pension plans, which estimate.to be $35
million to $50 million per year, although there is
no minimum required contribution in 2012, In
both 2011 and 2010 , we made vearend
voluntary supplemental pension contributions of
$1.00 rhillion; bringing the-funding total in‘both
years to approximately $300 million. The
unfunded liability for our gualified defined-benefit
pension plans was $306.3 million at

December 34, 2011 compared to $200.3 milliorn
at December 31, 2010. This results.in an 81%
funded status on a projected benefit obligation
basis compared to 85% funded as of

December 34, 2010, The decrease in funded
status, despite voluntary contributions, is directly
due to a lower discount rate resulting in an
actuarial loss of $206.3 million, thus increasing
the projected benefit obligation and lower
projected asset returns.

Credit Card Agresmenis

We have agreements with a number of credit
catd companies 1o process the sale of tickets
and-other services. Under these-agreements,
there are malerial adverse change clauses that,
if triggered, could result.in the credit card
companies holding back a reserve from our
credit card receivables. Under one such
agreement, we could be required to maintain a
reserve if our credit rating is downgraded to or
below a rating specified by the agreement, Under
another such agreement, we would be obligated
to maintain a reserve if our cash and marketable
securities balance fell below $350 million. We
are not currently required to. maintain any reserve
under these agreements, but.if we were, our
financial position and liquidity could be materially
harmed.

RETURN ON INVESTED CAPITAL

We strive 1o provide a return to-our investors that
exceeds the cost of the capital employad in-our
business. Our target return-on invested capital
(ROICYis 10%. We surpassed this goalin:both
2011 and 2010, but have not historically
reached this threshold on average over our
husiness cycle.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The discussion and analysis of our financial
position and results of operations inthis MD&A
is based upon our consolidated-financial
statements. The: prepatation of these financial
statements requires us to make estimates and
judgraents that affect our financial position and
results of operations, See Note 1. 1o the
consolidated financial statementis for a

description of our significant accounting policies.

Critical accounting estimates are defined as
those that.reflect sighificant management
judgment and uncertainties and that potentially
may result in materally. different results .under
varying assumptions-and conditions.
Management has identified the following critical
accounting estimates and has discussed the
development; selection and disclosure of these
policies with our audit committee.

MILEAGE PLAN

Our Milsage Plan:loyalty program-awards miles to
mermber passengers-who fly onour airlines and
many of ourtravel partners. Additionally, we sell
mitesto:third parties, such as our bank pariner,
for cash. In either case; the outstanding miles
may be redeermed for travel on our airlines or any
of our-travel partners. As:long asthe Mileage
Plan is in.existence, we have an obligationto
provide this future travel.

For miles earned by passengers who fly on-us or
our travel partners, we recognize a liability and a
corresponding selling expense for the obligation
1o provide travel in the future. For miles soid to
third parties, the majority of the sales proceeds
are recorded as deferred revenue and recognized
when the award transportation is provided. The
commission component of these sales proceeds
(defined as the proceeds we receive from the
sale ofmileage credits minus the amount we
defer)yis recorded as othernet revenuein the
period that miles are sold. This represents
services provided by the Company toits
business parners andrelates primarily to the
use:of the Company’s'logo and tradermarks along
with access 1o the: Company's Mileage Plan
members, Commission revenue recognized for
the years énded December 31, 2011; 2010 and
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2009 was $138.2 million, $128.7 million and
$96.8 million, respectively. The deferred revenue
is recognized as passenger revenue when '
awards are issued and flown on'one of our ¢
airlines, and as othernet revenue for awards
issued and flown on partner aitlines.

At December 31,2011, we had approximately
124 billion miles-outstanding, resultinginan
aggregdate liability and deferred revenue balance
of $680.5 million. Both the liability and the
deferred revenue are determined hased on
several assumptions that require significant
management judgment Lo estimate and
formulate. There are uncertainties inherent in
estimates; therefore, an incorrect assumption
could greatly affect the amount and/or timing of
revenue recognition or Mileage Plan expenses.
The most significant assumptions in accounting
for'the Mileage ‘Plan are described below.

1. The rate at which we defer sales proceeds
from sold miles:

We defer anamount thal represents sur
estimate of the fair value of a free travel
award by looking to the sales prices of
comparable paid travel. As ourestimates of
fair value change, the amount we defer
changes; resulting in the recognition ofa
higher ordower portion of the cash proceeds
fromthe sale of miles as commission
revenue in any given period. A 1% increase
in the estimated fair value of travel awards
{andrelated deferral rate) would decrease:
‘commission revenue by approximately $2.4

smillion: This amount would instead be
recoghized in a future period whert-award
travel takes place.

2. The ni:mber of miles fhaf'wi!i not be
r@dsemed f‘or z‘rave} (breaskagfv*)

The iabassty for outstanding Mileage
Plan mileage credits includes all mileage
credits that are expected to be redeemed;
including mileage credits earned by
members whose mileage account balances
have not yet reached the minimum:mileage
credit level to redeem an award. Our
éstimates of the number of miles thatwill:
“not be redeemed (breakage) consider

historical activity in out members’ accounts
and other factors. A hypothetical 1 Q%
change i in OUF @stsmate of brezakagﬁ
’(currw‘riy 12% in the aggregate) has
approximately a $7 mitlion effect on the
liability.

3..The number of miles used per award (i.e.,

free ticket):

We estimate how many miles will be
used per award. For example, our members
may redéem credit for frée travel to various

{otations or choose between a h!ghiy
restricted award and an unrestr icted award.
Our estimates are based on the current
requirements in our Mileage Plan program
and historical travel redemption patterns.

4. The number of awards redeemed for travel
on our airlines versus other airlines:

The cost for us to carry an award
passenger is typically lower-than the cost we
will pay 1o our travel partners. We estimate
the number of awards that will be redeemed
o our alrlines versus on-our travel partners
and-accrue the estimated costs based or
historical redemption patterns.  the
number of awards redeemed on our travel
pattneris higher or lower than estimated,
we may need to adjust our iiabﬂzzy and
corresponding expense.

5. The costs that will be incurred to provide .
award travel:

When a frequent flyer travels on his oy
her-award ticket on one of our airlines,
incremental costs such as food, fuet and
insurarice are’incurred to cary that
passenger. We estimate what these cosis
will be (excluding any contribution 1o
overhead and profity and accrue a labilitg 1
the passenger travels on another airline on
an award ticket, we often must pay the other
aifline for carrying the passenger: The other
agitline costs are based on negotiated
agreements and are often substantially
higherthan the costs we would incur to carty
that passenger. We estimate how much we
will pay to other airlines for future travel



awards based on historical redemptions and
settlements with other carriers and accrue a
liability accordingly.. The.costs actually
incurred by us or paid to other airlines may
be higher or lower than the costs that were
estimated and accrued, and therefore we
may need to.adjust our liability.and
recognize a corresponding expense.

We regularly review significant Mileage Plan
assumptions and change our assumptions. if
facts and circumstances indicate that a change
is necessary. Any such change in assumptions
could have a significant effect on our financial
position and results of operations.

PENSION PLANS

Accounting rules require recognition of the
overfunded or-underfunded status of an entity’s
defined-benefit pension and other postretirement
plans as an asset or liability in‘the financial
statements and requires recognition of the
funded status in other comprehensive income.
Pension expense is recognized on an accrual
basis over employees’ approximate sewice
periods and is generally independent of funding
decisions orrequirements. We recognized
expense for our gualified defined-benefit pension
plans of $42.2 million, $50.2 million, and $93.0
million in 2041, 2040, and 2009, respectively.
We expect the 2012 expense to be
approximately $57 million.

The calculation of pension expense and the
corresponding liability requires the use of a
number of-important assumptions, including the
expected longterm rate of return-on plan assets
and the assumed discount rate. Changes in
these assumptions can result in different
expense and liability-amounts, and:-future actual
experience can differ from these assumptions:

Pension expense increases as the expected rate
of return on pension plan-assets decreases. As
of December 34, 2011, we estimate that the
pension plan-assets will generate alongterm
rate of return of 7.25%, which:is down 50 basis
points-from the expected rate at December 31,
2010. This rate was developed using historical.
data, the current value of the underlying assets,
as well-as longterm-inflation assumptions. We

regularly review the actual asset allocation and
periodically rebalance-investments: as
appropriate. This expected fong-term rate of:
returnon plan assets at December 31, 2014 is
based on an allocation of U.S. and non-U.S.
equities and U.S. fixed-income securities.
Decreasing the expected long-term rate of returm
by 0.5% (from 7.25% to 6.75%) would-increase
our estimated 2012 pension expense by
approximately $6.4 million.

Pension liability and future pension expense
increase as the discount rate is reduced. We
discounted future pension obligations using a
rate of 4.65% and 5.55% at December 31, 2011
and 2010, respectively, The discount rate at
December 31, 2011 was determined using
current rates earned on high-quality long-term
bonds With-maturities that correspond with the
estimated cash distributions from the pension
plans. Decreasing the discount rate by 0.5%
(from 4.65% to 4.15%) would increase our
projected benefit obligation at

December 31, 2011 by approximately $119
million and increase estimated 2012 pension
expense by approximately $10 million:

All of our defined-benefit pension plans are now
closed to new entrants. Additionally; benefits in
our non-union defined-benefit plans will be frozen
January 1, 2014,

Future changes in plan asset retums, assumed
discount rates and various other factors related
to-the participants in our pension plans will
impact our future pension expense and
liabilities. We cannot predict- what these factors
will be in the future.

LONG-LIVED ASSETS

As of December 31,2014, we had approximately
$3.4 pillion-of property and eguipment-and
related assets, net of accumulated depreciation:
I accounting for these long-lived assets, we
make estimates about the expected useful lives
of the assets, changes in fleet plans, the
expected residual values of the assets, and the
potential for impairment based on the fair value
of the:assets and the cash flows they generate.
Factors indicating potential impairment include,
but are not limited-to, significant decreases:in
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the market value of the longlived assets, =
management decisions regarding the future use
of the assets, a significant change in the long-

lived assets condition, and operating cash flow
losses associated with the use of the long-lived:
asset. R :

There is inherent risk in estimating the fair value
of our aireraft and related parts and thelr salvage

We haveinterest-rate risk on ourvariablesrate
debt obligations and our available-forsale
marketable investment portfolio, and commodity-
price risk in jet fuel required to operate our -
aircraft fleet. We purchase the majority of our jet.
fuelat prevailing market prices and seek 1o
manage market risk through execution of our
hedging strategy and other means. We have
marketsensitivesinstruments in the form of fixed:
rate debt instruments; and financial derivative
instruments used to hedge our exposure 1o
jet-fuel price increases and inlerestyate
increases.-We do-not purchase or hold any

derivative financial instruments for trading
purposes,

i

Viarhet Risk ~ Alrcraft Fuel

esne

Currently, our fuel-hedging portfolio consists of
crude oil call options and jet fuel refining margin
swap contracts. Both call options and swaps
effectively cap our pricing for the crude oil and
refining margin components, limiting our
exposure to increasing fuel prices for about half
of our planned fuel consumption. With the call
option contracts, we still benefit from the decline
i grude oil prices, as there is no future cash
exposure above the premiumis we pay to enter
into the contracts. The swap contracts do not
require an Upfront premium, but do expose us to
future cash outlays in the event actual prices are
below the swap price during the hedge period.
We believe there is risk in not hedging against
the possibility of fuel price increases. We'
estimate that a 10% increase or decrease in
crude oil prices as of December 31, 2011 would
increase or decrease the fair value of our crude
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values at the time of impairment. Actual
proceeds upon disposition of the aircraft or
related parts could be materially less than
expected, resulting in additional loss. Our
estimate of salvage value at the time of disposal
could also change, requiring us to increase the
depreciation expense on the affected alrcraft.

oil hedge portfolio by approximately $58.1
million and $46.1 million, respectively.

Our portfolio value of fuel hedge contracts was.
$106.6 million at December 31, 2011 compared
to a portfolio value of $131.3 million at
December 31, 2010. We do not have any
coliateral held by counterparties 1o these

agreements as of December 31, 2011,

We continue to believe that our fuel hedge
program is an important part of our strategy to
raduce our exposure to volatile fuel prices. We
expect 1o continue to enter into these types of
cgontracts prospectively, although significant
changes in market conditions could affect our
decisions. For.more discussion, see Note 3 to
our consolidated financial statemenis,

Financial Market R

We have exposure to market risk associated with
changes in interest rates related primarily 1o our
debt obligations and shortderm investment
portfolio. Our debt obligations include variable-
rate instruments; which have exposure 1o
changes Ininterest tates. This exposure is
somewhat mitigated through our variablevate
investment portfolio, A hypothetical 10% change
in‘the average interest rates incurred on variable:
rate debt during 2011 would correspondingly
change curnet earnings and cash flows
assotiated with these items by approximately
$0.5 million. Int order to help mitigate the risk of
interest rate fluctuations, we have fixed the
interest rates on certain existing variablerate
debt agreements over the past several years. -



Our variable-rate debt is approximately 23% of .. associated with changes in interest rates. If

our total long-term debt at December 31, 2011 short-term interest rates were to average 1%
compared to 20% at December 31, 2010. more than they did in 2011, interest income.

would increase by approximately $14.2 million,
We also have investments in marketable
securities, which are exposed to market risk

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

 Operating revenues . . .
Operating income . . .
Net income . .......
- Basic earnings per ..
share(a8) ..........
Diluted eamings per
per share (a) ....

!
{

{a) Foreamings per share, the sum of the quartérs may not equal the total for the full yea{r due to rounding.
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_REPORT OF §%@sm%zmﬁmmw?W;ﬁémwmmwmm ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and %arehoiders -

Alaska Air Group, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets of Alaska Air Group, Inc.

and ssui;s;ézaﬁes as of December 31, 2011 and
2010, and the related consolidated statements
of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash
flows for each of the years in the threeyear
peviod-ended December 31, 2044, These
consolidated financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsmmty i 10 express an opinion on

these conso sdat&d fmanaa% statem@nts based

mn our auﬁits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the
standards of the Public Cemp&ny Accounting
Oversight Boarﬁ (Umted States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on-a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures inthe financial
statements. An audit also-includes assessing
the-accounting principles used and significant
egtimates made by management, as well'as
evaluating the overall financial statement

I's01

presentation. We believe that our audits provide
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statementis referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of
Alaska Air Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the results
of their operations and their cash flows for each
of the years in the threeyear period ended
December 31, 2011, in conformity with

U.3. generally accepted accounting principles.

~ We also have audited, in accordance with the
 standards of the Public Company Accounting
. Oversight Baard (Uni ted States), Alaska Air
_ Group, Inc.’s internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on
criteria established in Internal Control-—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COS0), and our report dated
February 21, 2012 expressed an ungualified
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal contrel over financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Seattle, Washington
February 21, 2012



ALASKA AIR GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

Current Assetis

Cash and cash equivalents ... ... i e $-.. .89.5

Marketable GBCUITIES /. . e e e 118 7

Total cash and marketable securities . ... .. o0 Do 00T 1,208.2

Receivables-—less allowance for doubtful accounts of $0.8 and $0.9 . 1201

Inventories and supplies—net .. ... . ... 451

Deferrad INCOMEB TAXES « . o\ vt i e e 120.5
CFuelhedge contracts . ... . 61.4
 Prepaid expenses and other current assets . ... ... el 1087
Total Cumrent Assets .. ... 1, 662 0

 Property and Equipment
~Aircraft and o
| Other property and eqUIPMENT . ... ..o vw i in i s .
Deposits for future flight equipment ... ... o

3,807.6 |
647.8

: Less accumulated depreciation and amortization ... ... ..o L
Total Property and Equipment—DNet ... ... ... ... .. ... ... .
Fuel Hedge Contracts ... ... ... . it i
Other ASSels . .0l s

CTotal Assets ... ... ... e

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ALASKA AIR GROUP, INC,
CONSOLIDATED BALANGE SHEETS--{conting

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable ... .. .oooo0e. R R S I ’

Acerued ai i”*!‘aﬁ rent, ........................................... 434

Acerued wages, Vi , 1i86.6

- Other accrued liabilities S T ) 5012 |
AR Baffic HabIY e e e e e s - 4224

(,u{*"eﬁt gacrtaen of longterm debt . .......... e e e e 221.2°

Total {‘:urrent/ Liabilities .. ..........cocooiiii., e e 1424 j
P 1,313.0

P “'2\7‘9@

5 O D T N L LY T N R WA 4035

Obligation: fmmm n and postretirement medical benefits ... 00 3671
Otherhabnt}& 123.0.

1,473.5 5
Commitments anfi ﬁnntmgencws

Shareholders’ Equ;ty

Pretferred stock, $4 @az value Authorized: 5,000,000 shares, none issued
- or outstanding. . e b e e e n e s a  h e e b b e e ek e e e e i e e e a

Common stock, $i par value Authorized: 100,000,000 shares, Issued: s
2011-—37,866,522 shares; 2010-37,010,140 shares . .......... 37.0

Capital In excess of DArvalUS . ot s i e e e s e 815.5

Treasury stock (cormmon), at costy 2004 - 2,894,747 shaws ﬁ@iOm ,
LOBB, AT 2 8hares o u e e P (46.0)

Accumulated-other comprehiensive 108s ... ... e Ca (267.2)

RetaIned GBS .. i 3.

i

Total Liabilities and Shareholders” Equity .. .. ....................... -$5 016.6

- See accompanying riotes to consolidated financial statements,
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ALASKA AIR GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

- Operating Revenues
Passenger £
Mg o e L = $2,763.4 - $2,438.8
Regional ............. ... ... ...... e 725.2 668.6
C Total PASSENEEr IEVENUE .. .. .. . ittt . 13,4886  3,107.4

Freightand mail ... oo o ,‘ 106:2 95.9

T O Yy 237.5 186.5
- Total Operating Revenues .............................. 3,832.3 3,399.8
~ Operating Expenses v

Wagesandbenefits . ... .. oo i 960.9 988.1

Variable incentive Pay ... ..o i 92.0 76.0

Aircraft fuel, including hedging gains and losses .. ......... 900.9 658.1
- Aircraft maintenance . ... e 216.5 223.1
CAIFGTATL TN .ttt 138.9 153.7

Landing fees and otherrentals . ... ... .. ... ol 232.8 223.2

Contracted SemViCeSB . . . . 163.0 150.6

SEllING BXPENSES . ..ottt ettt 2 . 153.8 1318

Depreciation and amortization .. . .. .. o oo e 2305 219.2

Food and beverage Semvite . ... . .. i i 575 50.1

Other .............. e e e e e e = 200.7 243.9

Fleet transition and restructuring related expenses ... ... e 13.2 446
| Total Operating Expenses ................ R R . 3,360.7 3,132.4
COperatinglncome ..U L Lo o A471.6 267 .4

Nonoperating Income (Expense)

INTErest INCOMIE . . o0t e e e " 29.4 32.6
CINterest expense ... ... (108.3) (104.3)
Interest capitalized . ..., oo 6.2 7.6
COther—net ... 7.0 (0.4)
| 65.7) (64.5)
- Income before INCOME TaX . . . v vvvv vttt : 405.9 202.9
L INCOME TAX BXPENSE & it i . Al 154.8 81.3
CNELINCOIMIE . . e $ $.2511 %1216

Basic Earnings Per Share: . .....................ooiiinn. . $ 7.01 % 3.39

Diluted Earnings PerShare: . ............................ 5 $ 683 $ 3.36
. Shares used for computation: . ,

BaSIC e - 35.822 35.815
Diluted ... freeesaaeeelDE 861 36.786 36.154

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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i 'f”mmury stock issued under g

! Stuak issued under stock plan
- Balances at Decembper 34, 20

CBalane Dﬂc&mber 31, 20 36.275 $43.2

$ 09150  $(161.4)

2009 net income
Other comprehensivedincome (fos:
Related to marketable seaunm:}
Change infalrvalue . oo
Reclassification to et
Income taxeffect .. ... .01

Related to employee benefit p{éﬂs
Pension Lability adjustment, net of
$42 23 taxeffect . ..o
Postretirement medical 1 rahmty
ad;ustme’ﬁt netof $2.3 tax
ffECt . oL oL i
Officers supplemental retirement
“oplang net of $0.2 tax effect
Related to interest rate derivative
instruments: :
Change in fairvalue ... .00
“Income tax effect

Total comprehensive income
Purchase of treasury:stock . .
Stock-based compensation ...

..... (1.325) e

e 11.9
p:ims P E e Ee Al ey e
Delisting of treasury shares g

Stockiissued for employee atox:k

purchase plan’ ..

0.069 i e

ot (470.1)
0.185
0.387

2.9
7.3

1.5
178

"ol 1216

L)
ool

35,691 $767.0

(5.7)

3

$(240.0)

201008t INCOME -, iy
Other comprehensive income {lossh
Related to marketable securities;
Change in falrvalue , . oo o v
Reclagsification to earnings
Income tax effect

Related to employee: benefit pl ns:
Pension liabifity adjustment;
SRS B axeffect L. ...

Postretirernent medical liability

Total comprehensive income

adjustment; net of $1.7 tax
effect . Gii . sy

Officers s;u;}piemental,reteremem
plam, netof $1 6 taxeffect 1.
Rudted 10 interest rate derwanv@
instruments:
Changein-fairvalue .o |
income tax effect

O~

EAEN

fté
=

4.2)

$315{} $ 8723

ErEl i

[ SRR 2]
H223.9

- Purchase of tréasury stoek ..
Stock-based compensation . .
Treasury stock issued under stogk
IS e
Stoek issued for employee stock
DUICHESE PIAN o« .. i b e s
Stock isgsued under stock plans ... ... ..

Balances at Decémber 31, 2010, .

(45.1)
13.7

4.8

0.167 - -

0.016 - -
1.151 12 348
35924  $37.0  $8155

I

36.0
§566.1 $1,1054

$ (46.0) $(267.2)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ALASKA AIR GROUP, INC.

D STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY~{continued)

2011 netincome .. ... 00 :
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Related to marketable securities:

Change in fair value .. .00 G (1.2}
Reclassification to earningsi. . ... ... (2.5)
income tax effect . ... ..o 0oL 1.4
(2:3) (2.3)

Related to employee benefit plans:
Pension liability adjustment, net of

$73.4taxeffect .. L lv i (123.9) (123.9)
Postretirement medical liability
adjustment; net of $9.2 tax effect .. 15.3 15.3
Officers supplemental retirement plan, §
net of $1.0 taxeffect ..o (1.7) .7y
Related to interest rate derivative ‘
instruments: :
Change in fairvalue ... . (20:0)
income tax effect . ... oo o 9.8
(i 9.2) (10.2)
Totalcomprehensive income: v 0. ... 121.7
- Purchase of treasury stock . ..o o (1.309) e e (79.5) (79.5)
Stock-based compensation <L i L. — e 11.6 - 116
Treasury stock issued under stockplans . . . 0.004 e e 0.2 0.2
- Stock issued for employee stock purchase g : ,
o Ec £ T N 1 AR 0.063 0.1 2.7 e 2.8
Stock issued under stock plans .o ... 0.793 0.8 10.2 i 11.0
Balances at December 31, 20440 ... ... 35,475 37.9 840.0 (125.3) (390.0) 810.6. .. .4,173.2

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Form 10-K



Lash flow . ;,
Net income . . ' : ' 5 [ %1216
ﬁA(ijustments ic fecensﬁe net | m‘cmfa to net cash provided by operating i :
activ :
Fleet transiticn and restmcmrirzg refated charges .. .. ... ... ..., o132 . 243
Depreciation and amcrtizat“ ................... e ' 2305 2192
Stock-based compensation a 3(:5 other . ..o o o ' G 29

Changes in certain assets and liabilities: ' : i :
Changes infairvalues of open fuel hedge contracts . ........... . (14.3) 88.7)
Changes in deferred income taxes .......... e 1453 84.4
Increase (decrease) in airtraffic Hability. . ... ... o o L., sEmeBB I e g
Increase {decrease) indeferred révenue .o ..o o s 816y s
Increase (decrease) in other longterm diabilities ............... 287 69.1
Pension contribution .. ... .. ... 0. e e (150.5)  (152.8)
10 e L O O . B e B )

Net cash provided by operatinig activities . .. .................... B552.7 . 2925

Cash flows from investing activities:

Property and equipment additions: g ‘
Alrcraft and aircraft purchase deposits. . .. .. .. . . .. ... (138.8)  (367.2)
Other fHght equipment . e i e e e e (27:2) (30.6)
Other property and eguiDment . ..ot v e e e {19.5)  (40.6)

Total property and equipment additions = owive oo (185.3) (4384

Assets constructed for others (Terminal S at LAY .. on .. oo . 290y s

Purchases of marketable securfties .. 0 i e e e HAE22.0) (942.6)

Sales and maturities of marketable securities ... . oo, 0 00 N 931.0 7250

Proceeds from stpcsmen of assets-and changes inrestricted ! o

deposits ... Lo e R e 10 L)

Net cash used in investing actévitie&; ............... e e (295:2) 7 1(857.4)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of fongtermdebt .. ... ... ... ... — 2750

Proceeds from sale-leaseback transactions; net ................. - 230.0

Longterm debl payments . o iy s i e e e e e e (324.0) - (261.0)

Purchase of treasury STOCK .t 0o va it e e e (45.1) (23.8)

Proceeds and tax benefit from issuance of common stock ... ...... 365 13.0

Other financing activities .. ... e e e s (2:6) 12.8

Net cash {used in) provided by financing activities .. ............... .4 (332:2) 246.0
Netincrease (decrease)incash and cashaguivalents ... .. ...... ... (747 {1189
Cash-endcash eguivalents atbegitming of vear . ... .............. L 164.2 28341
Cash and cash equivalents et end ofvear . ... ... ..... ... ..., $ O B9E S840
Supplemental disclosure:
Cash paid (refunded) during the year for:
‘ Interest {(net of amount capitatized) ... .. $ 108.0- % 946

HCOMEIAXES « ot it i e e s i e s e e Ceae 0.4 (8:8)
Non<cash fransactions:

Relocation credit and assets constructed related to Terminal 6 at

LAX ............................. e e 7.4 e

Seeaccompanying notes torconsolidated financial statements:
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Alaska Air Group, Inc.
December 31, 2011

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. GENERAL AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization. and Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include
the atcounts of Alaska Air Group, inc. (Air Group
orthe Company) and its subsidiaries, Alaska
Airlines, Ine. (Alaska) and Horizon Air industries,
inc. {Horizon), through which the Company
conducts substantially all of its operations. All
significant intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated. These
financial statements have been prepared in
conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America and
their preparation requires the use of
management’s estimates. Actual results may
differ from these estimates. Certain
reclassifications have been made to conform the
prior year data to the current format.

Cash and Cash Eguivalents

Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid
investments with-original maturities -of three
months-orless. They are carried at cost, ' which
approximates marketvalug.The - Company
reduces cash balances when:checks are
disbursed. Due to the time delay in checks
clearing the banks, the Company normally
maintains @ negative balance inits cash
disbursement accounts, which-is reported-as a
current liability. The amount of the negative cash
balance was $26.0 million-and $23.3 million at
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively,-and
is included in accounts payable, with the change
inthe balance during the year included in-other
financing activities in‘the consolidated
statements of cashflows.

The Company has restricted cash-balances
primarily used to guarantee various letters of
credit, selfinsurance programs, or other
contractual rights. Restricted cash consists of
highly liquid securities with original maturities of
three months or less. They are carried at cost,
which approximates fair value. o

Marketable Securities

Investments with original maturities of greater
than three months and remaining maturities of
less than oneyear are classified as shortterm
investments, Investments with maturities beyond
one year may be classified as shortterm based
on their highly liguid nature and because such
marketable securities represent the investment
of cash that is available for current operations.
All cash equivalents and shortterm investments
are classified as available-for-sale and realized
gains and losses are recorded using the specific
identification method. Changes in market value,
excluding otherthantemporary impairments, are
reflected inaccumulated other comprehensive
loss (AQCL).

Investments are considered to be impaired when
a decline in'fair value is judged 1o be otherthan-
temporary. The Company uses a systematic
methodology that considers available
gquantitative.and-quslitative-evidence in
avaluating potential impairment. If the cost of.an
investment exceeds its fairvalue, management
avaluates, among other factors, general market
conditions, credit quality of debt instrument
issuers, the duration and extent to which the fair
value 1§ legs than cost, our intent and ability to
hold, ‘ot plans to sell; the investment. Once a
decline in fair value is determined to be other-
thantemporary, animpairment charge is
recorded to Othernet in the consolidated
statements of operations and a new cost basis
in the investment is established.

Repeivables

Receivables are due on demand and consist
primarily of airline traffic (including credit card)
receivables, Mileage Plan partners, amounts due
from other airlines related 1o interline
agreements, government tax authorities, and
other miscellaneous amounts due 1o the
Company, and are net of an allowance for

|57

Form 10-K



doubtful accounts. Managerent determines the &

allowance for doubtful accounts based on known
troubled accounts and historical experience
applied to'an aging of accounts,

Inventories and Supplles——net

Expendable aircraft parts, materials and supplies

are stated at average cost and are included in
inventories and suppli ies——net. An dbsolescence
allowance for expendable parts is accrued based

Property, Equipment and Deprec

_on estimated lives of the corresponding fleet

type and salvage values. Surplus inventories are
carried at their net realizable value. The
allowance for all non-surplus expendable

covinventories was $23.3 million aﬂdgfsz&(‘} miiltion

at December 31, 2041 and 2010, respectively.
Inventory and supplies—net also includes fuel
inventory of $19.6 million and $20.2 million at
December 31, 2011 and 2010, fesnectsveiy
Repsairable and rotable a;rcraft ;:zarts ;nvenmf
are included in fligh ht eqmpmen"

Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over their

estimated useful lives, which are as follows:

Aircraft and related flight equipment:

{

Capitalized leases and leasehold improvements

Computer hardware and SORWATE o\ ens ..
- Other furniture and equipment . . o0 . o v .

“Related flight equipment” includes rotable and
repairable spare inventories, which are
depreciated over the associated fleetife unless
otherwise noted.

Interest is capitalized on flight eguipment
purchase deposits as a cost of the related
asset, and is depreciated over the estimated:
useful life of the asset. The capitalized interest
is based onthe Company's weighted-average
borrowing rate.

Maintenance and repairs, other than engine
maintenance on-B737-400, -700 and -800
engines, are expensed when incurred. Major
modifications that extend the life orimprove the

usefulness of aircraft are capitalized and
depreciated over their es’ama‘t@:j period of use:
Maintenance on B737 400, 700 and -900
engines is covered under power»by~the~hour
agreements with third parties, whereby the
Company pays a determinable amount, and -
transfers risk, to a third party. The Company
expenses the contract amounts based on engme
usage.

E:

BQ&} ing 737-400/700/800/ 900 ,,,,, W
~ Bombardier Q400 .. .. ...... e e
Bui tdmgs ........................ e
Minor building and land m;)mvem@ms ,,,,,,,,,

....................

.....................

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

20 years .

15 years
25:30 years

10 years

.................... Shorter of lease term or |

estimated useful life
35 years
540 years

The Company evaluates longlived assets 1o be
held and used for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the
total carrying amount of an asset or asset group
may not-be recoverable. The Company groups
assets for purposes of such reviews at the
lowest level for which identifiable cash flows of
the asset group are largely independent of the
cash flows of other groups of assets and
liabilities, An impairment 10s8s is considered
when estimated future undiscounted cash flows
expected to result from the use of the agset or
assel group and its eventual disposition are less
than'its carrying amount. i the asset or asset
group is not considered recoverable a write-
down equal 1o the excess of the canying amount
over the fair value will be reccrded,

wally Used So1 wvﬁe Costs

The Company capitalizes costs to develop
intermnaluse software that are mcurred in the
apphcatlon deval@pment stage. Amomzataon .
commences when the software is ready for its
intended use and the amortization period is the



estimated useful life of the software, generally
three to five years. Capitalized costs primarily
include contract:labor and payroll costs of the
inclividuals dedicated to the development of
internal-use sofiware.

Deferred Kevepue

Deferred revenue results primarily from the sale
of Mileage Plan-miles o third-parties. This
revenue is recognized when awartd ransportation
is provided or over the term of the applicable
agreement:

Dperating Leaseas

The Company leases aircraft, airport and
terminal facilities, office space, and other
equipment under operating leases. Some of
these lease agreements contain rent escalation
clauses or rent holidays. For scheduled rent
escalation clauses during the lease terms or for
rental payments commencing at a date other
than the date: of initial-occupancy, the Company
records minimum rental-expenses on & straight:
line basis overthe terms: ofthe-leases inthe
consolidated: statements of operations.

sedd Alrpraft Hetvurn Cosls

Cash payments associated with retuming leased
aircraft are accrued when it is probable that a
cash payment will be made and that amountis
reasonably estimable. Any accrual’is based on
the time remaining on the lease, planned-aircraft
usage and the provisions included in the lease
agreement; although the actual amount-due to
any lessor upon return will not'be known with
certainty until lease termination.

As leased aircraft are returned, any payments
are charged against the established accrual: The
accrual is part of other current and longterm
liabilities, and was $2.1 million and $2.8 million
as of December 31, 2011 and December 31,
2010, respectively.

Revenue Recognition

Passenger revenue is recognized when the
passenger travels. Tickets sold but not yet used
are reported-as air traffic liability until travel or -

date of expiration.Commissionsto travel agents
and related fees are expensed when the related
revenue is recognized. Passenger traffic
commissions and related fees not yet recognized
areincluded as a prepaid expense. Taxes
collected from passengers, including
transportation excise taxes, airport and security
fees and other fees; are recorded on a net basis
within passenger revenusg in the consolidated
statements of operations. Due to-complex
pricing structures, refund-and-exchange policies,
and interline agreements with-otherairlines,
certain amounts are recognized as revenue using
estimates regarding both the timing of the
revenue recognition and the:amount of revenue
to berecognized. These estimates are basedon
the Company's historical data.

Passenger revenue also includes certain
“ancillary” or non-ticket revenue such as
reservations fees, ticket change fees, and
baggage sewice charges. These fees are
recognized as revenue when the related services
are provided, :

Freight and mall revenues are recognized when
gervice is providad. e

Other—net revenues are primarily related to the
Mileage Flan and they are recognized as
described inthe “Mileage Plan” paragraph
below. Other—net also includes certain ancillary
revenes such as onboard food and beverage
sales, and to a much lesser extent commissions
from car and hotel vendors, and from the sales
of travel insurance. These items are recognized
as revenue when the services are

provided. Boardroom (airport lounges)
memberships are recognized as revenue over the
membership period. /

Alaska operates a frequent flyer program
{“Mileage Plan”)that provides travel awards 1o
members based on accumulated mileage. For
miles earned by flying on Alaska or Horizon and
through airline partners, the estimated cost of
providing free travel awards is recognized as a
selling expense and accrued as a liability as
miles are earned and accumulated.

I59]
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Alaska also sells miles to nonsairire parthers
such ashotels; car rental agencies; and a major:
bank that offers Alaska Aitlines affinity credit
tards, The Company defers the portion of the i
sales proceeds that represents the estimated
fairvalue of the award transportation and
recognizes that amount as revenue when the
award transportation is provided. The deferred:
proceeds are recognized as passenger revenues
for-awards redeemed and flown on Alaska or
Horizon, and as othernet revenue for awards
redeemed and flown on-other aitlines {less the
coslpaid to the other aitline). The portion of the
sales proceeds not deferred js retognized as
commission income:in the period that the
mileage credits-are sold and included in other
revenue-=net in the consolidated statements of
operations.

Alaska's M”Sdgb Plan daferred :erveanu@ and
liabilities are included under the fol iowmg
consolidated balance sheet captions at
December 31 (in millions):

Current Liabilitles:
Other acoryed
liabilities .. .......2

Other Liabilities and c;edits
Deferred revenue
Other liabilities 0. ;

Total rEra T

The amounts recorded in other accrued liabllities
relate primarily to deferred revenue expected 1o
be realized within one year, including $38.5.
million and: $43.0 million at December 81; 20471
and 2010, respectively, associated with Mileage
Plan awards issued but not yet flown,

Alaska's Mileage Plan revenue is included under
the following consolidated statements of
operations captions for the vears ended
December 31 {in millionsy;

Passenger
fevenues .
Othernst
revenues
Total Mileage
o Plan
reventies .-

1853 1515

- $189.5  $182.1

L 60|

Other==net revenues includes commission e
revenue of $138.2 million, $123.7 million, and:
$96.8 million in 20141, 2010, and 2009,
respectively s : i

- Exponses

Selling expenses include credit card fees, global
distribution systems chardes, the estimated cost
of Mileage Plan free travel awards eamed
through air fravel, advertising, promotional costs,
commissions, and incentives. Advertising
production costs are expensed the first time the
advertis ng takes place: Advertising expense was
$16:1 million, $16.0 miilion, and $16.8 million
during the years ended December 31, 2014,
2010, amerQO@, reaspective)iy; ,

wwwmfﬁm Wiﬁm*mm In: Wummi% :

The Company's oberations are faig;mfmant;y
impacted by changes in aircraft fuel prices and
interest rates. In an effort to manage our
exposure to these risks; the Company
pericdically enters intofuel and interest rate
derivative instruments. These derivative
instruments ate recognized at fair value ob the
balance 8?’}&3@“{ and changes inthe fairvelue is
recognized in AQCL or in the consolidated

statements of operations, deper;dmg onthe
nature of the instrument. :

The Company:does not hold-or issue derivative
fuel hedge contracts for trading purposes and
does not-apply hedge accounting. For cash flow
hedges related to ourinterast rate swapsithe
effective portion of the derivative represents the
change in fair value of the hedge that offsets the
change in fair value of the hedged item. To the
extent-the change in the fairvalue of the hedge
does not perectly offset the change in the fair
value ofthe hedgw item, the ineffective portion
of the hedge is-immediately recognized in
interest emms@

remants

Accounting standards define fair value as the
exchange price that would be received for an
asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price)
inthe principalor most advantageous market for
the asset or liability incan orderly transaction



between market participants on the -

measurement date. The standards aiso esiablmh

a fair value hierarchy, which requires an entity to
maximize the use of observable inputs and
minimize the use of unobservable inputs when
measuring fair value. There are three levels of
inputs that may be used to measure fair valus:

Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2—0bservable inputs other than Level 1
prices such as guoted prices for similar assets
or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are
notactive; or other inputs that are observable or
can be corroborated by observable market data
for substantially the full term of the assets or
liabilities.

Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported
by little or no market activity and that arg
significant to the fair value of the assets or
liabilities.

The Company has elected not 1o use the Fair
Value Option for nonfinancial instruments, and
accordingly those assets and liabilities are
carried at amortized cost. For financial
instruments, those assets and liabilities are
carried at fair value and are determined based
on the market approach or income approach
depending upon the level of inputs used.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and lability
approach for accounting and reporting income
taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recoghized for future tax conseqguences
attributable to differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assets
and liabilities and their respective tax bases, and

.. for operating loss and tax credit carryforwards,

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
using enacted tax rates expected to apply to
taxable income in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected 1o be
recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is
recognized in the period that inciudes the
enactment date. A valuation allowance would be
established, if negessary, for the amount.of any
tax benefits that, based on available evidence,
are not expected 1o be realized; The Company
accounts for unrecognized tax benefits.in
accordance with the accounting standards.

o Compensation

Accounting standards require companies to
recognize as expense the fair value of stock
options and other equity-based compensation
issued to employees as of the grant date. These
standards apply to all stock awards that the
Company grants to employees as well as the
Company's Employes Stock Purchase Plan
(ESPP), which features a Jook-back provision and
allows employees to purchase stock at a 15%
discount. All stock-based compensation expense
is recorded In wages and benefits in the
consolidated statements of operations:

Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing net income
by the average common shares outstanding plus
additional common shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the exercise of
inthe-money stock-options and restricted stock
units, using the treasury-stock method. In 2011,

2010, and 2009, 0.1 million, 0.1 million, and
2.1 million stock options, respectively; were
excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS
because they were antidilutive.

le1]
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D MARKETABLE SECURITIES

624
40.1
1022

Money market funds i i ........................
Cash and cash equivalents . ..o o viaie L

404
102.2

U.5. government and agency securities ..o 292.5 34 s 295.9
Foreign governmientbonds . ... ool i 24.9 0.5 e 25.4
Assetback securities ... ooo o ioicl oL 582 O 10.3) 58.0
Mortgage-back securities .07 o auunna L 1241 Tt (0.3 124.9
Corporate notesand bonds . .00 000 oo L. 518.0 70 (24 B22.6
Municipal-securities ... ..o i L 11.8 0.1 e 419
Marketable securities . . ... 000 R e ~1,029.5 12.2 (3.0) 1,038.7

.................... $4,131.7 $1,140.9

Us gavemmem ané agenzy secutities oo ie . .ok ; 43 1. ;
Foreign govemnmentbonds v v iiviiiie . oo 450 08 - (0.2) 441.8
Asset-hack Securties & v viuiis mr it « o« o ua s 517 0:3 0:3) 547
Mortgage-back securities ..o il e o e 1257 1.0 {42 4255
Corporatenotesandbonds ... ... . oo 4141 9.7 (0.5) 420.3
Municipal securities . . ... o v e e 6.5 0.2 e 6.7
Marketable securities .. ... ... ... ... RN 1,105:8 163 (84 L0487
Fotal . oo oo T {1 P %1395 $16.3 $(3.4) $:L,2C>1~B..‘2w

Of the marketable securities on hand at:
December 34, 2044, 23.4% mature in 2012
35.8%4n-2013, and 40.8% thereafter.

Activity for marketabie securtti@s for the y@ara
ended December 31 {inmillions); .

Proceeds from sales and
maturties oo, vl
Gross reglized gains ...
Gross realized losses 1L
Otherthandemporarily
impainnents on
investments .. ..........

$931.0 $725.0
104 7.0
2.3 2.3
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Investments with continuous unrealized losses (in millions):

%

sset-backed obligations , (0.1 )
Mortgage-backed obligations : 35.1 (0.2) )
(2.4) : )

Total ... .. o0 oo oo e $204.2  $(2.7) $4.0  $(0.3) $208.2  $(3.0)

)

- U.S. government and agency securities $163.3 1.2 v $ $163.3

 Foreign government bonds ............... e (0.2) 41.6

- Assetbacked obligations ........ ... 156 : 02y A8

Mortgage-backed obligations 51.4 AY (0.8) 60.2
Corporate notes and bonds Cen . . e B2.4 .

Total .. : 2) 8544 $(1.2) $345.0  $(3.

Unrealized losses from fixed-income securities thantemporary impairments based on our
are primarily attributable to changes in interest evaluation of available evidence as of

rates. Management does not believe any December 314, 2014,

remaining unrealized losses represent other-

NOTE 3. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

Fuel Hedge Contiacts

The Company’s operations are inherently selected instruments falls below specified

dependent upon the price and availability of mark-to-market thresholds.

aircraft fuel. To manage economic risks

associated with fluctuations in aircraft fuel In the fourth quarter, in an effort to reduce the

prices, the Company periodically enters into call premium expense of hedge contracts in 2012,

options for crude oil and swap agreements for jet the Company. sold a portion of its existing crude

fuel refining margins. The Company is exposed 1o oil contracts with maturities in 2012, and k4
credit losses in the event of nonperformance by purchased new positions with a higher strike 9
counterparties o these financial instruments, price for the same period. This reduced the e
The Company periodically reviews and seeks 1o premiums associated with the 2012 positions, 2
mitigate exposure to the counterparty's financial and.increased the average strike price of the e
deterioration and nonperformance by monitoring 2012 portfolio from $92 per barrel to $100 per

the absolute exposure levels, and the harrel There was no net impact to the income
counterparty’s credit rating. The credit exposure statement during the period due to the contracts

related to these financial instruments is limited being marked-to-market each period.

to the fair value of contracts in a net receivable \

position at the reporting date. The Company also As of December 31, 2011, the Company had

maintains security agreements that require the fuel hedge contracts outstanding covering

Company to post collateral if the value of 421.1 million gallons of crude oil that will be
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settled from January 2012 to December 2044,
Refer to the contractual obligations and

‘ agreements including interest s'ai‘e '
Int gzm it gggg §§¥§§§? ﬁg T : ' reset dates; termingtion ciates and %}ﬂd&!‘ ing
' notionat values: The agreements expire fmm
The Company has interest rate swap agreements February 2020 through March 2021 to cammde
with a third parly designed to hedge the volatility ~ with the lease termination dates.
of the underly lying variable interest rate in the

¥

Company s aircraft lease agreements for six

Fuel hedge contracts
Fuel hedge contracts, current assets
Fuel hedge contracts, noncurrent assets
Fuel hedge contracts, current liabilities
Derivative Instruments Designated as Hedges
interest rate swaps
Other accrued liabilities
Other liabilities

The net cash received (paid) for new positions The Company expects that $5.2 million to be
and settlements was $15.9 million, $(16.3) reclassified from AOCL into eammgs within the
million, and $(60.5) million during. QO:L:L 2010 next twelve months

and 2009, re%pectwely

Pretax effect Qf derivative mstrum@nts on eamings (fuel hedges) and AOCL (mterest rate swaps}
December 31 (in mlihans) , :

Derivative Instruments Not Designated as Hedges
Fuel hedge contracts - il . ~
Gams A{losses) remgmzed in alrcraft fuel expense . $(2.0) $284

Derivative Instruments E}essfgnatm as Hedges
%ntemst rate swaps.
“Gains (losses) recopnized inaircraftrent Lo ... S 61y

The amounts shown as recognized in earnings
for cash flow hedges represent the realized
gains/(losses) transferred out of AQ CLto
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NOTE 4. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair-Value-of Financial instruments on a Recurring Basis

Fair values of financial instruments on the consolidated balance sheet (in millions):

Assets .
Marketable securities

U.8. government securities ..., ..
Foreign government bonds ... ... 0.
Asset-back securities .. ... .. e
Mortgage-back securities . Ui .
Corporate notes and bonds ..........
Municipal securities .. ....... ... ..

Derivative instruments

Liabilities
‘ Derivative instruments

Fuel hedge contracts  ...... S
Interest rate swap agreements ........

Assets

Marketable securities

U.S. government securities . .........
~ Foreign government bonds .. .. ..... ..
Assetback securities ... ... ...
Mortgage-back securities . ........ ...
Corporate notes and bonds .. ...... ..
Municipal securities . ... .. .o

Derivative instruments
Fuel hedge contracts .. ...........

Liabilities:
Derivative instruments

Interest rate swap agreements .. ..., ..

Fuel hedge contracts ...............

..................

...................

.................. — 4186 418
................... — 51.7 51.7
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, — 1255 1255
................... - 420.3  420.3
................... T 6.7 6.7

....................

wox o e e e R R E R R

.. $2959 8 —  $295.9
................... — 254 25.4
- 58.0 58.0
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, — 124.9 1249
................... — 5226 5226
................... — 11.9 11.9

— 1169 1169
—  (10.3) " (10:3)
S~ (288) (288)

................... $4729 $ — $472.9

313 1313

f— (8.8) (8.8)

The Company uses the market and income
approach to determine the fair value of
marketable securities. U.S. government
securities are Level 1 as the fair value is based
on guoted prices in active markets, Foreign
governments bonds, asset-back securities,
mortgage-back securities, corporate notes and
bonds, and municipal securities are Level 2 as
the fair value is based on industry standard
valuation models that are calculated based on
observable inputs such as quoted interest rates,
yield curves, credit ratings of the security and
other observable market information. '

The Company uses the market approach and the
income approach to determine the fair value of
derivative instruments. Fuel hedge contracts are
overthe-counter, are not exchange traded and
determined based on observable inputs that are
readily available iy active markets or can be
derived from information available in active,
quoted markets. Interest rate swap agreements
are Level 2 as the fair value of these contracts is
determined based on the difference between the
fixed interest rate in the agreements and the
observable LIBOR-based interest forward rates at
period end, multiplied by the total notional value.

les]
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The Company has no other financial assets that
are measured at fair value on a nonrécumng
basis at December 31, 2011. ,

Eair- Va lue: o @iﬁ@i‘

The Comgany used the followi ing methods and
assumptions to determine the fair value of
financial instruments that are not recognized at
fair value as described below,

Cash and Cash Equivalents: Carried at amortized
costs which approximates fair value.

vartabie~rate'deht"approxsmates fair values. For

fiedrate debt;the Company uses the income

approaoh to determine the estimated fair value,

by using discounted cash flow using the

Company's curtent borrowing rate.

Fixed-rate debt that is not carried at fair value on
the consolidated bal ance sheet anc? the
estimated fair value of iong “term ﬁxed#at& debt
as of December 31 {in millions):

$1,233.6
285.0

NOTE 5. ASSETS CONSTRUCTED FOR OTHERS (TERMINAL 6 AT LAX)

2009, the Company announced plans to move
from Terminal 3:to Terminal 6 at LAX, The iotal
project is-estimated to cost approximately $235
millionand is comprised of @ new baggage
system for LAX, renovations of Terminal 6
including additional gates, new common use
systems, expansion of securily screening
checkpoints, and a new ticket lobby, all of which
is expected 1o be completed in the spring of
2012,

in 2011, the Company signed a funding
agreement with the City of Los Angeles and
LAWA, which would reimburse the Company for
the non-proprietary renovations such as a
common use areas, new baggage system,
security checkpoint, and new ticket lobby, while
the Company will.-not be reimbursed for
proprietary renovations at the new gates included
in‘Terminal 6: The Company -anticipatés that the
riorreimbursable share of the project will be
approx matefy $25 million, The majority of the
construction costs will be reimbursed during or
at the completion of construction.

For accounting and financial reporting purposes,
the Company is considered to be the owners of
the project during construction and will not be
able to gualify for sale and leaseback accounting
when the non-proprietary assets are transferred
to the City of Los Angeles due to the Company’s -
continuing involvement with the progeat As a
rmuit, all of the costs mcumse(i to fund the
project are included in “Other propmy and
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equipment” and all. amounts that have b@em and
will be reimbursed will be in “Other liabilities” on
the balance sheet. As of December 31, 2011,
$152.1 million was capitalized and included in
“Other property and equipment”, while $17.7
million was included in “Other liabilities.”

The assets will be depreciated over the life of
the lease based on the straightline method,
while the liability will amortize on the affective
interest method based on the lease rental
payments. Because the Company will only
operate a small portion g;}f the gates in the new
terminal, the asset and liability will depreciate
and amortize to an estimated fair value at the
end of the legse term, at which time we may sell
the assets and derecognize our obllgataon m* we
may extend our lease term. :

Additionai%y, as part of the praject we capitalized
interest of $4.5 million, which will depreciate
over the lease term in connection with the
associated assets, The Company also deferred
interest income of $6.2 million, related to the
interest paid by LAWA in connection with our
financing of the pmgect which will be recognized
over the-lease period.

Futlre. minimum payments related to the
Terminal 6 lease are inciuded/in’fagiiizy leases
described in Note 9, while the expected capital
expenditures in 2012 are estimated to total
approximately $83 milfion. ,



NOTE 6. LONG-TERM DEBT

Longterm debt obligations were-as follows at
December 314 (in millions):

Fixedrate notes payable due

through 2024
Variablerate notes payable due
through 2024 ... ... ... ..

Longtermdebl... ... ... ...
Less currentportion . ..o

$1,233.6

Weighted-average fixed-interest .
FELE . 58 6.0%
Weighted-average variable-interest . o

FATE . e . q9% 1.8%

All of the Company’s borrowings were secured by
aijrcraft,

During 2011, the Company made scheduled. debt
payments of $168.8 million. The Company also
prepaid the full debt balance on seven
outstanding aircraft debt agreements and-the
partial debt balance on four outstanding aircraft
debt agreements totaling $164.7 million. In
addition, the Company borrowed approximately
$106.5 million for six of the Q400 aircraft
delivered in 2011.

At December 31, 2044, long-term debt principal
payments for the next five years and thereafter
are as follows (in millions):

Total principal payments -« vuw v o v v o $1.,306.9

Eank Ling. ol

The Company has two $100 million credit
facilities. Both facilities have variable interest
rates based on LIBOR plus a specified margin.
Borrowings on one of the $100 million facilities,
which expires in March 2013, are secured by
aircraft, Borrowings on the other $100 million
facility are secured by certain-accounts
raceivable, spare engines, spare parts and
ground service equipment. During 2011, we
modified the second facility by extending the
term from March 2014 to March 2046 and
reduced the commitment fee, The Company has
no immediate plans to borrow using either of
these facilities. These facilities have a
requirernent to maintain a minimum unrestricted
cash’and marketable securities balance of $500
million.. The Company is in compliance with this
covenant at December 31, 2014, '

o
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NOTE 7. INCOME TAXES
mmm Income Taxes:

Deferred income taxes reflect the. impam of
temporary differences between the canying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and such amounts for tax
pUrposes.

Deferred tax (assets) and labilities comprise the
following at December 31 (in millions):

Excess of tax over book

depreciation ... ......... S 6600
Fuel hedge contracts .... .. ; ' B
Other—net .......ooia... 169
Grogs deferred tax 1abalmes 1 685.6
Ma!eage Plan: i wienst o s : (237.2)
AMT and other tax credits .. (B7.5)
Inventory obsolescence ... .. . (16.5)
Deferred gains Lo voou o0 (15.9)
Employes benefits oo ovoi (1791
Loss-carviomwards (@) o0 v 4.4
Fuel'hedge contracts . ..o, S
Other—net oo oo, (159
Gross deferred tax assets. ... (626.2)
Net deferred tax liabilities .. 3 153 4
Current deferred tax asset .- $(120.5)
Noncurrent deferred tax

fiability «. o0 R ﬁ?g?

$1459.4

Net deferrad tax lability

PR O D R R

(a)" The Federal loss Can’nyhNWd of $E‘3’ “? mnhon
million tax éffected) expires in 2031; State loss
carryforwards of $59.0 million ($3.3 million tax effected)
@xpire beginning in 2014 and ending in 2031,

As a result of certain realization requirements of
ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation,
the table of deferred assets and liabilities shown
above does not include certain deferred tax
assets at December 31, 2011, that arose directly
from the tax deductions related to equity
compensation in excess-of compensation
recognized for financial reporting. Those deferred
tax assets include $10.3 million of loss
carryforwards, in which additional-paid-incapital
will be increased if and when such deferred tax
ssets are ultimately realized. The Company uses
ASC 740 ordering for purposes of determining
when excess tax benefits have been realizecd.

| es

The Company has concluded that it is more likely
than not that its deferred tax assets will be -
realizable and thus no valuation allowance has
been recorded as of December 31, 2011, This
conclusion is based on the expected future
reversals of existing taxable temporary
differences, anticipated future taxable income,
and the potential for future tax planning
strategies to generate taxable income, if needed.
The Company will continue to reassess the need
for a valuation allowance during each future
reporting petiod,

e Tax Expense

Compon

The components of income tax expense were as
follows (in millions): ,

Currerit tax expense
(benefit):
Federal . ool
SIALE cuwics v

Totab current ool

[ Deferred tax expense!
Federal oo
State - o v ;

Total deferred ...

Total tax expense
related to income . ..

Invome Tax Rate Beo

Income tax expense reconciles to the amount
computed by applying the U.S. federal rate of
35% to income before income tax and accounting
change as follows (in millions):

imct)me before
incometax ... ..
Expected tax

$405.9 $202.9

eXpense ... ... 142.1 71.0
Nondeduetible

gxpenses ... ... 1.8 34
State income

taxes . ... ... , 107 5.5
Other—net .. ...... L ﬁﬁ ﬁw}mz
Actual tax
oexpense ...... . $154.8 ¢ 81.3
(Eff@ctive tax rate . . 38.1%  40. :1%

i o i

< pernronnamrpiend




Uneertain Tax Positions

The Company has identified its federal tax retum
and its state tax returns in Alaska, Oregon, and
California as “major” tax jurisdictions. A
surmmmary of the Company’s jurisdictions and the
periods that are subject to examination are as
follows:

Federal .. ... . .. .. . . . . ... 200910 2010
Alaska ... 0 oo 2008 10 2040
CCalifornia oL el 2007 1o'20107
Oregon & . onn . dvis v ot vt 2 2002 10 2010

The 2002 to 2007 Oregon tax returns are
subject to examination only to the extent of net
operating loss carryforwards from those years
that were utilized in 2010 and later years.

NOTE 8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Four defined-benefit and five defined-contribution
retirement plans cover various employee groups
of Alaska and Horizon. The defined-benefit plans
provide benefits based on anemployee’s term.of
service and average compensation for.a
specified period of time before retirement.. The
qualified defined-benefit pension plans are
closed to new entrants.

Alaska also maintains an unfunded,
noncontributory defined-benefit plan Tor ¢certain
elected officers and an unfunded,
non-contributory defined-contribution plan for
other elected officers.

Accounting standards require recognition of the
overfunded or underfunded status of an entity's
defined-benefit pension and other postretirement
plan as an asset or liability in the financial
statements and requires recognition of the
funded status in AOCL.

Changes-in the liability for unrecognized tax
benefits during 2009, 2010 and 2011 are as
follows (in millions):

Balance at January 1,
Additions based on tax
positions and
seftiements related to
theprioryear .. 0. ..
Additions based on tax
positions and
settlements related to
the currentyear .. ... ... 0.2 0.1
Reductions for tax positions -
of prioryears L. o oil oL
Lapse of statute of
Hmitations ... ... .o .
- Balance @t
December 31, ..

At December 34, 2044, the total amount of
unrecognized tax benefits is recorded as a
liability, all of which would impact the effective
tax rate. Nointerest or penalties reiated to these
tax positions were accrued as of

December 31, 2011

i Pension Plans

The Company's pension plans are funded as
reguirad by the Employee Retirement. Income
Security Act of 1974 (ERISA). The defined-benefit
plan agsets consist primarily of marketable
equity and fixed-income securities. The Company
uses a December 31 measurement date for
these plans.

ssinptions used fo
jigations as of

Discount rates of 4.65% and 5.55% were used
as of December 34, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. For 2014, the rate of compensation
increase used varied from 2.94% to 4.17%,
depending-onthe related work group: For-2010,
the rate of cornpensation increases was 2.99%
to 4.35%.

l6o|
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years ong

Discount rates of 5.55%, 5.85%, and 6.20%
were used for the years ended

December 31, 2044, 2010, and 2009,
respectively. For all three vears, the expected
return on plan assets used was 7.75%, and the
rate of compensation increase used varied from
2.99% to 4.35%, depending on the plan and the
related work group.

indetermining the discount rate used; the
Company's policy is 1o use the rates at the end
of the.year on high-quality long-term bonds with
maturities that closely match the expected timing
of future cash distributions from the plan. In
determining the expected return on plan assets,
the Company assesses the current level.of
expected returns on risk-free investments
{primnatily government bonds), the historical level
of the risk premium associated with the other
asset classes in which the portfolio is invested
and the expectations for future returns of each
asset class. The expected return for each asset
class is then weighted based on the target asset
allocation to develop the expected long-term rate
of return on assets assumption for the porfolio.

Plan assets are invested in common commingled
trust funds invested in equity and fixed income
securities. The asset allocation of the funds in
the gualified defined-benefit plans, by asset' -
category, is as follows as of the end of 2011 and
201.0:

Asset category:

Money market fund . .. .. ... vy 2%
Domestic equity securities .. ... .. 51%
NonU.S. equity securities .. ... ... 18%
Fixed income securities . ... ... 29%
Plan assets .o oo il v 100%

The Company s investment policy focuses on
achieving maximunmi returns at e reasonable risk
for pension assets over a full market cycle. The
Company uses a fund manager and invests in
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various asset classes to.diversify risk. Target
allocations for the primary asset classes are.
approximately: o

' Domestic equities: . ... ... criiier o AB% B5%
P NonlLS, equities: ... oo e AT%-23%
CFlxed income: ..o 25% - 35%

Pension assets are rebalanced periodically to
maintain these target asset allocations. 4n
individual equity investment will not exceed 10%
of the entire equity portfolio. Fixed-income
securities carry a minimum “A” rating by Moody's
and/or Standard and Poor's.and the average life
of the bond portfolio may not exceed ten years.
The Company does not currently intend 1o invest
plan assets in the Company's common stock.

The Company made a $100 million contribution
to the plan in December 2010 and another $100
million contribution to the plan in

December 2011, which were distributed
immediately to investments in accordance with
the target asset allocations.

As of December 34, 2041, other than the money
market fund, all assets were invested in common
commingled trust funds. The Company uses the
net asset values of these funds to determine fair
value as-allowed using the practical expediency
method outlined inthe accounting standards.
The fund categories included in plan assets as of
December 31, 2011 and 2010, their amounts,
and their fair value hierarchy level are as follows
(dollars in millions):

Fund type:
Money.market fund .
U.5. equity market

fund ...
Non-U.S. equity

fund ..o 000
U:Sidebt index

fundsc o oan o onan
Government/credit

bond index fund .

‘Plan assets ......... $1,



Nongualified: Defined-Benelit Pension Plan

Alaska also maintains an unfunded,
noncontributory defined-benefit plan for Gertam
elected officers. This plan uses a December 31
measurement date.

3 Bg"é“m??é?e benefit a%i;ggfmm:s
Decomber 34:

Discount rates of 4.65% and 5.55% were used as
of December 31, 2011 and 2010 respectively.

Combined Disclosures for Definet-Benelit Pensi

ijected beneﬁt obligation (PBO) o :
Beginning of year ... ... i

CService COSt Lo e T
dinterest cost L oS

Planamendments .. ... ... . ... ... ..
Actuarial loss Lo s SN
‘Benefits paid ...

CEndofyear (... T

Plan assets at fair value

Beginningofyear ©..... .. . . 00 o oo
Actual return on planassets .. ... oL
Employer contributions ... .. . oo oo
Benefitspald .. ... .. .

Endofyear ... e
Funded status (unfunded) . ... .00l

Percent funded .. ........... e

The accumuiated benefit obligation for the
combined qualified defined-benefit pension plans
was $1,483.0 million and $1,232.1 million at
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The

The following table sets forth the status of the plans for 2011 and 2010 (in millions):

“The rate of compensation increase used was

5.00% as of December 31, 2011 and 2010.

Weighted ‘average assumptions used to
determine net periodic benefit cost for the
vears ended December 34

Discount rates of 5.55%, 5.85%, and 6.20%
were used for the years ended December 31,
2011,-2010, and 2009, respectively. The rate of
compensation increase used was 5.00% for all
three years presented.

on Plans

906.9
.. 538 1280

accumulated benefit obligation for the
nongualified defined-benefit plan was $41.8
million and $40.4 million at December 31, 2011
and 2010, respectively.

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets were

as follows (in millions):

Total liability recognized ...... ... ... ...,

Accrued benefit Hability-current ... ... L
Accrued benefit Hiability-long term ... .. ...

..... ' 406 2003

38.8
$200.3  $41.1

{71
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/ i . S . s
- Prior service credit
Netloss .. ......

AMOUNTS NOT YET REFLECTED IN NET PERIODIC BENEFIT COST AND INCLUDED IN AOCL:

The expected amortization of priorsepice cradit
andnet loss from AOCL N 2012 s $1.0 million
and $39.6 million, respectivaly, for the gualified
defined-benefit pension plans. Forthe

nongualified defined-benefit pension plans, the
expected combined amortization of prior service
cost and net loss from AOCL in 2041 is
$0.8 million.

Net pension expense for the defined-benefit plans included the following components-for 2044, 2010,

and 2009 (in millions):

‘Servicecost ... ... '
Interest cost oo, ..

| Expected return on assets .. ... ..., T
Amortization of prior service cost .., i
Curtailment 1088 . . ... ... o i i e

Recognized actuarial loss .. ..o o0

Net Qeasi_on’ eXpense ... ... i

Historically, the Company's practice has been 1o
contribute to the qualified defined-benefit
pension plans in an amount-equal to the greater
of 1) the minimum required by law, 2) the
Pension Protection Act (PPA) target liability, or 3)
the service cost as actuarially calculat
\ ' ng requirements for the

15 in 2012, However, the funding
in 2012 is estimated to be $35 million to $50
million. The Company expects 1o contribute
approximately $2 million to the nongualified
defined-benefit pension plans during 2042,

| 7]

$32.3 $44.2
67.7  66.9
(70.9)  (51.3)

(0.9) 4.3

22.0 28.9

Future benefits expected to be paid over the next
ten years under the défined-benefit pension
plans from the assets of those plans as of
December 31, 2011 are as follows (in millions):

2016 .. TR 76.5




Pastretireiment WMedical Benetils

The Company allows retirees 1o continue their medical, dental, and vision benefits by paying all or a
portion of the active employee plan premium until eligible for Medicare, currently age 65. This results in
a subsidy to retirees, because the premiums received by the Company are less than the actual cost of
the retirees’ claims. The accumulated postretirement beénefit obligation (APBO) for this subsidy is
unfunded. This liability was determined using an assumed disgount rate of 4.65% and 5.55% at
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The Company does not believe the U.S. Health Care
Reform: The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and The Health Care and Education

Reconciliation Act will have a significant impact.

Accumulated postretirement benefat obligation

Beginningofyear ....... ... .. .. .. 000 e
ServiCe COST ... .. i e e s
Interestcost . 0L ool L e
Actuarial (ain) oSS oo i e

(Benefits paid. .o e .
_End of year

| Plan assets at falr value

Beginning of year ... .. .. O A e
Employer contributions .. .. .. oo oo v
: Benefits paid . ....... ... e e e

Endofyear .. i i e i e s
Funded status (unfunded) ..., ... o oo

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the
amounts recognized in the consolidated balance
sheets were as follows (in millions):

| Accrued benefit liability-carrent:
| Accrued benefit liability-long term . .

Total liability recognized .. .. .. ..

H

AMOUNTS NOT YET REFLECTED IN NET
PERIODIC BENEFIT COST AND INCLUDED
IN AOCL:

Priorservice cost .. ... ...

S Netloss ... il Sl 1200
Amount recognized in AOCL ’
L (pretax) .o SR ; $22.8

No expected combined amortization of prior
service cost and net loss from AOCL in 2012.

The Company uses a December 31
measurement date 1o assess obligations
associated with the subsidy of retiree medical
costs. Net periodic benefit cost forthe

g@fgz:a)

postretirement medical plans included the
following components for 20114, 2010 and 2009
{in-millions)

$ 53 % 56
6.7 7.8

- Sepvice cost
Cimterestoost Lol L L
| Amortization of prior service

LcostL el - 2.0
' Recognized actuarial 10ss . .., 1.2 f

h PSS Tt

Net periodic-benefit cost .0

This is an unfunded plan. The Company expects
to contribute approximately. $4 million to the
postretirement medical benefits plan in 2012,
which is equal to the expected benefit payments.

Future benefits expected to be paid overthe next
ten years under the postretirement medical
benefits plan as of December 31, 2011 are as

2012 .. $ 4.1
2003 .0 4.7
2014 ... oL 5.5
2015 ... R T 6.4
20LB sk ik s e 7.2
201720214 i . 4718
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The assumed health care cost trend rates to
determine the expected 2012 benefits cost are
8.6%, 8.6%, 5.0% and 4.0% for medmal \
prescription drugs, dental and vision costs,
respectively. The assumed trend rate declines
steadily through 2028 where the ultimate
assumed trend rates are 4.7% for medical,
prescription drugs and dental, and 4.0% for
vision. ’ ’

A 1% higher or lower trend rate in health care
costs has the following effect on the Company's

and 2009 (in millions):

Change inservice and interest
cost ;
CA% higher trend rate . . .
1% lower-trend rate .. .. .
Change.in yearend
p%imtnemem benefit

1% higher trend fate . . . . . $48.0 %14.4
1% lower trendrate ... .. (13.8) (12.4)

afined-Contribution Plans

The defined-contribution plans are deferred
compensation plans under section 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code. All of these plang require
Company contributions. Totalexpense for the
defined-contribution plans was $42.0 million,
$40.0 million, and $28.6 million in 2014, 2010,
and 2009, respectively. The increase in 201048
due to pilots that elected to freeze or reducer
thelr service credits in the defined-benefit
pension plan receiving a higher-Company
contribution under the new collective bargaining
agreement.

The Company also has a noncontributory,
unfunded defined-contribution plan for certain
elected officers of the Company who are
ineligible for the nonqualified defined-benetit
pension plan. Amounts recorded as liabilities
under-the plan are nobmatedalio.the
consolidated balance sheet at

December 31, 2011 and 2010,

saeem Disability Benefits

The collective bargaining agreement with
Alaska's pilots calls for the removal of longteim
disability benefits from the defineddenefit plan”

bra |

postretirement medical plans during 2011, 2010

for any pilot that was not-already receiving long:

_term disability payments prior to January 1,
‘:‘“2010 As a result o €
of $32. & million associated with assumed future

‘plan change, t  PBO

disabifi ty payments was removefj from the overall
defined: beneﬁt pension plan liability in 2009,
$29.6 million of which was recorded through
AQCL. Furthermore, the/removai of the plan from
the defined-benefit pension plan reduced the
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation
for medical costs-as-the new plan no | &nger
considers longterm di sabmty to be “retsrement
from the Company.

The new long-term disability plan removes the
service requirement that was inplace under the
former defined-benefit plan. Therefore, the
liability is calculated based on estimated future
benefit payments associated with pilots that
were assumed to be disabled on a longterm
basis as of December 31, 2011 and does not
inctude any assumptions for future disability. The
liability includes the discounted expected future
benefit payments and medical costs: The total
Hability at December 31, 2011 is $8.4 million
which is recorded net of a prefunded trust
account of $0.9 million; and is included in long
termy other liabilities onthe consolidated balance
sheets,

Employee Incentive-Pay Plans

Alaska and Horizon have employee incentive
plans that pay employees based on certain
financial and operational metrics. The aggregate
expense under these plans in 2011, 2010 and ©
2009 was-$71.9 million; $92:0:million; and
$76.0 million, respectively. The plans are
summarized below:

Performance-Based Pay (PBP) is a program
that rewards virtually all employees. The
program is based on four separate metrics
related to: (1) Air Group profitability,

{2) safety, (3) achievement of unitcost
goals, and {4) emplovee engagement as
measured-by customer satisfaction.

The Operational Performance Rewards
Program entitles all Alr Group employees:
quarterly payouts of up 1o $300 per persan
ificertain operational-and customer service
objectives-aremeti '



NOTE 9. COMMITMENTS

Future minimum fixed payments for commitments as of December 34, 2014 (in millions):

Total o $722.6

$252.2

Lease Commitments

At December 31, 2011, the Company had lease
contracts for 60 aircraft, which have remaining
noncancelable lease terms ranging from two to
over ten years. Of these aircraft, 14 are
non-operating (i.e. not in our fleet) and subleased
to third party carriers. The majority of airport and
terminal facilities are also leased. Rent expense
was $274.9 million, $294.5 miliion, and $303.1
million, in 2044, 2010, and 20089, respectively.

Commitinents

The Company is committed 1o purchasing six
Boeing 737-800 aircraft and 19 Boeing
737-900ER aircraft, with deliveries in 2012
through 2015 at December 31, 2011, with
options to purchase an additional 42 Boeing 737
aircraft. The: Company also has options to
purchase an additional ten Q400 aircraft.

Capacity Purchase Agresments {CPAs)

At December 31, 2011, Alaska had CPAs with
three carriers, including our wholly-owned
subsidiary, Horizon, Beginning January 1, 2011,
Horizon sold 100% of its capacity under a CPA

with Alaska. On May 14, 2011, SkyWest Airlines,
Ing, began flying certain routes under a CPA with
Alaska. In addition, Alaska has a CPA with PenAir
to fly certain routes in the state of Alaska. Under
these agreements, Alaska pays the carriers an
amount which is based on a determination of
their cost of operating those flights and other
factors intended to approximate market rates for
those services. Future payments {excluding
Horizon) are based on minimum levels of flying
by the third-party carriers, which could differ
materially due tovariable payments-based-on
actual levels of flying and cerlain costs
associated with operating flights such as fuel.

The Company had power-by-the-hour
maintenance agreements for all Boeing 737
engines other than the Boeing 737-800 at
December 31, 2011, These agreements transfer
risk to third-party service providers and fix the
amount the Company pays per flight hour in
exchange for maintenance and repairs under a
predefined maintenance program. Future
payments are based on minimum flight hours.
Accordingly, payments could differ materially
based on actual flight hours.

NOTE 10. CONTINGENCIES

The Company is a party to routine litigation
matters incidental to its business and with
respect to which no material liability is expected.
Management believes the ultimate disposition of

these matters is not likely to materially affect the
Company's finangial position or results of
operations. This forward-looking statement is
based on management’s current understanding
of the relevant law and facts, and it is subject to
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various contingencies, including the potential

costs and risks associated with ht;gatmn and the

actions of arbitrators, ;udges‘s and juries)

The SEC has formally notified Mr. Ayer that the .
inquiry discussed in our 201 0 Form :iO K hab
been closed. '

NOTE :1.1 SHAREHGLl)ﬁRS EQUiTY

Common gfﬁcﬁ; Repurchase

In June 2011, the Board of Directors authorized

a $50 million share repurchase program, which
was completed in January 2012, In.June 2010,

the Board of Directors authorized.a $50 million

share-repurchase program, which was completed
in Aprit 2044, In June 2009, the Board of
Directors authorized a $50 million - share
repurchase program, which was completedin
May 2010.

Share repurchase activity as of December 31 (in-millions, except shares):

?OM Rebumhasé Pfogramw
’?010 Repurchase Program .. ... . S
| 200@ R@pumha% Program ™0

Retirement of Treasury Shares

, —_—§ — o
3.2 355,000 18.8 e e
o 645,748 . 263 1,324,678 ?ﬁ éS

1,000,748 - $45.4. 1,324,578 \35223.83

in 2009, the Company retired 7,900,000 cormmon shares that had been held intreasury. This acr ion
did not impact the totalnumberof common shares outstanding.

Actumulated Other Comprehensive Loss (AL
ACCL consisted of the following at December 31

{(in millions, net of tax):

Unrealized gain on marketable securitie
- Related to pension plans
| Related to postretirement medical benefits
| Related to interest rate derivatives . ..........

5. considered availablefor

,,,,,,,,,,,

NOTE 12. DETAIL OF OTHER FINANCIAL STATEMENT CAPTIONS

Receivables

Receivables consisted of the following at
December 31-{in-millions);

Alrline-traffic recelvables ... ..
[ileage Plan receivables . .. ..
Other réceivables .. ... ... ..
“Allowance for-doubtful
accounts

 Prepald

z’ Prepaid-fusk 0000 o0 o0 EERN

Prepaid Expenses and Other Gurrent Assels

Prepaid expenses and other cutrent assets
consisted of the following at December 31
{in miflions):

maintenance . . ...
Prepaid ¢ ard and travel &
COMMIBSIONS . ... v et .

Or her i UL CENTHE A I




Other assets consisted of the following at
December 314 (in millions):

Restricted deposits (primarily = .
rgstricted investments) .. .. $ 830
Prepaid aircraft rent ... oo ... 1
Deferred costs and other ... ... -

Deferred costs and other includes deferred
financing costs, lease deposits and other items.

© ke Acorued Liabilities
Other accrued liabilities consisted of the
following at December 31 (in millions):
i

Mileage Plan current

labilities ... ... ... .. .. $278.0
Property and transportation
TAXES ..ot 67.0
Fuel hedge contracts ... ... e
Cinterest rate swaps ... ... .. 6.0

Postretirement medical benefits
flability ... ... . .. ..

- Pension liability (nongualified
Olans) ..o o
Other ..o v v

Other consists of accruals for ground operations,
facilities rent, maintenance, and fuel, among
other items.

NOTE 13. STGQK~BASE!) COMPENSATION PLANS

The table below summarizes the components of
total stock-based compensation for the years
ended December 31 (in millions):

Stock options .. ... ... ...
Stock awards .. ... .. ...
Deferred stock awards . ...

Employee stock purchase

plan . ... o Lo oo ,

I Stock-based i

L compensation ..

Tax benefit related to stock-
. based compensation ...

Unrecognized stock-based compensation for
nonvested options and awards and the
weighted-average period the expense will be
recognized for the year ended

December 31, 2041 (in millions):

Stock options .
Stockawards . ............... 8.9 1.7

Unrecognized stock-based
compensation . ....... ... .. $8.8 1.7

The Company has various equity incentive plans
under which it may grant stock awards to
directors, officers and employees. The Company
also has an employee stock purchase plan
(ESPPY.

The Company is authorized 1o issue 6,900,000
shares of common stock under these plans and
as of December 31, 2041, of which 2,507,982
shares remain available for future grants of
either options or stock awards.

Block Options

Stock options to purchase common stock are
granted at the fair market value of the stock on
the date of grant. The stock options granted
have terms of up 1o ten years.

2 FPonm 10K




The fair value of each option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option:
pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions used for grants in the years ended
December 31 ‘ , - o

& i S

| Expected volatility . ... ... U Ll A . 55%  B2%
CEXDECTRL LI Lt o e et e e e e 6 years 6 years
Riskfree interestrate ... ... ... .. P S £ v 2.78% 2.01%
Expected dividend yield . ..o oiiiin cieni S e —_—
Weighted-average grant date falrvalué pershare .. ... o o000 000 $18.05 $14.00
Estimated fair value of options granted (millions) . ... ... . 000, $ 23 % 55

The expected market price volatility is based:on the historical volatility. The expected term is based on
the estimated period of time until exercise based on historical experience. The risk-free interest rate is
based on the U.B. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grant. The dividend vield is zero as
the Company does not pay dividends and has no plans to do so in the immediate future. The expected
forfeiture rates are based on historical experience.

The tables below summarize stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2011:

i
Outstanding, December 31, 2010 1,146,520 $30.27
Granted 73,861 61.23

Exercised . ...... ... e, (562,883) 30.00
Forfeitedorexpired . ... ... . . i i {6;700) 2813 0 o

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 650,798 $34.03

CExercisable, December 31, 2041 . .. . o 176,203 5$358.51
Vested or expected to vest, December 31, 2011 ... ... 647,590 334.03;

Intrinsic value of option exercises ................ T
- Cash received from stock option exercises ......... G .
| Tax benefit related to stock option-exercises. .. .. ... Ul R

Fairvalue of options vested . ... ... .. . L . e
Stock Awards several tranches of PSUs which vest when
performance goals and market conditions are

Restricted stock units (RSUs) dre awarded to
eligible employees and entitle the grantee to
receive shares of common stock at the end of
the vest period. The fair value of the RSUs is
based on the stock price on the date of grant.
The RSUs “cliff vest” after three years, or the
period from the date of grant to the employee’s
retirement eligibility and expense is recognized
accordingly. Performance Share Unit (PSUs) are
awarded to certain executives to recelve shares
of commeon stock if specific performance goals
and market conditions are achieved. There are

met,
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The following table summarizes information about outstanding stock awards:

g?s%§@s*fgﬁ Stock ﬁw&?{k

Deferred Stock Units (DSUs) are awarded to
members of its Board of Directors as part of
their retainers. The. underlying common shares
are issued upon retirement from the Board, but
require no future service period. As a result, the
entire intrinsic value of the awards is expensed
on the date of grant.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP)
The ESPP allows employees to purchase
common stock at-85%. of the stock price onthe
first day of the offering period or the specified
purchase date, whichever is lower, Employees

‘568 085 $29.5
117,406 61.28

..... (2B0,857)  22.87
..... (26,714) - 32.6%

,,,,, 397,820 $39.54 1.0

may contz bute uz:x ] 10% of the ir base earmngs
during the offering period to purchase stock.
Employees purchased 62,782, 15,549, and
184,488 shares in 2011, 2010, and 2009
under the ESPP.

Other items

Subsequent to year-end the board of directors
appraved a stock-split. Refer to Note 16 for
further details

NOTE 14. FLEET TRANSITION AND RESTRUCTURING RELATED EXPENSES

The table below summarizes fleet transition and restructuring related expenses for the years ended
December 31 (in millions): :

Total

M@W% Figez‘ ?!aﬁsﬁiﬁf‘

in 2011, Horizon completed its transition to an

1-Q400 fleet, which included the sublease of
CRJ-700 aircraft to a third-party carrier and
removal of all residual CRI-700 inventory.
Additionally, Horizon removed all Q200 aircraft
from operation in 2009 through either lease
termination or sublease. In 2011, the Company
terminated the underlying subleases and sold
the remaining Q200 aircraft.

Horizon Fleet Transition—CRJ700 . ......... ..
Horizon Fleet Transition—Q200 . ..............
Horizon RESUCTUMNG . . . oo o oo e
| Alaska New Pilot Contract Transition . ... ...

Hovizon Restructuring

During 2040, the Company announced its
decision to outsource the remaining heavy
maintenance functions for Horizon aircraft. As a
result of this decision, Horizon eliminated
approximately 100 positions in the maintenance
division resulting in a charge for separation pay.

Mlaska New Piot Contract Transition

During 2009, Alaska announced that its pilots,
représented by the Air Line Pilots Association,
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ratified & new fouryear contract. Among other
items, the Qontract has a provision that allows

balance multiplied by their hourly rate: Pilots also
recﬂ:ved a.one-t time cash bonus fotiowmg

NOTE 15, OPERAT?NG SEGMENT INFORMATION

Ajr Group has two operating airlines--Alasks
Airlines and Horizon Air. Eachiis a regulated
airline with separate management teams.
Effective January 1, 2011, Horizon's business
model changed such that 100% of its capacity is
sold to Alaska under a capacity purchase
agreement (CPA). Prior to 2011, Horizon
operated a hybrid model where it sold a portion
of its capacity to Alaska and had its own
passenger revenues. Additionally, Alaska signed
a-signed a capacity agreement with SkyWest in
May 2011, and continued its CPA with PenAir. To
manage the two operating airlines and the
revenues and expenses associated with the
CPAs, management views the business in'three
operating segments.

Alaska Mainline—The 737 part of Alaska’s
business with average stage lengths greater
than 1,000 miles.

Alaska Regional-—Alaska’s shorter distance
network. In this segment, we record actual
on board passenger revenue, less costs
such as fuel, distribution costs, and
payments made to Horizon, SkyWest and
Penair under CPAS , i

|80

Hotizon—Horizon operates regional aircraft.
All of Horizon’s capacity is sold to Alaska
unider a CPA, Expenses included those
typically borne by regional airlines such as
crew costs, ownership-costs,; and
maintenance costs.

All intercompany revenues and expenses
between Alaska and Horizon are eliminated in
consolidation, and these changes have no
impact on the consolidated results. Prior year
segment financial results have been recast to
report the current management approach.

Additionally, the following table reports “Air
Group adjusted”, which is not a-measure
determined in accordance with GAAP. The
Company's chief operating decision-makers and
others inmanagement use this measure 1o
evaluate operational performance and determine
resources allocations, Adjustments are further
explained below in reconciling to consolidated
GAAP results,



Passenger

Mainline ...« ... on. $3,1782 $ -~ $ - $ - $3,176.2 % — $3,176.2
Regional ....... ... ..cu.t — 7745 e e 774.5 e 774.5
Total passenger
revenues ............ 3,176.2 7745 e e 3,950.7 e 3,950.7
CPATBVENUES ... ... e i 369.4 (369:4) - e e
Freightand mail ... .. ... 104.6 4.9 108.7 108.7

OHBFNET 4 vt vt c et it v e ans o 249.9 0.5 258.4 258.4
Total operating revenues .... 3,630.7 7789 4,317.8 ‘
Operating expe . o
Operating expenses, excluding
Cofuel (D) L e 2,015.4 5435 2,532.3
CEconomic fuel ()i v o 1,404.2 . 166.4 1.267.6
Total operating expenses . : 3,799.9
i
riterest income ..o 0.3 2.3 21.9 1.9
Cinterest expense ... (72.2) i (17.2) 2.4 (87.3) e (87.3)
Other ..o et 8.9 B 1.3 e 10.2 — 10.2
(39.4) - (15.6) 0.2) (55.2) .. (55.2)

income {loss) before income
tax

$ 3747 $ 690 $ 217 % (27 % 4627 $(89.0) $ 3937

Passenger = o i
Mainline o Doy aie e o $2,763.4 - - $2,763.4 % -~  $2,7634
Regional . .. ..o i s — 1 330.8 725.2 e 725.2
Total passenger -
FEVENUES iii e v i s 2,763.4 394.5 0.1 3,488.6 e 3,488.6
[CPATEVENUES ..., uiihasiin. . - 274.4 (274.4) - - -
CFreightand mail . ..... ... AN 101.9 1. 2.5 e 106.2 e 1086.2
TOthernet .. o v s e e 228.8 , 8.6 e 2375 e 237.5

Total operating revenues ... ..... 3,094.1 5 680.C 3,832.3 3,832.3

Opet .
| Operating expenses, excluding
fuel(h) ... e
Economic fuel{c) .. ...

Total operating expenses
HNonop
nterest income.. . L ii o F 34.8 3.6 (90 294 29.4

Cnterest expense . L. oL SRR L (96.5) - - (20.5) 8.7 {108.3) e (108.3)
v Other ... . e e 13.4 e 0.4 e 13.2 e 13.2
(48.8) e (16.8) 0.3) (865.7) e (65.7)

Income (loss) before income :
AN $ 3743 % 336 $ 228 0§ (3.3) 0§ 4244 $(185) $ 405.9;

lg1]

&




Mainline .. ... 824388 5§ — § — $2,4388 $ —  $2,4388

Regional 668.6 668.6
Total passenger
revenues . ... .. 24388 2867 3819 e 3,407 4 R 07 .4
CPA revenues ........... . e - 261.7 (261.7) e e
CFreight and mail ... c o ST 91.5 1.7 2.7 . 95.9 = 95.9
- Othernet 3 14 8.4 : 186.5 o065
9 654.4 » 3,399.8 ]

Gperatmg expenses, excluding
fuelito) e e
. Economic fme; (c) ............ 622.7 1242 0 =

| Tm;al operating expenses | ... d 533 (5]

A
Interest income ..

. . 2.0 8 32.6
| interest expense ... oL L L 9% 0.1 7.5 3) (104.3)
:, COther ... R TN 8.4 et 0.1 {1.0) 7.2 s 12
| / (45.0) lid (18.0) (1.5) (64.5) — (64.5)
income {loss) before income
fax .o ?;> 139.0 $ 9.0 $ 7.7 5 (5.8 $ 1499 % 5’3.53 $ 2029

(a). The ddjusted column represents the financial information that is reviewed by ma nagement 1o assess perfarmance of’
owr&ticms and determme capital allocations and does not include cert incharges,

Referto | ote 1 for a summdry of special charpges for each respestive period.

R@presems ag ;uatmeﬁts t& reflect the timing of gain or logs recognition tesulting from marktcr afket fuef—hedg& ascauﬁt ng.

“Alaska (a) .......... )
, ‘H\orszon
S Parent company

_Consalidated .. ..opis. ..., o , . , ) $ 2305 §321.9,.2

 Naska (a) ... .... R, L AR, S L S : $ 1662 $357.5
Horizen ... e M RISt 18 - 809

Consolidated . ; , . $ 1853 %4384

Aiasr(a @y, o s T $ 4,610. .’2
Horizon oo, ., oon N TN Shaas 74T
Parent company: . R = e R R 13756
Elimination of intercompany aceounts . ... .. e oo e (1,716.4)

Consolidated .. cuiiiry oL UL R e : $5,016.6

(a) mcm are no depreciation expenses, capital pr@ndnures or assets associated with purchased capaa ity fymg at A!a ka




NOTE 16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS e
On F&bn’xé{ry 15, 2012, the board of directors ~ stock split will increase the Company’s

declared a two-for-one split of the Company’s outstanding shares from approximately

common stock to be accomplished by means of 35.5 million shares to about 71.0 millior

a stock distribution. The additional shares will be shares. Our historical outstanding shares will be
distributed on March 16, 2012, to the recast upon-the distribution.

shareholders of fecord on'March 2, 2012; The

Below is an estimate of the pro forma affects of the stock split on the Company’s Shareholders’ equity.

Shareholders Equity
Preferred stock, $1 par value Authorized: 5,000,000
shares, none issued or outstanding . e R o $ e
Common stock, $1 par value (a) Authorized: 100 000, OOO
shares, lssued (b): 2011—37,866,522 shares,

2010--37,010,140 Shares . ... v 37.9 37.9
Capital inexcess of parvalue ......... ... ... ... 840.0 840.0

Treasury stock (common), at cost (¢): 2011—2,391,747
shares: 2010—1,086,472shares .......... ... ... {125.3) (125.3)
Accumulated other comprehensive 1088 ... ... . . (390.0) (390.0)
Retained amiNES .« oo WM@O.E& mﬁ‘i{).@
$1,473.2 $1,173.2

(a) Paris «'educed fo $0.50
{b) Shares issued increase as follows: 2011-75,733,044; 2010~74,020,280
(¢) Treasury shares increase as follows; 2041--4,783,494; 2010--2,172,344

Below is an estimate of the pro forma affects of the stock split on the Company’s EPS.

CNEtINCOME © v e e e e $ 2445 e & 2445

Basic Earmnings Per Share: ... ... ... ..o 5 6.81 (3.40) $ 3.41
Diluted Eamings Per Share: . ........ . .. i s $ B.66 (3.33) $ 3.33
Shares used for computation:

B aGIC e e e 35.878 35.878 71.756
Diluted ... 36.710 35 ?10 73.420
Additionally, the board of directors approved a Furthermore, the board of directors authorized
stock repurchase program authorizi '}g the Horizon to purchase two Q400 aircraft in April
Company to purchase up to $50 million of its and June 2012 and sell two Q400 aircraft in the
common stock with available cash on hand. fall of 2012.
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None

EVALUATION OF DISCLO
CONTROLS AND PROCEDU
The Company's management, with the
participation of the Principal Executive Officer
and Principal Financial Officer, conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e)) as of the end of
the period covered by this report. Based on that
evaluation, the Principal Executive Officer and
Principal Financial Officer congluded that the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures
were effective as of the end of the period
covered by this report.

CHANGES IN INTERNAL ¢
OVER FINANCIAL %EF{;_ {7

There have been no changes in the Company's
internal controls over financial reporting during
the fourth quarter of 2011 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT oN

émmm %ﬁ%@&%ﬁm
Our management is responsible for astablishing
and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting, as such term is defined in
Exchange Act Rule 12845, Under the
supervision and with the panticipation of our
management, including our principal executive

|84l

officer and principal financial officer, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectivenesy of
our internal control over financial reporting based
on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (the COSO Framework): Based on

“our-evaluation, our management concluded that

our internal control over financial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2014.

We intend to regularly review and evaluate the
design and effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting on an ongoing basis and to
improve these controls and procedures over time
and 1o correct any deficlencies that we may
discover in the future. While we believe the
present design of our disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control overfinancial
reporting are effective; future events affecting
our'business may cause us to modify our
controls and procedures.

The Cczmpm‘zy’s independent registered public.

~ accounting firm has issued an attestation report

regarding its asses ssment of the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2011.



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Alaska Air Group, Inc.:

We have audited Alaska Air Group, Inc.’s internal
control over financial reporting as of

December 31, 2011, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO0). Alaska Air Group, Inc.’s
management is responsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included
in the accompanying Management’s Report on
internal Control over Financial Reporting
(included in Item 9A). Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our
audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal
control based on the assessed risk. Our audit
also included performing such other procedures
as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial
reporting is a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately

and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company;

(2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of
the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors
of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could
have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal
control over financial reporting may not prevent
or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are
subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies
or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Alaska Air Group, Inc. maintained,
in all material respects, effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31,
2011, based on criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Alaska Air Group,
Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011
and 2010, and the related consolidated
statements of operations, shareholders’ equity,
and cash flows for each of the years in the three-
year period ended December 31, 2011, and our
report dated February 21, 2012 expressed an
unqualified opinion on those consolidated
financial statements.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Seattle, Washington
February 21, 2012
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None

|86l



PART Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

See “Executive Officers of the Registrant” under Item 1, “Our Business,” in Part | of this Form 10-K for
information on the executive officers of Air Group and its subsidiaries. Except as provided herein, the
remainder of the information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from the definitive
Proxy Statement for Air Group’s 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011
(hereinafter referred to as our “2012 Proxy Statement”).

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from our 2012 Proxy
Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS
AND MANAGEMENT, AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from our 2012 Proxy
Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS,
AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from our 2012 Proxy

Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from our 2012 Proxy
Statement.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS

The following documents are filed as part of this report:
1. Exhibits: See Exhibit Index.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

ALASKA AIR GROUP, INC.

By: /8/ WiLLiam S. AYER Date: February 21, 2012
William S. Ayer,

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on February 21, 2012 on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities
indicated.

/s/ WILLIAM S. AYER Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Willlam S. Ayer (Principal Executive Officer)
/S/ BRANDON S. PEDERSEN Vice President/Finance and Chief Financial
Brandon S. Pedersen Officer, Treasurer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/S/ PATRICIA M. BEDIENT Director
Patricla M. Bedient

/S/ MAaRION C. BLAKEY Director
Marion C. Blakey

/S/ PHyLus J. CAMPBELL Director
Phyllis J. Campbell

/s/ JEsSIE J. KNIGHT, JR. Director
Jessie J. Knight, Jr.

/S/ R. MARC LANGLAND Director
R. Marc Langland

/S/ DENNIS F. MADSEN Director

Dennis F. Madsen

/s/ BYRON I. MALLOTT Director
Byron . Mallott
/s/ J. KENNETH THOMPSON Director

J. Kenneth Thompson

/s/ BRADLEY D. TILDEN Director

Bradley D. Tilden
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Certain of the following exhibits have heretofore been filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and are incorporated by reference from the documents below. Certain others are filed

herewith. The exhibits are numbered in accordance with ltem 601 of Regulation S-K.

Date of
Exhibit Exhibit First Exhibit File
Number Description Form Filing Number Number
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of 10-Q August 8, 3(i)
Incorporation of Registrant 2006
3.2 Bylaws of Registrant, as amended April 30, 2010 8-K May 3,
2010

10.2# Credit Agreement, dated March 31, 2010, 10-Q August11, 10.1
among Alaska Airlines, Inc., as borrower, Wells 2010
Fargo Capital Finance, LLC as agent, U.S. Bank
National Association as documentation agent,
and other lenders

10.3# Credit Agreement, dated March 31, 2010, 10-Q May 5, 10.2
among Alaska Airlines, Inc., as borrower, 2010
Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent, Bank of
America, N.A., as syndication agent, and other
lenders

10.4# Aircraft General Terms Agreement, dated June 10-Q August b, 10.1
15, 2005, between the Boeing Company and 2005
Alaska Airlines, Inc.

10.5# Purchase Agreement No. 2497, dated June 15, 10-Q August 5, 10.2
2005, between the Boeing Company and Alaska 2005
Airlines, Inc.

10.6# Supplemental Agreement No. 23 to Purchase 10-Q/A August 2, 10.1#
Agreement No. 2497 between The Boeing 2011
Company and Alaska Airlines, Inc.

10.7# Supplement to Master Purchase Agreement, 10-Q November 9, 10.1
dated October 18, 2005, between Horizon Air 2005
Industries, Inc. and Bombardier Inc.

10.8# Lease Agreement, dated January 22, 1990, 10-K  April 11, 10-14
between International Lease Finance Corporation 1991
and Alaska Airlines, Inc., summaries of 19
substantially identical lease agreements and
Letter Agreement #1, dated January 22, 1990

10.9%* Alaska Air Group Performance Based Pay Plan 8K February 1, 10.1
(formerly “Management Incentive Plan”), as 2010
amended and restated December 2, 2009

10.10*  Alaska Air Group, Inc. 2008 Performance 8K May 22, 10.1
Incentive Plan 2008

10.11*  Alaska Air Group, Inc. 2008 Performance 8K May 22, 10.2
Incentive Plan Form of Nonqualified Stock Option 2008

Y

Agreement



10.12*

10.13*

10.14%

10.15%*

10.16*

10.17*

10.18*

10.19*

10.20%*

10.21%*

10.22%*

10.23*

10.24%*

10.25%*

10.26*

10.27*

10.28*

Alaska Air Group, Inc. 2008 Performance
Incentive Plan Form of Stock Unit Award
Agreement

Alaska Air Group, Inc. 2008 Performance
Incentive Plan Form of Director Deferred Stock
Unit Award Agreement

Alaska Air Group, Inc. 2008 Performance
Incentive Plan Nonqualified Stock Option
Agreement—Incentive Award

Alaska Air Group, Inc. 2008 Performance
Incentive Plan Stock Unit Award Agreement—
incentive Award

Alaska Air Group, Inc. 2008 Performance
Incentive Plan Stock Unit Award Agreement

Alaska Air Group, Inc. 2008 Performance
incentive Plan Nonqualified Stock Option
Agreement

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Pian, as
amended

2008 Performance Incentive Plan, Form of
Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement, as
amended

2008 Performance Incentive Plan, Form of
Performance Stock Unit Award Agreement, as
amended

2008 Performance Incentive Plan, Form of
Stock Unit Award Agreement, as amended

2008 Performance Incentive Plan, Form of
Stock Unit Award Agreement Incentive Award,
as amended

Alaska Air Group, Inc. 2004 Long-Term
Incentive Plan and original form of stock
option and restricted stock unit agreements

Alaska Air Group, Inc. 2004 Long-Term
Incentive Plan Nonqualified Stock Option
Agreement

Alaska Air Group, Inc. 2004 Long-Term
Incentive Plan Stock Unit Award Agreement

Alaska Air Group, Inc. 2004 Long-Term
Incentive Plan Performance Stock Unit Award
Agreement

Alaska Air Group, Inc. 1999 Long-Term
Incentive Equity Plan

Alaska Air Group, Inc. 1997 Non Officer Long-
Term Incentive Equity Plan

8K

8K

8K

8K

10Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10K

10K

10-K

May 22,
2008

May 22,
2008

February 2,
2009

February 2,
2009

February 5,
2010

February 5,
2010

August 4,
2011

August 4,
2011

August 4,
2011

August 4,
2011

August 4,
2011

February 25,
2005

February 20,
2008

February 20,
2008

February 14,
2008

10.3

10.4

10.1

10.2

10.1

10.2

10.1

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.2

10.8.1

10.8.2

10.3

September 22, 99.1

1999

November 10, 99.2

1997

333-87563

333-39889
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10.29%*
10.30*

10.31%*

10.32*

10.33*

10.34*

10.35*

21f
23.17

31.1%

31.2%

32.1%

32.2t

101.INST
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Alaska Air Group, Inc. 1996 Long-Term
Incentive Equity Plan

Alaska Air Group, Inc. Non Employee
Director Stock Plan

Alaska Airlines, Inc. and Alaska Air Group,
Inc. Supplementary Retirement Plan for
Elected Officers, as amended November 7,
1994

Alaska Air Group, Inc. 1995 Elected

Officers Supplementary Retirement Plan, as

amended by First Amendment to the Alaska
Air Group, Inc. 1995 Elected Officers
Supplementary Retirement Plan and
Second Amendment to the Alaska Air
Group, Inc. 1995 Elected Officers
Supplementary Retirement Plan

1995 Elected Officers Supplementary
Retirement Plan, as amended

Form of Alaska Air Group, inc. Change of
Control Agreement for named executive
officers, as amended and restated
November 28, 2007

Alaska Air Group, inc. Nonqualified
Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended
and restated on December 1, 2005

Subsidiaries of Registrant

Consent of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm (KPMG LLP)

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

XBRL Instance Document

S8

S8

10K

S1

10-Q

10-K

10-K

August 5,
1996

August 15,
1997

February 10,
1998

September 23,
2003

August 4,
2011

February 20,
2008

February 20,
2008

99.1 333-09547

99.1 333-33727

10.2

10.1 333-107177

10.2

10.2

10.2



101.SCHY XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
Document

101.CALT XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation
Linkbase Document

101.DEFT XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition
Linkbase Document

101.LABYT XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
Document

101.PRET XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation
Linkbase Document

t  Filed herewith

Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

Pursuant to 17 CFR 240.24b-2, confidential information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and
Exchange Commission pursuant to a Confidential Treatment Application filed with the Commission.
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, William S. Ayer, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Alaska Air Group, Inc. for the period ended
December 31, 2011;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and we have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financia! reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

e) The registrant’s other certifying officers and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation
of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
the registrant’s board of directors:

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

February 21, 2012 By /S/  WILLAM S. AYER

William S. Ayer
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Brandon S. Pedersen, certify that:

1. 1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Alaska Air Group, Inc. for the period ended
December 31, 2011;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this repott;

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and we have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation
of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
the registrant’s board of directors:

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

February 21, 2012 By /S/ BRANDON S. PEDERSEN

Brandon S. Pedersen
Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Alaska Air Group, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the
period ended December 31, 2011 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof (the “Report”), |, William S. Ayer, Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

By /s/ WILLIAM S. AYER

William S. Ayer
Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer

February 21, 2012



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Alaska Air Group, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the
period ended December 31, 2011 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof (the “Report”), |, Brandon S. Pedersen, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

By /s/ BRANDON S. PEDERSEN

Brandon S. Pedersen
Chief Financial Officer

February 21, 2012
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CORPORATE DIRECTORY

ALaska AIR GRoup Alaska Air Group Alaska Airlines Horizon Air
DIRECTORS Officers Officers Officers
William S. Ayer William S. Ayer William S. Ayer William S. Ayer
Chairman, President & CEO Chairman, President & CEO Chairman & CEO Chairman & CEO
Alaska Air Group

Bradley D. Tilden Bradley D. Tilden Brad Tilden
Patricia M. Bedient President- & CEO-Elect President & CEO-Elect CEOQ-Elect
Executive Vice President & CFO (CEQ effective May 15, 2012)

Mark G. Eliasen Glenn S. Johnson

Weyerhaeuser Company

Marion C. Blakey
President & CEO
Aerospace Industries
Association

Phyllis J. Campbell
Chairman, Pacific Northwest
Region

JPMorgan Chase

Jessie J. Knight, Jr.
President & CEO

San Diego Gas & Electric
Company

R. Marc Langland
Chairman, President & CEO
Northrim Bancorp, Inc.

Dennis F. Madsen
Chairman
Evolucion, Inc.

Byron 1. Mallott
Senior Fellow
First Alaskans Institute

J. Kenneth Thompson
President & CEO
Pacific Star Energy LLC

Bradley D. Tilden
President- & CEO-Elect

BoARD COMMITTEE
MEMBERSHIPS:

Audit

Patricia M. Bedient, Chair
Marion C. Blakey

Dennis F. Madsen

Compensation & Leadership
Development

J. Kenneth Thompson, Chair
R. Marc Langland

Dennis F. Madsen

Governance & Nominating
Phyllis J. Campbell, Chair
R. Marc Langland

Jessie J. Knight, Jr.

Byron [. Mallott

Safety

Marion C. Blakey. Chair
Jessie J. Knight, Jr.
Byron I. Mallott

J. Kenneth Thompson

Vice President, Finance &
Treasurer

Keith Loveless

Vice President, Legal &
Corporate Affairs, General
Counsel & Corporate
Secretary

Thomas W. Nunn
Vice President, Safety

Brandon S. Pedersen
Vice President,
Finance & CFO

EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT:
Benito Minicucci
Operations & COO

VICE PRESIDENTS:

Ann E. Ardizzone
Srrategic Sourcing & Supply
Chain Management

Gary L. Beck
Flight Operations

Jeffrey M. Butler
Customer Service — Airports

Mark G. Eliasen
Finance & Treasurer

Andrew R. Harrison
Planning & Revenue
Management

Kris M. Kutchera
Information Technology

Keith Loveless

Legal & Corporate Affairs,
General Counsel & Corporate
Secretary

Frederick L. Mohr
Muaintenance & Engineering

Thomas W. Nunn
Safety

Brandon S. Pedersen
Finance & CFO

Andrea L. Schneider
Inflight Services

Joseph A. Sprague
Muarketing

Shane R. Tackett
Labor Relations

President

SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT:
Eugene C. Hahn
Operations

VICE PRESIDENTS:
Yvonne M. Daverin
Maintenance & Engineering

Diana M. Shaw
Customer Service

OTHER ELECTED POSITIONS:
Shannon K. Alberts
Corporate Secretary

Mark G. Eliasen

Treasurer



Corporate Profile

Alaska Air Group, Inc., is the
holding company for Alaska Airlines
and Horizon Air, Seattle-based
carriers that collectively serve over
90 destinations in the United States,
Canada, and Mexico. Alaska Air
Group was organized as a Delaware
corporation in 1985.

Alaska Airlines, Inc., an Alaska
corporation founded in 1932, is
noted for its award-winning
customer service, industry-leading
on-time performance, technological
innovation and environmental
stewardship. Alaska provides
scheduled air service for about 18
million passengers annually to 61
destinations. The carrier serves
destinations in Alaska, Arizona,
California, Nevada, Oregon, and
Washington, as well as Atlanta,
Austin, Boston, Chicago, Dallas-Fort
Worth, Denver, Houston, Miami,
Minneapolis-St. Paul, Orlando,
Newark, St. Louis and Washington,
D.C., and four major Hawaiian
islands. Alaska also provides service
to British Columbia, Canada, and to
nine destinations in Mexico. Its hubs
are Anchorage, Seattle, Portland and
Los Angeles.

Horizon Air Industries, Inc., a
Washington corporation organized in
1981, is similarly noted for
outstanding customer service and
operational performance. Horizon
Air is a regional carrier and,
beginning in 2011, performs all of its
flying for Alaska Airlines under a
capacity purchase arrangement.
Horizon serves nearly seven million
passengers annually. Its hubs are
Seattle, Portland and Boise.

Investor Information

Corporate Headquarters

19300 International Blvd.

Seattle, Washington 98188
Telephone: (206) 392-5040
Mailing Address: P.O. Box 68947
Seattle, Washington 98168-0947

Transfer Agent and Registrar

Computershare Trust Company N.A.

P.O. Box 43078

Providence, RI 02940-3078

Telephone: 1-877-282-1168

Internet: http://www.computershare.com/investor

Independent Auditors
KPMG LLP
Seattle, Washington

Annual Meeting
2 p.m., Tuesday, May 15, 2012

Listing of Securities
New York Stock Exchange
Common Stock (Symbol: ALK)



Alaska Air Group
Board of Directors

Front from left:  Bill Ayer, Dennis Madsen, Marc Langland,
Phyllis Campbell and Byron Mallott

Back from left:  Brad Tilden, Patty Bedient, Ken Thompson,
Jessie Knight and Marion Blakey
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